
 

Parkside  Station Approach  Burton Street  Melton Mowbray  Leicestershire  LE13 1GH 

01664 502502 * contactus@melton.gov.uk * www.melton.gov.uk * @MeltonBC 

 

 
 

Agenda 

 
 

 

 

Meeting name Meeting of the Scrutiny Committee 

Date Tuesday, 24 January 2023 

Start time 6.30 pm 

Venue Parkside, Station Approach, Burton Street, 
Melton Mowbray, Leicestershire. LE13 1GH 

Other information This meeting is open to the public 
 

Members of the Scrutiny Committee are summoned to the above meeting to 
consider the following items of business. 
 
Edd de Coverly 
Chief Executive 
 
Membership 
 
Councillors R. Child (Chair) J. Wilkinson (Vice-Chair) 
 S. Atherton S. Carter 
 P. Chandler J. Douglas 
 C. Evans E. Holmes 
 P. Posnett MBE T. Webster 
 
 
Quorum:  5 Councillors 
 
 

Meeting enquiries Democratic Services 

Email democracy@melton.gov.uk 

Agenda despatched Monday, 16 January 2023 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

Page 2 of 3 

No. Item 
 

Page No. 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 

2.   MINUTES 
To approve the Minutes of the meeting held on 22 November 2022 
and the special meeting held on 11 January 2023. 
 
Minutes of the special meeting held on 11 January 2023 are to 
follow. 
 

1 - 4 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
Members to declare any interest as appropriate in respect of items to 
be considered at this meeting. 
 

5 - 6 

4.   REVIEW OF THE FORWARD PLAN 
To consider the attached Forward Plan and identify any relevant 
items for inclusion in the Scrutiny Work Programme, or to request 
further information. 
 

7 - 22 

5.   REVIEW OF THE SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23 
Members are to review and comment upon the attached Scrutiny 
Work Programme 2022/23. 
 

23 - 28 

 PLEASE NOTE 
The reports and appendices for agenda items 6, 7 and 8 are draft 
and have been provided to the Scrutiny Committee for consideration 
and to provide feedback ahead of finalisation and consideration by 
Cabinet. This means that some highlighted notes are provisional. 

 

6.   GENERAL FUND REVENUE BUDGET 2023/24 AND MEDIUM 
TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2024/25 TO 2026/27 
The report on the General Fund Revenue Budget 2023/24 and 
Medium Term Financial Strategy 2024/25 to 2026/27 is to be 
presented to the Committee. 
 
The Committee is asked to note the draft report and provide 
feedback to Cabinet. 
 
Please note that Appendix A (State of Melton report) and Appendix 
D (Parish Council Precepts) are currently not available. These 
appendices will be available for the Cabinet and Council meetings in 
February. 
 

29 - 72 

7.   CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2022 - 2027 - GENERAL FUND AND 
CAPITAL STRATEGY 2023/24 
The Capital Programme 2022-2027 – General Fund and Capital 
Strategy 2023/24 is to be presented to the Committee. 
 
The Committee is asked to note the draft report and provide 
feedback to Cabinet. 

73 - 122 



 

Page 3 of 3 

 

8.   REVENUE BUDGET PROPOSALS 2023/24 - HOUSING REVENUE 
ACCOUNT (HRA) 
The Revenue Budget Proposals 2023/24 – Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA) is to be presented to the Committee. 
 
The Committee is asked to note the draft report and provide 
feedback to Cabinet. 
 

123 - 140 

9.   URGENT BUSINESS 
To consider any other items that the Chair considers urgent 
 

 

  
 
 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



1 Scrutiny Committee : 221122 

 

 

 

 

Minutes 

 

 

 

 

 

Present: 

 

Chair Councillor R. Child (Chair)  

 

Councillors J. Wilkinson (Vice-Chair) S. Carter 

 P. Chandler J. Douglas 

 C. Evans E. Holmes 

 P. Posnett MBE T. Webster 

 

In Attendance Leader of the Council – Councillor J. Orson 

 Portfolio Holder – Councillor R. Bindloss 

 Portfolio Holder – Councillor R. Browne 

Portfolio Holder – Councillor R. de Burle 

Portfolio Holder – Councillor A. Freer 

 Nathan Elvery, Strategic Advisor (via remote link) 

 Mark Bandalli, Mutual Ventures (via remote link) 

 Andrew Laird, Mutual Ventures (via remote link) 

 

Officers Chief Executive 

 Director for Housing and Communities (Deputy Chief Executive) 

 Director for Corporate Services 

 Monitoring Officer 

 Senior Democratic Services and Scrutiny Officer 

 

  

 

  

Meeting name Scrutiny Committee 

Date Tuesday, 22 November 2022 

Start time 6.30 pm 

Venue Parkside, Station Approach, Burton Street, 

Melton Mowbray, Leicestershire. LE13 1GH 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



2 Scrutiny Committee : 221122 

 

Minute 

No. 

 

Minute 

39 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

An apology for absence was received from Councillor Atherton. 

 

40 MINUTES 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 18 October 2022 were approved. 

 

41 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

A personal interest in respect of Councillor Posnett was noted as being on record 

for any matter which related to Leicestershire County Council. 

 

The Chief Executive and the Director for Housing and Communities (Deputy Chief 

Executive) declared an interest in respect of Minute Number 44 in relation to the 

Strategic Partnership Business Case. Mutual Ventures were in attendance remotely 

to answer questions on the Business Case and the Strategic Advisor, Nathan 

Elvery, was in attendance remotely to answer questions on the proposed sharing of 

senior roles. 

 

42 REVIEW OF THE FORWARD PLAN 

The Chairman introduced the Cabinet Forward Plan and invited Members to 

comment. 

 

43 REVIEW OF THE SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23 

The Chairman introduced the Scrutiny Work Programme 2022/23 and invited 

Members to comment upon the document. 

 

The Director for Housing and Communities (Deputy Chief Executive) outlined the 

proposal to add the topic ‘Leisure Procurement Strategy’ on to the work programme 

and hold a workshop on the topic in January 2023. There was a query on whether it 

was prudent to make decisions that would affect a new Council after the all-out 

elections in May 2023. In response it was explained that for continuity reasons, the 

Council still need to make decisions as services affect the lives of residents 

irrespective of which individuals are serving Councillors. Following this question, 

the Committee agreed to add the topic onto the work programme and hold a 

workshop on the topic in January 2023. 

 

44 STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIP BUSINESS CASE 

The Leader of the Council, Councillor Orson introduced the Strategic Partnership 

Business Case and provided the background to the document. The Chief Executive 

explained the context and process that been undertaken to develop the business 

case and confirmed that independent external expertise had been procured to 

assist with providing a robust assessment to meet the required deadline. Mr 

Bandalli then gave a presentation setting out the analysis and findings of the 

business case, supported by Mr Laird from Mutual Ventures and Nathan Elvery, 

Strategic Advisor to both Melton Borough Council and Harborough District Council. 

It was noted that the Strategic Advisor brings his expertise of previous partnership 

Page 2



3 Scrutiny Committee : 221122 

 

experiences. In addition, both Councils have consulted with other local authorities 

who have been through a similar experience. 

 

In reviewing the cost apportionment for a shared Chief Executive and two Deputy 

Chief Executives, the comment was made that whilst the cost would be shared 

50/50 there are other options to base the sharing of costs. Such as 

• Population – Harborough 65%, Melton 35% 

• Council Tax base – Harborough 66%, Melton 34% 

• Geographical area – Harborough 69%, Melton 31% 

However, the Strategic Advisor explained that as Senior Officers would split their 

focus equally between both authorities, then the fairest way to apportion cost would 

be 50/50, however other options could be used if collaboration is sought in other 

areas. 

 

The Committee stated that the business case was too lengthy considering the 

decision that Council will be asked to make at the meeting on 20 December is 

whether to share a Chief Executive and two Deputy Chief Executives. It was 

suggested that the business case is slimmed down and focuses on the proposition 

and recommendations. 

 

Members discussed their concerns that the Council would be losing half the 

capacity of the Chief Executive and the Deputy Chief Executive and that this could 

have an adverse effect upon the current standard of services. In addition, there was 

a concern that both Councils could lose face to face interaction with Senior Officers 

as they would have to cover a larger geographical area. The Committee were 

advised that the proposed arrangement had a number of potential benefits 

associated with it and that the establishment of the partnership would provide 

access to these, which wouldn’t be available to either council if it didn’t proceed. It 

was noted that Melton would not lose capacity because the proposal would provide 

transformation expertise that it previously did not have via the second Shared 

Deputy Chief Executive post. 

 

Comments were made that the business case lacked the financial detail to support 

the claims detailed within the business case that the strategic partnership would 

save each Council the money it would do. It was recognised that savings would be 

made through sharing a Chief Executive and two Deputy Chief Executives but due 

to the lack of detail, the Committee were unable to comment on other proposals. A 

Member commented that, at least initially, Harborough District Council would 

disproportionately benefit from the strategic partnership. The Chief Executive 

confirmed that the other savings are illustrative of what could be achieved but that 

each proposal, as and when identified, would have its own business case in which 

it would be fully assessed and costed. It was also confirmed that the sharing of 

Senior Officers would produce greater savings for Harborough District Council 

initially, but that Melton Borough Council would benefit from obtaining expertise in 

the area of transformation. In addition to this, Officers agreed to share the 

background financial details related to the future opportunities with Members after 

the meeting. 

 

Page 3



4 Scrutiny Committee : 221122 

 

A discussion ensued on the risk of political change after the election and the impact 

this could have upon the strategic partnership. It was recognised that the election 

was a risk, especially if a change in leadership occurred, but that the Memorandum 

of Agreement, which was being considered at a special meeting of Audit and 

Standards covered termination arrangements in greater detail. 

 

The Committee stated that it was important for Members to retain control of the 

decision-making process and that this needs clarifying at the Council meeting on 20 

December. The Chief Executive confirmed that the draft memorandum of 

agreement made it absolutely clear that full sovereign powers would be retained 

and a commitment was made to consult with Council as and when significant 

changes are proposed. 

 

The timescales for considering the strategic partnership was questioned, as 

Members believe that the process is quicker than anticipated. It was explained that 

the Leaders of both Councils agreed the timescales and that Harborough District 

Council are keen to have a resolution by the end of the year, especially as they 

have been without a permanent Chief Executive since February 2022. It was also 

noted that it was important for the consideration not to go on too long as otherwise 

it can become a distraction and destabilise. Assurance was given that at the 

Council meeting scheduled in December, members will have all the information 

required to make a decision. 

 

A number of members expressed they were broadly in favour of the strategic 

partnership as it was recognised that there is a need for change, especially in light 

of the political and financial challenges facing the local government sector. The 

priority should be the continued provision of services for residents and that the 

business case illustrates some of the proposals that would enable services to 

continue to be provided at current levels. 

 

45 URGENT BUSINESS 

There was no urgent business. 

 

 

The meeting closed at: 8.36 pm 

 

Chair 

 

 

 

 

Page 4



In each case above, you should make your declaration at the beginning of the meeting or 
as soon as you become aware.  In any other circumstances, where Members require further 
advice they should contact the Monitoring Officer or Deputy Monitoring Officer in advance 
of the meeting. 

 

MEMBER INTERESTS 
 

Do I have an interest? 

 
1 DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS (DPIs) 
 

A “Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” is any interest described as such in 

the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 

2012 and includes an interest of yourself, or of your Spouse/Partner (if 

you are aware of your Partner's interest) that falls within the following 

categories: Employment, Trade, Profession, Sponsorship, Contracts, 

Land/Property, Licences, Tenancies and Securities. 

 

A Disclosable Pecuniary Interest is a Registerable Interest.  Failure to 

register a DPI is a criminal offence so register entries should be kept up-

to-date. 

 
2 OTHER REGISTERABLE INTERESTS (ORIs) 
  

An “Other Registerable Interest” is a personal interest in any business of your 

authority which relates to or is likely to affect:  

a)  any body of which you are in general control or management and to 

which you are nominated or appointed by your authority; or  

b)  any body  

(i)  exercising functions of a public nature  

(ii)  any body directed to charitable purposes or  

(iii)  one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public 

opinion or policy (including any political party or trade union) 

 

3 NON-REGISTRABLE INTERESTS (NRIs) 
 

“Non-Registrable Interests” are those that you are not required to register but 
need to be disclosed when a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates 
to your financial interest or wellbeing or a financial interest or wellbeing of a 
relative or close associate that is not a DPI. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



In each case above, you should make your declaration at the beginning of the meeting or 
as soon as you become aware.  In any other circumstances, where Members require further 
advice they should contact the Monitoring Officer or Deputy Monitoring Officer in advance 
of the meeting. 

Declarations and Participation in Meetings 

 
1 DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS (DPIs) 
 

1.1 Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Disclosable 

Pecuniary Interests which include both the interests of yourself and your partner then: 

 

a) you must disclose the interest;  

b) not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter; and  

c) must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a 

 Dispensation. 

 
2 OTHER REGISTERABLE INTERESTS (ORIs) 
 

2.1 Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to the financial interest or 

wellbeing of one of your Other Registerable Interests i.e. relating to a body you may be 

involved in: 

 

a) you must disclose the interest 

b) may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak 

at the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the 

matter; and  

c) must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a Dispensation.  

 
3 NON-REGISTRABLE INTERESTS (NRIs) 
 
3.1 Where a matter arises at a meeting, which is not registrable but may become relevant 

when a particular item arises i.e. interests which relate to you and /or other people you are 
connected with (e.g. friends, relative or close associates) then: 

 
a) you must disclose the interest; 

b) may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak 

at the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the 

matter; and  

c) must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a Dispensation.  

    
4 BIAS  
 
4.1 Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, using 

the best evidence and without discrimination or bias.  If you have been involved in an issue 
in such a manner or to such an extent that the public are likely to perceive you to be biased 
in your judgement of the public interest (bias): 

 
a) you should not take part in the decision-making process 
b) you should state that your position in this matter prohibits you from taking part 
c) you should leave the room.  

Page 6



 

1 

MELTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Forward Plan 

 
FOR THE PERIOD January 2023 - April 2023 

 
What is the Plan?  
It is a list of the Key Decisions to be taken by the Cabinet during the period referred to above. The Council has a statutory duty to prepare this document, in accordance 
with the Local Government Act 2000 (as amended). The Plan is published 28 clear days before a meeting of Cabinet is to be held. The Plan is available to view at the 
Council’s main offices in Melton, or on the Council’s website, http://www.melton.gov.uk. 
 
What is a Key Decision?  
Definition of a key decision as detailed in the Council’s Constitution is one which is  likely to result in the Council: 
 

• Incurring expenditure of £50,000 or more, or; 

• Making savings or generate income of £50,000 or more, and/or 

• Has a significant impact on two or more wards in the Borough and on communities living or working in those areas. 
 

Who makes Key Decisions?  
Under the Council’s Constitution, Key Decisions are made by:  
 

• Cabinet  

• The Leader and Portfolio Holders 

• Individual officers acting under delegated powers 
 
Are only Key Decisions published on the Plan?  
The Council has a statutory obligation to publish Key Decisions in the Plan. However, the Council has voluntarily decided to list non-key Cabinet decisions as well. To 
clarify matters, Key Decisions will be identified on the Plan with a Yes, non-key decisions with a No.  
 
What does the List tell me? 
The List gives information about:  

• Upcoming Key and Non-Key Decisions (identified by Yes or No next to them)  

• Whether the decision will be made in public or private.  

• When decisions are likely to be made.  

• Who will make these decisions.  

• Who you can contact for further information.  
 

P
age 7

A
genda Item

 4

http://www.melton.gov.uk/


2 

Who are the members of the Cabinet?  
The members of the Cabinet and their areas of responsibility are:  

• Leader of the Council  

• People and Communities (and Deputy Leader)  

• Corporate Governance, Finance and Resources  

• Climate, Access and Engagement  

• Housing and Landlord Services 

• Growth and Prosperity 
 
What is the role of Scrutiny?  
The Council’s Scrutiny Committee’s role is to contribute to the development of Council policies, scrutinise decisions of the Cabinet and hold them to account and to 
consider any matter affecting Melton Borough or its citizens. Dates of these meetings can be found on the Council’s website.  
 
Who do I contact, and how?  
Each entry on the Plan indicates the names of the people to contact about that item. They can be contacted via the switchboard on 01664 502502 
 
Request to view Background Papers  
Should you wish to request copies or extracts of any documents listed under the column entitled ‘Background Papers’, for items which are considered to be Key 
Decisions, please contact Democratic Services at, Melton Borough Council, democracy@melton.gov.uk  Please note that copies or extracts of documents which 
contain information of a confidential or exempt nature cannot be disclosed to the public.  
 
Submission of Additional Documents  
Additional documents which are deemed relevant to a particular Key Decision item may be submitted to the Cabinet for consideration. Copies of such documents may 
also be requested under the same process for requesting to view Background Papers.  
 
Confidential and Exempt Information  
This list may also include items to be considered which contain confidential or exempt information, but will not disclose any detail of a confidential or exempt nature. 
Such items will be identified with ‘(Exempt)’ in the report title.

P
age 8

mailto:democracy@melton.gov.uk


Report Title Background 
Papers 

Decision Maker Date of 
Decision 

Key 
Decision? 

Portfolio Holder/ 
Contact Officer 

 

Decision to 
be taken in 
public or 
private 

session? 

       

3 

Award of Contract – Lift Refurbishment at 
Granby House 
 
To award a contract for the passenger lift 
refurbishment at Granby House. 

 Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Landlord 
Services 
 

Not before 
6th Jan 2023 

Yes Portfolio Holder for 
Housing and 
Landlord Services 
 
Michelle Howard, 
Director for 
Housing and 
Communities 
(Deputy Chief 
Executive) 
 

Open 
 

Housing Benefit Assurance Process 
Contract Award 
 
The Council is required to procure a 
reporting accountant to undertake an audit 
of the subsidy claim made to the 
Department of Work & Pensions (DWP) for 
Housing Benefit granted. This contract is 
for a reporting accountant to perform the 
audit in accordance with the Housing 
Benefit (subsidy) Assurance Process 
(HBAP) modules for our subsidy claim for 
2020/21, 2021/22 and 2022/23, with an 
option for a further 12 month extension to 
cover the requirements of the HBAP 
modules for the subsidy claim for the 
2023/2024 financial year. 
 

 Director for 
Housing and 
Communities 
 

Not before 
6th Jan 2023 

Yes Portfolio Holder for 
Corporate 
Governance, 
Finance and 
Resources 
 
Nick Sach, 
Revenues and 
Benefits Manager 
 

Open 
 

P
age 9



Report Title 
and Expected Decision 

Background 
Papers 

Decision Maker Date of 
Decision 

Key 
Decision? 

Report Available/ 
Portfolio Holder/ 
Contact Officer 

 

Decision to 
be taken in 
public or 
private 

session? 

       

4 

Omicron Grant Funding 
 
To approve diverting residual ARG Funding 
from the ARG Growth Fund to support 
businesses affected by “Plan B” 
Restrictions and the Omicron variant and to 
approve the amended ARG top-up Grant 
Policy.  

 Portfolio Holder 
for Growth and 
Prosperity 
 

Not before 
6th Jan 2023 

Yes Portfolio Holder for 
Growth and 
Prosperity 
 
Kevin Thomas, 
Senior Economic 
Recovery Officer 
 

Open 
 

Sale of Cattle Market North 
 
The sale of Council land at the North End 
of the Cattle market, which comprises an 
approximate area of 1.69acres, allocated 
for housing. 

 Director for 
Growth and 
Regeneration 
 

Not before 
6th Jan 2023 

Yes Portfolio Holder for 
Growth and 
Prosperity 
 
James Morris, 
Corporate Property 
and Asset 
Manager 
 

Open 
 

Contract Rates Uplift – Electrical Re-wires 
(Newey) 
 
To approve an uplift in the contract rates 
and amend the contract documents as 
required. 

 Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Landlord 
Services 
 

Not before 
6th Jan 2023 

Yes Portfolio Holder for 
Housing and 
Landlord Services 
 
Christopher 
Flannery, Housing 
Asset Manager 
 

Open 
 

P
age 10



Report Title 
and Expected Decision 

Background 
Papers 

Decision Maker Date of 
Decision 

Key 
Decision? 

Report Available/ 
Portfolio Holder/ 
Contact Officer 

 

Decision to 
be taken in 
public or 
private 

session? 

       

5 

Award of Contract - Learning Management 
System Project 
 
To award the contract and enter into any 
necessary documentation to effect the 
award. 

 Director for 
Corporate 
Services 
 

Not before 
6th Jan 2023 

Yes Portfolio Holder for 
Corporate 
Governance, 
Finance and 
Resources 
 
Sarah Jane 
O'Connor, 
Assistant Director, 
Organisational 
Development 
 

Open 
 

New Bin Stores to Council Flats Phase 2 - 
Contract Award 
 

 Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Landlord 
Services 
 

Not before 
6th Jan 2023 

Yes Portfolio Holder for 
Housing and 
Landlord Services 
 
Christopher 
Flannery, Housing 
Asset Manager 
 

Open 
 

Contract Exemption – Dog Kennelling 
Services 
 

 Director for 
Corporate 
Services 
 

Not before 
6th Jan 2023 

Yes Portfolio Holder for 
Climate, Access 
and Engagement 
 
Victoria Clarke, 
Regulatory 
Services Manager 
 

Fully 
exempt 
4 

P
age 11



Report Title 
and Expected Decision 

Background 
Papers 

Decision Maker Date of 
Decision 

Key 
Decision? 

Report Available/ 
Portfolio Holder/ 
Contact Officer 

 

Decision to 
be taken in 
public or 
private 

session? 

       

6 

Fire Alarm Upgrade & Communal Area Re-
wire at Sheltered Housing Scheme 
 
To award a contract for fire alarm upgrade 
and communal area re-wire at a sheltered 
housing scheme 

 Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Landlord 
Services 
 

Not before 
6th Jan 2023 

Yes Portfolio Holder for 
Housing and 
Landlord Services 
 
Christopher 
Flannery, Housing 
Asset Manager 
 

Open 
 

New leases for digital advertising hoardings 
 
To facilitate leases for digital advertising 
hoardings to a value of £160,000 over 16 
years 

 Director for 
Growth and 
Regeneration 
 

6 Jan 2023 Yes Portfolio Holder for 
Growth and 
Prosperity 
 
Jiten Ravat, 
Corporate Property 
and Assets 
Manager 
 

Open 
 

Fees and Charges 2023/24 
 
To approve the revised fees and charges 
for 2023/24. 

 Director for 
Corporate 
Services 
 

Not before 
6th Jan 2023 

Yes Portfolio Holder for 
Corporate 
Governance, 
Finance and 
Resources 
 
David Scott, 
Assistant Director 
for Resources 
(Deputy s151 
Officer) 
 

Open 
 

P
age 12



Report Title 
and Expected Decision 

Background 
Papers 

Decision Maker Date of 
Decision 

Key 
Decision? 

Report Available/ 
Portfolio Holder/ 
Contact Officer 

 

Decision to 
be taken in 
public or 
private 

session? 

       

7 

Corporate Charging Policy 
 
To approve the updated Corporate 
Charging Policy 

 Portfolio Holder 
for Corporate 
Governance, 
Finance and 
Resources 
 

11 Jan 2023 Yes Portfolio Holder for 
Corporate 
Governance, 
Finance and 
Resources 
 
David Scott, 
Assistant Director 
for Resources 
(Deputy s151 
Officer) 
 

Open 
 

Lease of Thorpe End Car Park to ARLA 
Foods 
 
To facilitate a lease for the use of Thorpe 
End Car Park to ARLA Foods 

 Director for 
Growth and 
Regeneration 
 

23 Jan 2023 Yes Portfolio Holder for 
Growth and 
Prosperity 
 
Jiten Ravat, 
Corporate Property 
and Assets 
Manager 
 

Open 
 

P
age 13



Report Title 
and Expected Decision 

Background 
Papers 

Decision Maker Date of 
Decision 

Key 
Decision? 

Report Available/ 
Portfolio Holder/ 
Contact Officer 

 

Decision to 
be taken in 
public or 
private 

session? 

       

8 

Cost of Living Quarterly Update 
 
To review the Cost of Living Quarterly 
Update 

 Cabinet 
 

25 Jan 2023 No Portfolio Holder for 
People and 
Communities 
(Deputy Leader) 
 
Michelle Howard, 
Director for 
Housing and 
Communities 
(Deputy Chief 
Executive) 
 

Open 
 

Health and Safety Update 
 
To provide an update to Cabinet with 
respect to the Council’s Health and Safety 
activities. This is in relation to current 
performance and planned actions and 
activities, as an employer, commercial and 
residential landlord and a public body, 
delivering a wide range of services. This 
report aims to provide assurance to 
Cabinet that risk continues to be actively 
and appropriately managed. 
 

 Cabinet 
 

25 Jan 2023 No Portfolio Holder for 
Corporate 
Governance, 
Finance and 
Resources 
 
Jo Lees, Health 
and Safety Officer 
 

Open 
 

P
age 14



Report Title 
and Expected Decision 

Background 
Papers 

Decision Maker Date of 
Decision 

Key 
Decision? 

Report Available/ 
Portfolio Holder/ 
Contact Officer 

 

Decision to 
be taken in 
public or 
private 

session? 

       

9 

Waste Strategy 
 
To consider proposals for the future Waste 
and Resourcing Strategy for Leicestershire. 

 Cabinet 
 

25 Jan 2023 Yes Portfolio Holder for 
Climate, Access 
and Engagement 
 
Michelle Howard, 
Director for 
Housing and 
Communities 
(Deputy Chief 
Executive) 
 

Open 
 

Corporate Debt Write Offs 
 
To approve corporate debt write offs 

 Cabinet 
 

8 Feb 2023 No Portfolio Holder for 
Corporate 
Governance, 
Finance and 
Resources 
 
David Scott, 
Assistant Director 
for Resources 
(Deputy s151 
Officer) 
 

Open 
 

P
age 15



Report Title 
and Expected Decision 

Background 
Papers 

Decision Maker Date of 
Decision 

Key 
Decision? 

Report Available/ 
Portfolio Holder/ 
Contact Officer 

 

Decision to 
be taken in 
public or 
private 

session? 

       

10 

Treasury Management Strategy 2023/24 
 
To recommend the approval of the 
Treasury Management Strategy 
(Investment Strategy, Borrowing Strategy) 
which sets a framework for the Council's 
investment and borrowing activity for 
2023/24 to Council. 

 Cabinet 
 
Council 
 

8 Feb 2023 
 
23 Feb 2023 

Yes Portfolio Holder for 
Corporate 
Governance, 
Finance and 
Resources 
 
David Scott, 
Assistant Director 
for Resources 
(Deputy s151 
Officer) 
 

Open 
 

General Fund Revenue Budget and 
Medium Term Financial Strategy 2023/24 
 
The Portfolio Holder for Corporate Finance 
and Resources to provide a report on the 
Revenue Budget for 2023/24, including the 
proposed level of council tax for borough 
council purposes and the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy 2025/26. 

 Cabinet 
 
Council 
 

8 Feb 2023 
 
23 Feb 2023 

Yes Portfolio Holder for 
Corporate 
Governance, 
Finance and 
Resources 
 
David Scott, 
Assistant Director 
for Resources 
(Deputy s151 
Officer) 
 

Open 
 

P
age 16



Report Title 
and Expected Decision 

Background 
Papers 

Decision Maker Date of 
Decision 

Key 
Decision? 

Report Available/ 
Portfolio Holder/ 
Contact Officer 

 

Decision to 
be taken in 
public or 
private 

session? 

       

11 

Capital Programme and Capital Strategy 
2023/24 
 
To recommend the approval the Council’s 
Capital Programme for 2023/24 to Council. 

 Cabinet 
 
Council 
 

8 Feb 2023 
 
23 Feb 2023 

Yes Portfolio Holder for 
Corporate 
Governance, 
Finance and 
Resources 
 
David Scott, 
Assistant Director 
for Resources 
(Deputy s151 
Officer) 
 

Open 
 

Revenue Budget Proposals 2023/24 –  
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
 
To set the rents of Council dwellings, 
approve the HRA estimates for 2023/24 
and set the working balance for 2023/24. 

 Cabinet 
 
Council 
 

8 Feb 2023 
 
23 Feb 2023 

Yes Portfolio Holder for 
Corporate 
Governance, 
Finance and 
Resources 
 
Carol King, 
Accountant (CK) 
 

Open 
 

P
age 17



Report Title 
and Expected Decision 

Background 
Papers 

Decision Maker Date of 
Decision 

Key 
Decision? 

Report Available/ 
Portfolio Holder/ 
Contact Officer 

 

Decision to 
be taken in 
public or 
private 

session? 

       

12 

Leisure Procurement 
 

 Cabinet 
 

8 Feb 2023 Yes Portfolio Holder for 
People and 
Communities 
(Deputy Leader) 
 
Lee Byrne, 
Regeneration 
Manager 
 

Open 
 

Asset Development Programme Update 
 

 Cabinet 
 

8 Feb 2023 Yes Portfolio Holder for 
Growth and 
Prosperity 
 
Pranali Parikh, 
Director for Growth 
and Regeneration 
 

Part 
Exempt 
(Para 3 & 4) 
 

Tenant and Leaseholder Engagement 
Annual Report 
 

 Cabinet 
 

8 Mar 2023 No Portfolio Holder for 
Housing and 
Landlord Services 
 
Doug Stother, 
Tenancy Services 
Manager 
 

Open 
 

P
age 18



Report Title 
and Expected Decision 

Background 
Papers 

Decision Maker Date of 
Decision 

Key 
Decision? 

Report Available/ 
Portfolio Holder/ 
Contact Officer 

 

Decision to 
be taken in 
public or 
private 

session? 

       

13 

Asset Development Plan (Corporate 
Assets) 
 

 Cabinet 
 

8 Mar 2023 Yes Portfolio Holder for 
Growth and 
Prosperity 
 
Pranali Parikh, 
Director for Growth 
and Regeneration 
 

Open 
 

Intensive Housing Management Service 
Review 
 
To consider an Intensive Housing 
Management Service Review for approval 

 Cabinet 
 

12 Apr 2023 No Portfolio Holder for 
Housing and 
Landlord Services 
 
Alison Bennett, 
Assistant Director 
for Housing 
Management 
 

Open 
 

Biannual Ombudsman Report 
 
A report will be provided to the Cabinet 
updating them on the outcomes of 
complaints submitted to the Local 
Government and Social Care Ombudsman 
(LGSCO) and the Housing Ombudsman 
(HO) up to 31 March 2023. 

 Cabinet 
 

12 Apr 2023 No Portfolio Holder for 
Corporate 
Governance, 
Finance and 
Resources 
 
Kieran Stockley, 
Assistant Director 
for Governance & 
Democracy 
 

Open 
 

P
age 19



Report Title 
and Expected Decision 

Background 
Papers 

Decision Maker Date of 
Decision 

Key 
Decision? 

Report Available/ 
Portfolio Holder/ 
Contact Officer 

 

Decision to 
be taken in 
public or 
private 

session? 

       

14 

Risk Management Update 
 

 Cabinet 
 

12 Apr 2023 No Portfolio Holder for 
Corporate 
Governance, 
Finance and 
Resources 
 
David Scott, 
Assistant Director 
for Resources 
(Deputy s151 
Officer) 
 

Open 
 

Feasibility Study into the Melton Mowbray 
Cemetery 
 
To consider the report from the CDS Group 
on the feasibility study into a proposed new 
cemetery for Melton Mowbray. 

 Cabinet 
 

12 Apr 2023 Yes Portfolio Holder for 
Climate, Access 
and Engagement 
 
Paul Evans, 
Interim Head of 
Neighbourhoods 
 

Open 
 

P
age 20



Report Title 
and Expected Decision 

Background 
Papers 

Decision Maker Date of 
Decision 

Key 
Decision? 

Report Available/ 
Portfolio Holder/ 
Contact Officer 

 

Decision to 
be taken in 
public or 
private 

session? 

       

15 

Revenue and Capital Carry Forwards 
2022/23 
 
A number of items from the General Fund, 
Housing Revenue Account and Special 
Expenses are being requested to be 
carried forward into the next financial year 
for specific projects and items. 
 
The Cabinet Scheme of Delegation 
Financial Procedure Rules allow for 
underspent budgets to be carried forward 
to the next financial year, subject to 
approval by the Portfolio Holder for Finance 
and Resources. 
 

 Portfolio Holder 
for Corporate 
Governance, 
Finance and 
Resources 
 

Not before 
12th Apr 2023 

Yes Portfolio Holder for 
Corporate 
Governance, 
Finance and 
Resources 
 
David Scott, 
Assistant Director 
for Resources 
(Deputy s151 
Officer) 
 

Open 
 

 

P
age 21



T
his page is intentionally left blank



MELTON BOROUGH COUNCIL SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23 
 

16 January 2023 

 

 

 
SCRUTINY REVIEWS  
These are dealt with through a combination of specific evidence gathering meetings that will be arranged as and when required and other activities, such as visits. There should only be a maximum of 
three reviews considered annually and review topics may be changed throughout the year as topical issues arise.  Once considered, these issues will be subject to further development and scoping. 
 
Should there not be sufficient capacity to cover items which are brought to the attention of Scrutiny they could instead be addressed through a “one-off” item at a scheduled meeting of the Committee.  

 
Suggested Topics 
 

 
Officer and Member 
Lead 

 
Date 

 
Notes 

Requested by (Member)/ 
Date agreed for addition by 
Scrutiny Chairman 

Portfolio Holder/Chief 
Officer consulted on date 
of report 

Climate Change Pranali Parikh 
Director for Growth and 
Regeneration 
 
Member Lead – TBC 
 

TBC A workshop will be held in November to give Scrutiny the 
opportunity to review and discuss any plans. This may 
include a presentation from the Climate Change Officer. 

Agreed by the Chairman on 28 
January 2022. 
 
22 February 2022 meeting – 
Proposed by Chairman and 
approved by Committee. 
 

N/A –  There will be no final 
report but comments will be 
fed into plans. 

Health, Leisure and 
Wellbeing 

Pranali Parikh 
Director for Growth and 
Regeneration 
 
Scrutiny Chairman 
 

May 2022 
(Original) 
 
New date – TBC 

Through a workshop, Scrutiny will review and discuss the 
Health, Leisure and Wellbeing plans. 
 
This workshop will include the leisure contract with WLC 
and the upgrading of the site to MV16. Plus Health and 
Leisure Park  Development. 
 

Originally requested at Scrutiny 
Workshop, June 2021. 
Requested by Scrutiny Chairman on 
25 January 2022. 
 
 
 

N/A – There will be no final 
report but comments will be 
fed into plans. 

Homelessness Michelle Howard 
Director for Housing and 
Communities (Deputy 
Chief Executive) 
 
Scrutiny Chairman 
 

TBC Following a concern expressed at the potential for an 
increase in homelessness as a result of the cost-of-living 
crisis, the Committee decided to review homelessness 
within the Borough. 

18 October 2022 meeting – 
Proposed by Chairman and 
approved by Committee 

TBC 

Lifeline Michelle Howard 
Director for Housing and 
Communities (Deputy 
Chief Executive) 
 
Scrutiny Chairman 
 

TBC A one-off workshop is to be formed so that Scrutiny can be 
consulted, at an early stage, on the options. 

9 November 2021 meeting – 
Proposed by Chairman and 
approved by Committee. 

N/A – There will be no final 
report, however comments 
will feed into the 
development of any plans. 

Planning Service Pranali Parikh 
Director for Growth and 
Regeneration 
 
Scrutiny Chairman 
 

16 February 
2023 

Following concerns from Members regarding the Planning 
Service, it was decided that the topic should be added to 
the Work Programme. 

Agreed by the Chairman on 5 
September 2022. 

N/A – There will be no final 
report, however there is 
expected to be comments 
to fed back to Cabinet and 
the service. 

P
age 23

A
genda Item

 5



 2 

  

 
COMPLETED REVIEWS 
These reviews have been completed this Municipal Year.   
 
It must be noted that what is meant by completed is that Scrutiny involvement is complete. The topics may still require consideration by the Cabinet, Council or External Body. 
 

Topic Notes 

Asset Development Programme 
(ADP) 

A Working Group consisting of Cllrs Child, Chandler, Evans, Holmes and Posnett met on 23 March 2022 and again on 3 November 2022. A series of options were 
presented and Members gave feedback so Officers can further develop the ADP. The next step is that the ADP, with Scrutiny comments included, will be presented 
to the Cabinet for consideration. 

Budget Members held a workshop on 3 January 2023 in order to scrutinise the proposed budget prior to the public release of for the agenda of the Scrutiny Committee 
meeting to be held on 24 January 2023. 

Crime and Disorder Members met with Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) on 20 October 2022 for a question-and-answer session on his 
aims and objectives with a focus on the Borough of Melton. The feedback from the meeting was presented to the Cabinet by the Scrutiny Chairman at the Cabinet 
meeting held on 16 November 2022. 

Leisure Procurement Strategy Members received a draft copy of the Leisure Procurement Strategy at a workshop held on 5 January 2023 and comments on the recommendations were provided 
to Officers. All suggested improvements will be considered by the Cabinet before they are added to the strategy. 

Strategic Partnership 
(Collaboration) 

The Committee considered the business case for the Strategic Partnership between Melton Borough Council and Harborough District Council at the meeting held 
on 22 November 2022. All comments made by Members were presented to the Cabinet when they considered the business case at a meeting held on 6 December 
2022. 

Tourism Service At the meeting on 18 October 2022, the Committee received a report and presentation about tourism in the Borough and what the tourism service does to promote 
tourism. Members provided feedback which was presented to the Cabinet by the Scrutiny Chairman at the Cabinet meeting held on 16 November 2022. 

Waste Strategy The Committee received the final draft of the Leicestershire Resources and Waste Strategy. The strategy will be considered by Cabinet at their meeting to be held 
on 25 January 2023.  Members provided feedback on the strategy and that feedback will be presented to the Cabinet by the Scrutiny Chairman at the meeting. 

P
age 24



 3 

 

  

 
ONE OFF ITEMS/FORWARD PLAN(PRE-DECISION)/ANNUAL ITEM  
These are dealt with at scheduled meetings of the Committee. The following are suggestions for when particular items may be scheduled. 
 

 
Suggested Topics 
 

 
FORMAT 

 
Portfolio Holder/Officer 

 
Meeting Date 

 
Notes 

Requested by 
(Member)/ 
Date agreed for 
addition by Scrutiny 
Chairman 

Portfolio Holder/Chief 
Officer consulted on date 
of report 
 

(1) Budget Annual item Portfolio Holder for 
Corporate Governance, 
Finance and Resources 
 
Director for Corporate 
Services 
 

24 January 
2023 

Scrutiny of the Budget (All Members) 
One item only agenda 

N/A Yes 

(2) Leader’s Annual 
Presentation 

Annual item Leader 
 
Chief Executive 
 

14 March 2023 Summary of delivery of the Corporate 
Strategy 21/22 and objectives for 22/23. 

Scrutiny Workshop, 
June 2022 

TBC 

(3) Scrutiny Annual Report  Annual Item Scrutiny Officer 
 
Chairman of Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

18 April 2023 Report detailing the work of the Scrutiny 
Committee over the previous 12 months 

N/A Yes 

(4) Sundry Debt, Rent Arrears 
and Garage Arrears 

One-off item Portfolio Holder for 
Corporate Governance, 
Finance and Resources 
 
Interim Revenues & Benefits 
Manager 
 
Tenancy Services Manager 
 

18 April 2023 Following the consideration of the debt 
management update report at the Scrutiny 
meeting on 11 January 2023, Members 
requested an update report on sundry debt, 
rent arrears and garage arrears. 

11 January 2023 
meeting 

Yes 

P
age 25



 4 

 

 

 
PENDING ITEMS These items are awaiting further discussion or additional research before being added to the work programme 
 

 
Suggested Topics 
(One-off or Review Item?) 
 

 
Officer and Member Lead 

 
Date 

 
Notes 

Requested by (Member)/ 
Date agreed for addition by 
Scrutiny Chairman 

(1) Changes to housing 
regulatory framework 

Michelle Howard,  
Director for Housing and 
Communities 

TBC The Director for Housing and Communities suggested presenting an one-off report to the 
Scrutiny Committee outlining the regulatory changes to the housing sector. 
 
Item is pending as no date has been confirmed for the Committee to receive the report. 
 

Scrutiny Workshop, June 2022 

(2) Update on MMDR Chief Executive 
 

TBC At the Scrutiny Work Programme Workshop in June 2022, Members requested an update 
report on the MMDR project. 
 
Item is pending as no date has been confirmed for the Committee to receive the report. 
 

Scrutiny Workshop, June 2022 

(3) Youth Provision Michelle Howard 
Director for Housing and 
Communities  
 

TBC Members requested a review of youth provision in the Borough of Melton. Scrutiny Workshop, June 2022 

  

P
age 26



 5 

ADVICE ON WORK PROGRAMME 

What is a Work Programme? 

The Scrutiny Work Programme outlines the areas of work which are expected to be scrutinised over the coming months/year by or on behalf of the Council’s Scrutiny Committee and any Working Groups 

convened for review work. Topics added to the work programme should have expected outcomes to add value to the services delivered by the Council and its partners and/or improve the quality of lives of 

Melton’s residents. It is recognised that there is a need for flexibility in the work programme so as to allow relevant issues to be dealt with as and when they arise.  

Sources of Work Programme Ideas  

Numerous sources of information can help to inform topic selection, including:  

• Concerns that have been raised by the public relating to Council delivered services  

• Issues of community concern – not necessarily services delivered by the Council  

• Issues that have been flagged up by reviews, audits or inspections (past and present).  

• Issues relating to Councils outcomes, objectives and priorities  

• Consultations and interviews  

• Underperformance  

• “Stakeholders” concerns – raised by the Council’s partners or the users of services  

• Partnership objectives  

• Cabinet Members, Chief Executive or Directors presentations about the pertinent issues that are emerging and any opportunities or threats on the horizon  

• Central government priority changes  

• Improvement Plans  

• Forward Plan  

• Budgetary analysis.  

Scrutiny is also encouraged to think about external Scrutiny and the monitoring of other public bodies, and how its activities will engage partner organisations, the media and the public.  

Selecting a Work Programme Topic  

The Scrutiny Committee should use effective processes to select topics that will contribute towards the best possible work programme for Scrutiny. This means looking at the sources of information that may help 

and using them to choose the right topics.  

This involves:  

• Drawing out and discussing what matters most to Councillors and to the community at large  

• Finding out about any research that has been completed or that is planned  

• Prioritising topics  

• Considering what added value is expected as a result of Scrutiny involvement 

• Considering whether the topic is already being reviewed elsewhere  

It is also important to note that Scrutiny has limited time and resources and therefore workplans need to be manageable. It is not possible to include every topic suggested by Members, Directors or the Public in 

the work programme. In addition, Officer capacity may be diverted from projects if a review is added to the workplan without considering the impact on Officer resource and this should be a consideration in 

adding to work programme. Successful Scrutiny is about looking at the right topic in the right way and Members will need to be selective whilst also being able to demonstrate clear arguments in favour of 

including or excluding topics.  

Risks  

A common pitfall for Scrutiny can be the inclusion of topics on the work programme that are unmanageable, of limited interest to the community, purely for informational purposes, have few outcomes and fail to 

‘add value’ to the work of the Council or the wellbeing of the community. As such the selection and prioritisation of topics is critical to the effectiveness of Scrutiny as such processes can ensure clearer focus, 

particularly in poor or weak areas of performance or major issues of concern to the wider community. 

P
age 27



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Cabinet Report 

General Fund Revenue Budget 2021/22 and Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2021/22 to 2024/25 

1 

 

 

Cabinet 
8 February 2023 

Report of: Councillor Ronnie de Burle - 
Portfolio Holder for Corporate 
Governance and Resources 

       

  
  

 

General Fund Revenue Budget 2023/24 and Medium 
Term Financial Strategy 2024/25 to 2026/27 

Corporate Priority: All 

Relevant Ward Member(s): All 

Date of consultation with Ward 
Member(s): 

N/A   

Exempt Information: No 

Key Decision: No 

Subject to call-in: No 

Not key decision 

1 Summary 

1.1 The Council monitors budget and service performance on a continuing basis with regular 

reports provided to Cabinet. For 2022/23, in respect of General Expenses, an overspend of 

£37k is forecast for the year, primarily due to the non-recurring cost of an enforcement case, 

ongoing inflationary impacts and loss of income in planning and leisure, offset by an 

improvement in business rate and investment income. With regard to Special Expenses 

Melton Mowbray, an overspend of £45k is forecast primarily due to the reduction in burial 

income and the loss of income and costs associated with the cemetery lodge.   

1.2 The 2023/24 draft budget has been prepared based on the Council’s approved Corporate 

Strategy 2020 to 2024. It allows for an overall increase in council tax of 2.99% across all 

Council funds in line with the Government’s referendum limit. A small number of growth 

items are being put forward for funding. The overall position is a deficit of £141k on General 

Expenses with the inclusion of the proposed growth item and £66k on Special Expenses 

Melton Mowbray, plus a non-recurring growth item for approval of £30k. The details of the 

proposals are set out within the report alongside the risks and assumptions associated with 

the budget estimates.  

 

Page 29

Agenda Item 6

http://www.melton.gov.uk/
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

Cabinet Report 

General Fund Revenue Budget 2021/22 and Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2021/22 to 2024/257 

2 

 

1.3 Forecasts of the council’s financial position for the next 3 years are set out within the report 

alongside sensitivity analysis of these forecasts. This clearly shows the wide ranging 

potential financial impact from 2024/25 onwards primarily due to the uncertainty with regard 

to the levels of inflation particularly in respect of salary costs with further significant 

increases to the national living wage likely. At all sensitivity levels savings are forecast to 

have to be made to balance the budget. This is for both General and Special Expenses 

Melton Mowbray. The position with regard to Special Expenses Melton Mowbray is 

particularly acute with council tax generating relatively low levels of income for this fund and 

the forward projections demonstrating an ongoing need to draw on the reserves which would 

become exhausted, without intervention, by 2026/27 based on the projections. This 

demonstrates the continuing importance of the council identifying areas where savings can 

be made either from efficiencies or service reductions across both funds.  

1.4 Whilst prudent management has ensured the level of reserves have stabilised in recent 

years, they remain at a relatively low level, providing an ongoing challenge and making the 

council more susceptible to financial shocks.. The 2022/23 position is fairly stable due to 

increased business rates being forecast against budget for General Expenses. The 2023/24 

position draws on reserves to balance the budget which will reduce overall levels and if 

sustained over time would put the council in an unsustainable position.  The proposed 

budget for Special Expenses Melton Mowbray will also require a draw on reserves, which 

while modest in absolute terms, is quite significant in the context of the size of the fund.  

1.5 In recent years, the council has successfully managed any potential deficits in its budget 

through the development and utilisation of a Financial Sustainability Plan, which has set out 

a range of options for efficiencies, savings or additional income. This has facilitated the 

stability of the council’s reserves set out above. In view of the projected budget deficit for 

2023/24, it is proposed to continue development of options and ideas within the Financial 

Sustainability Programme, such that they can be brought forward in-year, enabling the 

deficit, and subsequent draw on reserves to be reduced from the current projection.  

1.6 Capital remain low although the asset development programme is aimed at addressing this. 

The Council’s minimum reserve the Working Balance has previously been increased to 

£850k and the budget proposals include provision for this to increase further to the £1m 

level recommended by the LGA following their review of the council’s financial sustainability.  

2 Recommendations 

That Cabinet: 

 

2.1 Note the year end forecast and financial position for the General Fund and Special 
Expenses for 2022/23. 

2.2 Note the proposed budget for 2023/24 which remain subject to the final settlement 
and delegate authority to the Director for Corporate Services to make any 
amendments necessary to the estimates prior to their submission to Council for 
approval as a result of changes to the final finance settlement over the provisional.  

2.3 Approve the Special Expenses Policy attached as Appendix C. 

2.4 Recommend to Council subject to any amendment arising from the final finance 
settlement: 

 

Page 30



 

Cabinet Report 

General Fund Revenue Budget 2021/22 and Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2021/22 to 2024/257 

3 

 

 

2.4.1 The revenue budget for 2023/24 for General and Special Expenses as set 
out in Appendix B and summarised in section 4.5 be approved resulting in 
an overall council tax increase of 2.99%, the individual council tax levels 
being as set out in para 4.5.5; 

2.4.2 That the council continues to disregard 100% of any war widows 
(widowers)/war disablement scheme/armed forces compensation scheme 
payments in any benefits assessment. 

2.4.3 Any underspend on general expenses at 31 March 2023 be used to increase 
the current level of the working balance in order to move closer to the target 
level of £1m and any overspend be met by reducing the budgeted transfer 
to the Regeneration and Innovation Reserve with any further shortfall being 
met from the Corporate Priorities Reserve in order to maintain the current 
level at £850k;  

2.4.4 That the general expenses working balance be increased to the £1m level 
recommended by the LGA in 2023/24 by transferring £150k from the 
Corporate Priorities Reserve;  

2.4.5 Any surplus/deficit for Special Expenses Melton Mowbray be transferred 
to/from the Special Expenses Reserve thereby bringing the actual working 
balance back to the target; 

2.4.6 Members note the changes made to the risk categorisation of budgets as 
set out in para 4.8.1 and Appendix E. 

 
 

 

3 Reason for Recommendations 

3.1 The Council, having set a Budget at the start of the financial year, needs to ensure the 
delivery of this Budget is achieved. Consequently, there is a requirement to regularly 
monitor progress so corrective action can be taken when required, which is enhanced with 
the regular reporting of the financial position. 
 

3.2 To propose to Council a General Fund budget and level of council tax for the 2023/24 
financial year which takes into account the proposals set out in the approved Corporate 
Strategy. The proposals take into account the net expenditure that the Council expects to 
spend in the next financial year to deliver services to our customers. The report also 
includes details of the funding and income received to support these services to ensure a 
balanced budget is proposed. 

 
3.3 The Council also holds a number of reserves which can be drawn upon to fund future 

expenses. The level of reserves is considered within this report, as is the future outlook 
for spending in the years ahead in order for the Council’s future financial resilience to be 
considered as part of the proposals. 
 

3.4 Cabinet and Council are required to consider and approve the General Fund Revenue 
Account budget proposals in order to set the budget and council tax for the forthcoming 
financial year. 

 

Page 31



 

Cabinet Report 

General Fund Revenue Budget 2021/22 and Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2021/22 to 2024/257 

4 

 

 

4 Main Considerations 

4.1 Forecast Year End Position 2022/23 

4.1.1 The forecast year end position for General Expenses is in an overspend of £37k prior to any 

additional pressures/savings which may emerge between now and the year end. This takes 

into account approved contributions to/from the reserves, supplementary estimates, and 

approved carry forwards from 2021/22. The key variances that make up this underspend 

are: 

4.1.2 Spending Reductions – where there is a forecast underspend on expenditure or 

additional income generated 

• Community Safety (£33k) – Vacant Neighbourhood Officer, held temporarily to the 
end of the financial year pending a review of future structure arrangements 
(underway) 

• Customer Services (£31k) – Vacant Customer Services Lead post expected until 
end of the financial year. A revised structure and leadership arrangement is being 
implemented within this service area as part of a wider realignment of roles and 
responsibilities within both the housing and communities directorate and the 
corporate services directorate.   

• Cattle Market (£15k) – latest throughput information is showing income is up which 
is mainly related to animal auctions and the tavern. Additional income is also 
expected for the new leases on the southern site. 

• Industrial Estates (£11k) – Budget includes an allowance for bad debt which is not 
currently expected to materialise. Additional £3k in relation to a backdated invoice 
for unit rent. 

• Economic Development (£32k) – Project officer post retained vacant to contribute 
towards corporate saving needs (net after supporting Assistant Director for Planning 
interim arrangement). 

• Growth and Regeneration (£42k) – Various salary savings including Regulatory 
Services Manager vacancy due to retirement, business support officer and new 
employees starting at lower bands.  This has been partly used to offset the 
additional costs relating to the conservation resource referred to below in para 4.1.3. 

• Environmental maintenance (£142k) – NNDR cost recharge to contractor for 5 years 
for Lake terrace which had previously been paid by MBC and which now needs to 
be recovered from the contractor who hold the liability. The forecast outturn allows 
for recovery of this debt. 

• Interest Income (£140k) – Additional income generated by sharp increase in interest 
rates against those budgeted for linked to the rise in base rates. 

• Business Rates (£299k) – the latest monitoring and review for the collection rates for 
the year is expecting an increase in NNDR income based on the identification of a 
number of renewable energy sites for which the Council retains 100% of business 
rates and these have been backdated to the date they came onto the rating list 
creating a windfall for the year.  

 

 

Page 32



 

Cabinet Report 

General Fund Revenue Budget 2021/22 and Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2021/22 to 2024/257 

5 

 

 

4.1.3 Spending Increases where there is a forecast increase / overspend on expenditure 

or projected shortfalls in income 

 

• Pay Award (£212k) – The national pay award has been agreed at £1,925 on every 
spinal point, which equates to an average of 4.75%overall pay increase, compared 
to 1.75% budgeted which equates to a potential impact of £232k but this has been 
slightly reduced by the ‘mini-budget’ NI rate reduction that has been confirmed. 

• Rent Rebates and Rent Allowances (£39k) – Latest subsidy predictions are showing 
an overspend based on the mid-year subsidy return. 

• Waterfield (£105k) – When the budget was set half the previous contracted 
management fee was expected in 2022/23, however, the final agreement was for 
£20k plus profit share arrangement. Based on the latest open book accounts, and 
the significant and ongoing challenge facing the leisure sector due to covid and 
inflation, the contract is running at a deficit and therefore it is unlikely any profit 
share will be received. This position continues to be reviewed with ongoing review of 
the accounts and agreement to approve in-year price changes due to current 
inflationary cost pressures. 

• Car Parking (£16k) – Actuals are at 92% of the levels anticipated within the budget 
but expected to improve over the remainder of the year, however overall shortfall is 
still forecasted (£19K) plus Penalty Charge Notice income is also down (£12k). 
Partially offset by income from the COVID vaccination centre use of Burton Street 
car park (£15k) 

• Waste Management (£37k) - additional costs relating to contract inflation assumed 
at 7% compared to budgeted 3% mainly driven by fuel price increase as well as 
salary increases and general inflation. This has been partly offset by additional 
income including green waste royalties for additional users. 

• Environmental Health (£53k) – Final expected cost of £99k for successful animal 
welfare enforcement case. This has been partly offset by savings elsewhere in 
service relating to capitalisation of salaries which the Council has been able to apply 
against the LAD2 schemes and legacy Covid grants. 

• Conservation Officer (20K) – additional costs have been incurred for the provision of 
external expertise on conservation matters which fall outside the knowledge base 
within the team.  This has been offset by salary savings within the service but with 
the ongoing requirement for this support a growth bid has been submitted as part of 
the 2023/24 budget process. 

• Planning income (£233k) - Indication that income will be below the expected budget. 
Average monthly income is £29k for the half year. Forecasting forward with the 
average monthly income plus three more expected larger applications in the region 
of £50k. In depth analysis has been undertaken by the service and established this 
trend is likely to continue for the foreseeable future. Following the outturn at similar 
levels in the previous financial year it has been agreed that, prudently the budget 
should be reduced in order to be more realistic in 2023/24. 

• Land Charges (£19k) - Lower volume of land searches than budgeted for. 

Page 33



 

Cabinet Report 

General Fund Revenue Budget 2021/22 and Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2021/22 to 2024/257 

6 

 

4.1.4 In addition to the above there is also backdated service charges for occupiers of Phoenix 

House and Parkside which are being progressed, which if recovered would significantly 

improve this position further, and mitigate the projected overspend. 

4.1.5 As part of the budget for 2022/23 provision was made to transfer £384k into the 

Regeneration and Innovation Reserve following the positive settlement for 2022/23. Based 

on current usage and agreed decisions the unallocated balance on this reserve is £255k. 

As such this transfer, should there by an overspend at year end, the balance could be met 

from this reserve.  

4.1.6 The forecast year end position for Special Expenses Melton Mowbray is an overspend of 

£45k. This is primarily due to: 

• Cemetery (£39k)- this is mainly due to a reduction in burial income and additional 
cost for maintenance. 

• Cemetery lodge (£10K) remaining vacant due to damp and other maintenance 
issues and incurring costs and suffering loss of income. Proposals for future options 
to be considered at a future cabinet meeting. An option which reduces ongoing 
liabilities will be explored.  

4.1.7 There are no significant variations forecast on the closed churchyards at present. 

4.1.8 The forecast year end position is only an indication of the actual position at year end and 

budget holders can only spend at this level if they seek approval through virements and 

supplementary estimates. For general expenses It is proposed that any surplus over the 

current working balance at 31st March 2023 be used to increase the Working Balance 

closer to the target £1m and any overspend be met initially by reducing the budgeted 

transfer to the Regeneration and Innovation Reserve. Whilst this is not anticipated, should 

this not be sufficient to meet any overspend then the corporate priorities reserve should 

be used in order to maintain the working balance at its current level of £850k.  For special 

expenses Melton Mowbray it is proposed that any surplus/deficit be transferred to/from the 

Special Expenses Reserve thereby bringing the actual working balances back to the 

target. 

4.2 Considerations for developing the 2023/24 Budget - State of Melton Report and 

Residents Survey 

4.2.1 The Corporate Strategy 2020-24 sets out the Council's focus and aspirations for this 

period. Following public consultation and engagement with our stakeholders and partners, 

the Council agreed a clear vision and ambition for Melton and the people who live and 

work here. The Council continues to deliver against the priorities set out in the Corporate 

Strategy for the period 2020-2024. These six priorities are:  

1. Excellent services positively impacting on our communities 

2. Providing high quality council homes and landlord services  

3. Delivering sustainable and inclusive growth in Melton 

4. Protect our climate and enhance our rural natural environment  

5. Ensuring the right conditions to support delivery (inward)  

6. Connected with and led by our community in Melton (outward)  

Page 34



 

Cabinet Report 

General Fund Revenue Budget 2021/22 and Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2021/22 to 2024/257 

7 

 

The State of Melton Report was first published in 2021 and included key information which 

will help guide Councillors and Officers as they consider which areas of our strategy need 

a particular focus at any given time.  

We committed to an annual refresh of this documentation and the most up to date version 

can be found at Appendix A.  

4.2.2 A State of Melton Debate was held with Members on 28th September 2022. Members 

received a presentation from officers on the main changes since 2021 and the current 

position of the borough. This highlighted some of the key issues for the Council and its 

partners and reflected on the way that the borough has changed and what things may be 

impacting over the next few years. They were given an opportunity to reflect on a variety of 

data including the Census 2021, emerging challenges identified by the LGA and the 

outcome of the Residents Survey in 2022.  

4.2.3 The Council undertook a Residents Survey in 2022 as a follow up to the previous survey 

which took place in 2019 to inform the development of the Corporate Plan 2020-24. A full 

report covering the outcome of the Residents Survey 2022 was taken to Cabinet on 16th 

November 2022. The results of the Residents Survey show a positive picture for the Council 

with satisfaction increasing from 2019 across most of the questions against a backdrop of 

very challenging circumstances. Satisfaction with our services have also improved as shown 

in the table below. 

 

 

4.2.4 The council service areas where dissatisfaction had increased were:  

• Enforcement action against dog fouling 

• Enforcement action against litter 

• Tackling nuisance and anti-social behaviour 

These three council service areas also had the highest levels of dissatisfaction in 2019. 

Both taking enforcement action against litter and taking enforcement action against dog 

fouling had increased dissatisfaction levels on those reported in 2019 with tackling 

nuisance and anti-social behaviour reducing in dissatisfaction since 2019. However, it is 

Page 35

https://democracy.melton.gov.uk/documents/s18320/Appendix%20A%20-%20Melton%20Borough%20Council%20Residents%20Survey%20Report.pdf
https://democracy.melton.gov.uk/documents/s18320/Appendix%20A%20-%20Melton%20Borough%20Council%20Residents%20Survey%20Report.pdf


 

Cabinet Report 

General Fund Revenue Budget 2021/22 and Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2021/22 to 2024/257 

8 

 

worth noting, that all three areas had increased satisfaction levels with residents since 

2019. The work being undertaken to improve those 3 service areas is reflected in the 

response and additional resources have been added in planning enforcement during the 

course of 2022/23. This includes: 

• Greater promotion of work done by legal and within services to promote successful 

action undertaken to tackle  antisocial behaviour, dog fouling and littering. 

• Raising awareness of opportunities for residents to get involved in keeping their 

communities clean and safe. 

• Further investment in developing services (through UKSPF and Levelling Up Bids). 

• Greater focus and reporting on ASB management in Housing Services 

• Investment in modernised CCTV system approved, and associated project 

underway 

 

4.3   Key Budget Principles for 2023/24 

4.3.1 A number of key principles have been considered as part of the budget setting process 

some of which were considered as part of the previously approved Medium Term Financial 

Strategy (MTFS) and these are set out below: 

a) The need to increase the working balance for General Expenses to the £1m level 
recommended by the Local Government Association, following their review of the 
council’s financial sustainability; 

b) The target working balance for Special Expenses Melton Mowbray be retained at £50k;  
b)  No general inflation be provided for in the 2023/24 budget at service budget level, other 

than salaries which has been provided for at 4%, unless adjusted for known cost 

increases by budget holders such as contractual requirements. Pay progression across 

the scales has been provided for with the establishment budgeted for in full, but no 

budget provided for recruitment costs. 

 

4.4 Local Government Finance Settlement 2023/24 

4.4.1 The finance settlement sets out the centrally allocated resources for all councils which are 

allocated within the context of the spending review. A Settlement Funding Assessment is 

awarded which consists of a Revenue Support Grant (which Melton receives a negligible 

amount) and a Baseline Funding Level which is used to calculate the level of business rates 

that can be retained from that estimated to be collected locally. The settlement also provides 

the information on the level of other specific grants a local authority will receive for the 

coming and potentially future years as well as setting out the level of council tax that can be 

set without triggering a referendum.  

4.4.2 In 2016 the government set out its intention to move to multi year settlements to provide 

certainty to councils over future levels of funding and a four year settlement was announced 

covering the period 2016/17 to 2019/20. Consultation papers were then issued with the 

2019/20 finance settlement relating to the long standing review of local government finance. 

This covered proposals for a full business rates baseline reset meaning any growth retained 

since the business rates retention system was introduced in 2013/14 would be lost. 

Page 36



 

Cabinet Report 

General Fund Revenue Budget 2021/22 and Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2021/22 to 2024/257 

9 

 

Consideration of how the split of business rates was to be made between lower and upper 

tier authorities; with the concern being that the funding pressures of upper tier authorities 

would result in a greater share allocated to this class of authority. Alongside the business 

rates reform, other funding streams were also announced for review, including consideration 

regarding the costs of rurality and the future of New Homes Bonus. Whilst any changes to 

these funding streams have the potential to impact on the council and therefore create a 

degree of uncertainty, it is also unclear how any damping mechanism would work and over 

what time period in order to mitigate the impact on any individual council in the early years. 

This review was expected to be completed in time for the 2020/21 finance settlement. 

4.4.3 This review has been repeatedly delayed with single year finance settlements issued. The 

2022/23 settlement referred to the need to consult the sector on “updating the System” with  

DLUHC officials clarifying that this was likely to encompass a response to the review of New 

Homes Bonus. This consultation did not take place and the 2023/24 settlement contains 

principles for the 2023/24 and 2024/25 financial years but with actual financial information 

for 2023/24 only. The final settlement is not expected until late January /early February 2023 

and will need to be received before the council tax is formally set by Council. 

 

4.4.4 The key elements set out in the 2023/24 provisional finance settlement are as follows: 

a) Business Rates - The Settlement Funding Assessment used to calculate retained 

business rates was as expected with the added complexity of a business rates 

revaluation from 1st April 2023.  Following an assessment the Leicestershire business 

rates pool is continuing for 2023/24 based on an estimated £15m benefit to the area in 

2022/23;  

b) Council Tax - The settlement has confirmed the announcement made in the Autumn 

Statement that the referendum limit for district councils is the higher of 3% or £5 overall 

increase in a Band D property. An increase from the previous 2% or £5 overall;  

c) Rural Services Delivery Grant - The Efficiency for SPARSE services grant has been 

confirmed as continuing in line with that received in 2022/23 for Melton, this is 

provisionally confirmed as £191k; 

d) New Homes Bonus (NHB) - 2017/18 saw significant changes to the calculation of NHB 

with the government reducing legacy payments from 6 to 5 years in 2017/18 and to 4 

years in 2018/19 onwards.  In addition local authorities whose housing growth is less than 

0.4% receive no NHB payment; otherwise authorities will only receive the payment on 

amounts over the 0.4%. The Government outlined proposals in previous consultations to 

remove NHB funding from 2021/22 onwards. As part of the 2021/22 settlement the 

Government extended the NHB scheme for a further one off year in both 2021/22 and 

2022/23 with these payments not forming part of any legacy payments. For 2023/24 the 

government has again extended the scheme for a further year on the same basis. As 

such Melton will receive a one off payment for new homes built over the previous year in 

2023/24, but these will not form part of any future legacy payments.  This results in a final 

NHB payment for 2023/24 of £506k.   The Government has stated previously the intention 

to consult on the future of a new housing incentive with the aim of moving to a new more 

targeted approach that rewards local authorities that are ambitious in delivering homes 

however this has not been reiterated in the settlement for 2023/24; 

Page 37



 

Cabinet Report 

General Fund Revenue Budget 2021/22 and Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2021/22 to 2024/257 

10 

 

g) Funding Guarantee - A new one off funding stream has been created in recognition of 

the inflationary pressures across the sector. This replaces the previous Lower Tier 

Services Grant and the legacy payment element of the New Homes Bonus. This is to 

ensure that all authorities will see at least a 3% increase in their Core Spending Power. 

The amount for Melton in the provisional settlement is £109k;  

 h)Services Grant – This grant introduced in 2022/23 has again formed part of the settlement 

and is to fund general responsibilities. In 2022/23 it included funding for the increase in 

employer national insurance contributions which has since been reversed. As such this 

grant is lower at £52k in 2023/24. 

 

4.5 Proposed Budget 2023/24 

4.5.1 The proposed budget for 2023/24 is set out in Appendix B and is summarised in the table 

below: 

Proposed Budget 2023/24 £000 

General Expenses  

Net Cost of services-Updated Base Budget  7,709 

Proposed Growth (Appendix Ci) 20 

Proposed Net Cost of Services  

Non Service Related Budgets -2,314 

Business Rates Equalisation Reserve -908 

Net Expenditure 4,507 

  

Net Expenditure Met by:  

Non Domestic Rates -914 

NNDR Collection Fund Deficit 1,078 

Council Tax Collection Fund Surplus -12 

New Homes Bonus -506 

Council Tax -3,893 

Corporate Priorities Reserve – Non Recurring Cost -119 

Deficit to be met from the Corporate Priorities Reserve 141 

  

  

Special Expenses Melton Mowbray  

Net Cost of Services-Updated Base Budget 668 

Proposed Growth 30 

Non Service Related Budgets -99 

Net Expenditure 599 

Net Expenditure Met by:  

Council Tax 503 

Deficit to be met form Special Expense Reserve 96 

  

  

4.5.2 The budget for 2023/24 has been prepared on the basis of maintaining services at their 

agreed levels except where the Council has already agreed to a change in which case any 

change in cost has been incorporated into the base budget. The proposed budget aligns 

Page 38



 

Cabinet Report 

General Fund Revenue Budget 2021/22 and Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2021/22 to 2024/257 

11 

 

with and continues to focus on enabling delivery of aspirations set out in the Corporate 

Strategy approved in September 2020.  

4.5.3 One proposal for growth has been put forward for consideration in respect of General 

Expenses and one in respect of Special Expenses Melton Mowbray as set out below. The 

growth for Special Expenses is a non-recurring item and therefore meets the criteria for 

being funded from the reserve, although the low level of the reserve should be noted, which 

is a result of needing to draw on this to balance the budget in current and previous years, 

with no council tax being set for this fund in previous years. The growth on general expenses 

is an ongoing commitment and therefore increases the deficit that needs to be funded from 

reserves. The special expenses proposal as shown below, would see the lifespan of the 

existing cemetery site capacity increase for burial plots, cremation plots and cremation 

vaults. This would allow for further analysis and strategic consideration of options for future 

cemetery provision in the borough.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

These have been incorporated into the budget and MTFS as set out in Appendix B and the 

above table and are summarised below: 

 

General Fund Ongoing Growth Proposal £000 

Conservation Resource – Ongoing support to planning officers for the 
provision of conservation advice used in the determination of planning 
applications 

20 

Special Expenses Non Recurring Growth Proposal 
 

 

Cemetery – remove redundant footpaths in order to extend the cemetery life 
 

30 

 

4.5.4 All service budgets and projected income streams have been subject to scrutiny by the Senior 

Leadership Team. The draft budget and proposals have been considered by the Scrutiny 

Committee. A number of principles and assumptions have been applied when preparing the 

summary set out in Appendix B as follows: 

a) That the Council sets a 2.99% overall council tax increase. Increases for Special 

Expenses for  Sproxton, Gaddesby and Frisby have been set at the level required to 

Plot Type Remaining 
Capacity at July 
2022 and (years) 

Additional 
Capacity if 

Footway/shrub 
works carried 

out 

Total in 
Numbers and 

(Years)* 

Burial Plots 389 (6.5) 135 524 (8.7) 

Cremation Plots 128 (2.6) 418 546 (10.9) 

Cremation Vaults 10 (n/a) 196 206 (n/a) 

Child Plots 
 

63 (n/a) 0 63 (n/a) 

Page 39



 

Cabinet Report 

General Fund Revenue Budget 2021/22 and Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2021/22 to 2024/257 

12 

 

balance the budget, Special Expenses Melton Mowbray at 2.99% leaving the increase 

for General Expenses at 2.83% in order to bring the overall increase to 2.99%. Capping 

levels are set to include all council funds; 

b) The approved establishment has generally been budgeted for in full, but no provision 

has been made for recruitment costs or savings as a result of any vacancies; 

c) The capital programme as set out elsewhere on this agenda is approved. The revenue 

implications of which have been considered when preparing the budget; 

d) Assumptions have been made in respect of a number of service related income streams 

in addition to assumptions over the level of interest from investments. The actual position 

could differ significantly from that estimated; 

e) Estimated retained business rates income has been based on the Council’s estimated 

NNDR1 form (Non Domestic Rating Income Calculation and Estimate of Collection fund 

Surpluses and Deficits). As experience has shown, the actual amount can vary 

significantly in and between years as a result of levy calculations. This is complicated in 

2023/24 as a result of the revaluation undertaken and applicable to businesses from 1 

April 2023. A business rates equalisation reserve is held to smooth out some of these 

implications between years and £908k is included in the budget for 2023/24 to cover a 

large proportion of the £1,078 estimated deficit on the NNDR collection fund. Based on 

the forecast for 2022/23 this will put the estimated balance at 31.3.24 at the bottom end 

of the recommended level (£250k to £300k) for this fund; 

f) Assumptions have been made regarding grant income and charges for services provided 

by other partners, where certainty surrounding these costs and income, have not yet 

been provided; 

g) No contingency has been included in the budget for 2023/24 due to affordability; 

h) The forecast deficit of £37k at 31st March 2023 on general expenses be met initially from 

a reduced contribution to the Regeneration and Innovation fund and then from the 

Corporate Priorities Reserve. For Special Expenses Melton Mowbray the forecast deficit 

is transferred from the Special Expenses Reserve balance; 

i) The Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 make provision for the first £10.00 of income from 

War Widows (Widowers)/War Disablement Scheme and the Armed Forces 

Compensation Scheme to be disregarded in any benefit assessment. The cost of this 

disregard is fully reimbursed to the Council. The Social Security Administration Act 1992 

gives the Council discretion to disregard any amount it chooses in addition to the 

statutory provision in accordance with its approved Modified Scheme. Historically the 

Council has disregarded 100% of these payments received in the assessment of housing 

benefit and council tax support awards. The costs to the council of awarding this 

discretionary in 2021/22 was £16,775.  As part of the Housing Benefit Assurance 

Process the Council is being asked to affirm this policy and the budget is set on the basis 

that this will continue. The intention of disregarding this income in the assessment of 

Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support is to ensure that members of the armed forces 

who have been disabled during service or the widows, widowers or surviving civil partner 

of those who died in the service of their country, should not be penalised by having their 

pensions or payments made in relation to their service, considered in the calculation of 

their entitlement. It also ensures continued alignment between treatment of these 

Page 40



 

Cabinet Report 

General Fund Revenue Budget 2021/22 and Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2021/22 to 2024/257 

13 

 

incomes under the Housing Benefit scheme set by the Department for Works and 

Pensions, and MBC’s own Council Tax support scheme.  

 

4.5.5    The proposals and assumptions set out above result in the proposed Council Tax levels 

for each fund as set out below. 

 

 

Fund Council Tax 

at Band D 

£ 

Change over 

2022/23 

% 

General Expenses 197.64 2.83 

Special Expenses - Melton Mowbray 54.14 2.99 

Special Expenses – Sproxton Nos. 2 & 4 78.28 30.49 

Special Expenses - Frisby 23.18 31.63 

Special Expenses - Gaddesby 23.17 23.39 

Average 224.14 2.99 

 

4.6 Financial Sustainability 

4.6.1 As can be seen above the proposed budget for 2023/24 is not a balanced one with the 

proposals being that the modest deficit be met from the Corporate Priorities Reserve. Given 

volatility both in the economy, the general uncertainty regarding public finances, and late 

notice of the finance settlement, this is considered a reasonable approach, so as to avoid 

hastily introducing savings proposals without time to properly consider or consult on 

implications.  

4.6.2 In order to address this shortfall it is proposed that the work already undertaken on the 

financial sustainability plan be developed further and proposals will be brought forward for 

consideration by April which would seek to mitigate the budget deficit. Where proposals can 

be implemented in year this will reduce the draw on the reserve with the aim being to address 

the ongoing budget shortfall for later years.  

4.6.3 The following workstreams are being considered as part of this process: 

Procurement/Contract management 

• Identify opportunities to reduce costs within key contracts for example, considering 

changes to services or policy and approach to delivery arrangements which reduce the 

need for variation orders. 

 

Service and process reviews 

 

• Review of customer service and customer journey across the council, including 

consideration of systems, processes, roles and responsibilities, automation, 

performance, post room arrangements and reception arrangements, plus 

implementation of analysis and insight capability to improve customer journey and 

Page 41



 

Cabinet Report 

General Fund Revenue Budget 2021/22 and Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2021/22 to 2024/257 

14 

 

experience, and to inform future service and system needs. This will build on service 

review work initiated prior to the pandemic.  

• Review of caretaking needs and requirements; 

• Review of service arrangements for leisure provision to protect the contractual 

management fee.  

 

Income generation 

 

• Review of various fees and charges across the borough; 

• Business development and growth of Welland procurement service; 

• Assessment of ability to implement parking permits in HRA properties; 

• Assessment of ability to remove/sell general fund residents car parks; 

• Potential to offset some core spend utilising grant funding; 

• Review of car parking arrangements at Cattle market to maximise income from parking 

fees. 

4.6.4 Work will be undertaken up to April 2023 to either refine and confirm potential savings 

against each of these aspects to establish whether the deficit can be met or scope out the 

work required to progress potential efficiencies and savings. It should be noted that 

alongside the above, concurrently, longer-term work is underway in relation to the asset 

development programme which has the potential to realise savings through the following: 

• Diversification of Parkside  

• Development of Phoenix House 

• Reconfiguration of the Cove 

• Development of the Stockyard 

4.6.5 Also, discussions relating to distribution of the funds available through the Business Rates 

Pool have yet to be concluded. Melton Borough Council is one of 9 councils in the pool and 

there is potential for us to access significant additional funds, in the medium term, however 

there are multiple calls on this money and no agreement has been reached as to how it 

should be distributed.  

4.6.6. If taken together, the proposals and approach set out above is unable to address the in year 

budget deficit, then a process to review discretionary services would need to be undertaken 

during the summer/autumn to enable identification of potential services areas where 

reductions and savings could be agreed.  

 

 

4.7 Parish Precepts 

4.7.1 For information, a summary of the parish precepts received to date is set out at Appendix 

D, although it should be noted that some of the formal notifications for these are still awaited. 

These continue to be chased up and of course will need to be available in time to feed into 

the council tax calculations for the Council meeting on 23rd February 2023.  

4.8 Budget Monitoring 

Page 42



 

Cabinet Report 

General Fund Revenue Budget 2021/22 and Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2021/22 to 2024/257 

15 

 

4.8.1 For the purpose of budget monitoring, services are designated as one of three categories 

which determines the level and frequency of budget monitoring.  

These are:  

a) High risk and complex budgets. 
b) High risk budgets. 
c) Lower risk budgets. 

   

4.8.2 The categorisation of the various services has been reviewed for 2023/24 and is set out 

in Appendix E. Changes have been made to the risk profile with the removal of repairs and 

maintenance from the high risk category as these have now stabilised in recent years and 

the removal of building control with this having moved to the partnership.  Leisure income 

is also removed from the high risk category as this is not longer a profit share arrangement. 

Whilst the receipt of a management fee is a high risk to the budget the level is a fixed 

amount and therefore enhanced monthly budget monitoring is not required to identify if the 

risk is realised in year or not.  

4.9 Financial Projections for Future Years (Medium Term Financial Plan) 

4.9.1 The estimates in Appendix B contain forward projections for the financial years 2024/25 to 

2026/27 as set out below. This is based on the estimated likely position for these future 

years. The uncertainty regarding future levels of inflation, particularly with regard to wage 

inflation, is a key factor resulting in a rising deficit position. Whilst there is great uncertainty 

regarding government funding, particularly post 2024/25, this has been assumed at 

current levels in the forecast even if the category of funding may change.  

Budget Forecast 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

General Expenses     

Net Cost of Services 7,729 8,233 8,510 8,859 

Non Service Related Budgets -2,314 -2,249 -2,273 -2,174 

Business Rates Equalisation Reserve -908 0 0 0 

Net Expenditure 4,507 5,804 6,237 6,685 

     

Net Expenditure Met by:     

Non Domestic Rates -914 -914 -914 -914 

Council Tax Collection Fund Surplus(-
)/Deficit 

-12 0 0 0 

NNDR Collection fund Deficit 1,078 0 0 0 

New Homes Bonus/Fair Funding -506 -506 -506 -506 

Council Tax -3,893 -4,067 -4,250 -4,440 

Use of Reserves -119 0 0 0 

Deficit for the Year 141 317 567 825 

     

Special Expenses Melton Mowbray     

Net Cost of Services 698 695 723 752 

Non Service Related Budgets -99 -99 -99 -99 

Net Expenditure 599 596 624 653 

Net Expenditure Met by:     

Council Tax -503 -529 -556 -583 

Page 43



 

Cabinet Report 

General Fund Revenue Budget 2021/22 and Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2021/22 to 2024/257 

16 

 

Contributions to/from (-)Special Expense 
Reserve 

-96 -67 -68 -70 

Deficit for the Year  0 0 0 0 

 

4.9.2 With the ongoing uncertainty regarding inflation levels coupled with long term uncertainty 

regarding government funding it is extremely challenging to project the Council’s financial 

position into these later years. As such sensitivity analysis has been undertaken and for 

information best and worse case scenarios of the potential surplus/deficit for future years 

set out below.  

  

 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

Potential Surplus (-)/Deficit £000 £000 £000 

Best Case Scenario -295 -145 -63 

Worse Case Scenario 1,086 1,441 1,800 

 

4.9.3 The key factors influencing the sensitivity analysis and creating such a large variations 

between best and worse case scenarios are the assumptions regarding inflation, including 

increases to fees and charges. In drawing up this projection a number of other assumptions 

have been made regarding service expenditure and income following discussions with 

budget holders, and scrutiny by the Senior Leadership Team. Some of the key assumptions 

that have been made in preparing these forward projections and have influenced the large 

variations between best and worse case scenarios are as follows: 

a) That an overall increase in council tax of 2.99% will be set in future years; 
 

b) There will be significant increases in external audit fees from 2024/25 with variations in 
the assumptions made; 

 
c) That there is likely to be a reduction or removal of the current management fee paid in 

respect of leisure, due to challenges facing the sector currently and the need to procure 
a new service contract from 2024; 

 
d) Varying assumptions made regarding the future of fixed term posts currently funded 

from reserves; 
 

e) The expected position is based on the current level of service provision with 
assumptions incorporated regarding general inflation changes to prices and pay, 
pension costs and income streams and estimated changes in demand. No allowance is 
made as part of the projections for the delivery of any financial sustainability savings or 
income generation which would require a change to service levels/policy. This is to 
enable the true surplus/deficit to be identified that will require management intervention 
in order to address the position; 
 

f) Growth projections for council tax growth have been based on the housing growth 
figures provided by the local plans team; 

 
g) An allowance have been made for the transfer of the land charges service to the Land 

Registry in 2024/25; 

Page 44



 

Cabinet Report 

General Fund Revenue Budget 2021/22 and Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2021/22 to 2024/257 

17 

 

 
h)  No allowance has been made for the potential introduction of mandatory food waste 

collection with the assumption that any additional costs will be covered by a new burdens 
payment.  The Leicestershire Waste and Resources Strategy 2022-2050 caveats a 
proposal relating to food collection, noting that implementation would be subject to total 
and ongoing government funding.  

 
 

4.10 Reserves 

4.10.1 A Statement of Revenue and Capital Reserves is attached at Appendix F. The key 

reserves set out in this statement which are affected by the 2023/24 funding proposals are 

summarised below.: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Corporate 
Priorities 
Reserve 

General 
Reserve 
Special 
Expenses 

General 
fund 
Working 
Balance 

Regeneration 
and 
innovation 
Reserve 

Business 
Rates 
Equalisation 
Reserve 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Actual 
Balance 
1.4.22 

1,181 322 734 176 1,158 

Estimated 
net change 
2022/23 

-179 -100 116 123 0 

Estimated 
balance 
1.4.23 

1,002 222 850 299 1,158 

Proposed 
Movement 
in Reserves 
2023/24 

-410 -96 150 -44 908 

Estimated 
Balance 
31.3.24 

592 126 1,000 255 250 

 

4.10.2 The figures set out in the statement at Appendix F are based on the following assumptions: 

a) The capital programme and the movement in the reserves and balances is as reflected 
in the budget; 

b) The forecast overspend at 31.3.23 is met by reducing the contribution to the 
Regeneration and Innovation Reserve. The budget deficit in 2023/24 is met from the 

Page 45



 

Cabinet Report 

General Fund Revenue Budget 2021/22 and Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2021/22 to 2024/257 

18 

 

Corporate Priorities Reserve in order to maintain the working balance at its current level 
of £850k at 31.3.23 and that the level is increased to £1m in 2023/24 by a further transfer 
from the Corporate Priorities Reserve; 

c) The forecast shortfalls for Special Expenses Melton Mowbray in 2022/23 and 2023/24 
are met by transfers from the Special Expenses Reserve; 

d) Transfers are made from and to the business rates equalisation reserve in order to 
mitigate the financial implications between years of the levy payments and collection 
fund surplus/deficits. This follows the establishment of a reserve at the end of 2014/15.  

 
4.10.3 With regard to the revenue reserves the council has three main categories. These are either 

‘earmarked’; for a specific purpose, ‘general’; where the use is flexible and ‘working 

balances’; which are in effect a contingency for unforeseen but risk assessed events. A brief 

description of the purpose and future intention with regard to each reserve and provision 

held by the Council is set out in Appendix G. 

4.10.4 In relation to the non-earmarked general reserves, they are available to support a range 

of projects which may be required for the Council to deliver, as well as being available to 

support capital expenditure should that be necessary due to a low level of capital receipts 

being held. The reserves have in recent years been utilised to support non recurring 

expenditure in support of structural changes,  and to balance the budget as is proposed 

for 2023/24. The reserves had stabilised in recent years but it is clear that the financial 

challenges are now increasing, and this is putting significant pressure on these moving 

forward. The Council clearly has a structural deficit that needs to be addressed through 

the financial sustainability programme and the actions required to address this shortfall 

will have a lead time to implement and in some cases a cost of implementation which will 

continue to put pressure on the reserves and is likely to cause further reductions in their 

levels.  

4.10.5 The forecast balance on the Special Expenses Reserve Melton Mowbray as at 31.3.24 is 

£126k as shown in the above table. Due to previous decisions to limit the increases on 

this fund there is an ongoing need to continue to draw on this reserve to balance the 

budget. Based on current projections this will result in this reserve becoming exhausted in 

the future without an appropriate intervention. The need to consider longer term cemetery 

provision is now indicating a need for funding to support this in the future subject to 

member approval regarding the way forward. As such savings will be required to enable 

this fund to become balanced in the future as well as generating sufficient headroom to 

cover the revenue costs of any borrowing undertaken to fund the cemetery provision. This 

will be considered as part of the financial sustainability programme.  

4.10.6 CIPFA (the Chartered Institute of Public Sector Finance and Accountancy) have issued a 

Financial Resilience index for all councils which is available publicly. This is in response 

to concerns regarding the viability of councils. It is suggested that Chief Finance Officers 

should comment on the results as part of their statement on the adequacy of the reserves 

as part of their budget reports. COVID-19 had an impact on the index in 2020/21 and 

CIPFA stated this year should therefore be viewed in the context of this having been a 

transitional year. This therefore impacts on the ability to draw clear conclusions on 

movements between years for this period. The index continues to illustrate the financial 

resilience of authorities but figures on reserves have been affected by a series of 

coronavirus-related payments at the very end of the 2020/21 financial year. The latest 

version of the indicator has some reserve indicators missing for some authorities including 

Page 46



 

Cabinet Report 

General Fund Revenue Budget 2021/22 and Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2021/22 to 2024/257 

19 

 

Melton so once again it is difficult to draw conclusions in this area. The key messages for 

Melton for the residual indicators are as follows: 

a) Compared to other district councils, and particularly similar district councils classed as 
being our “nearest neighbours” in terms of comparability, Melton has a high level of debt 
and interest payable to net revenue expenditure. This is because the indicators include 
HRA debt. Not all councils have a HRA and therefore it is difficult to draw comparisons 
in this area, particularly given MBC has no general fund debt currently; 

b) Melton continues to be shown as being at a lower risk compared to similar authorities 
and other districts as a result of generating a high proportion of income from fees and 
charges. This is because this places less reliance on central government for funding 
with fees and charges being within the authority’s control. However, when events such 
as the pandemic occur such income can become a significant risk. Melton is also shown 
as having a higher proportion of council tax in relation to its net revenue expenditure 
which is also deemed a lower risk again due to the lower reliance on central government 
funding. However, this is similar to its nearest neighbours reflecting the position that 
such rural authorities are lower funded and therefore will have had to rely on higher 
council tax over the years to fund service provision;  

c) Melton is at a lower risk compared to similar authorities and other districts as a result of 
having lower business rates growth. The implications being that with this source of 
funding being at risk of the baseline being reset, above which a portion of growth is 
retained, Melton has comparatively less to lose than other councils. 
 

4.10.7 The need to draw on reserves to balance the 2023/24 budget due to what is a structural 
deficit will mean that future years indices will be negatively affected. The action and 
proposals to increase the working balance is a prudent one and sets a clear level for the 
minimum level of reserves in what are challenging financial circumstances.   It does  need 
to be recognised that as reserves above the minimum level deplete further, the ability to 
support the financial implications of change and transformation from reserves – e.g. costs 
arising from changes to staffing structure - will be more difficult and such costs could  have 
to be met from within the annual revenue budget. This would therefore require sufficient 
savings to be made in year or income generated to meet these costs. Should reduced 
funding from central government result in further savings and efficiencies having to be 
made then there is a high risk that reserves would need to be drawn on to support the 
associated one off costs of achieving these. Whilst not covered by the resilience index, as 
set out in the capital strategy, the Council is vulnerable due to it’s low level of capital 
receipts and the ongoing need to invest in existing assets that have needs identified 
through stock condition surveys. If assets are not identified for sale that will generate 
additional receipts that can be invested elsewhere -opportunities for which are limited - 
then the council will need to identify revenue it can use to fund such capital expenditure 
directly or to fund the costs of borrowing. The council has an asset development 
programme which is progressing and this should lead to the realisation of capital receipts 
which would be available for asset improvements or investment elsewhere for a revenue 
return. 

 

5 Options Considered 

5.1 It is a requirement to set an annual budget and consider the impact on the Council’s reserves 

and balances. The options contained within the budget have been subject to scrutiny and 

reflect the feedback given. 

 

Page 47



 

Cabinet Report 

General Fund Revenue Budget 2021/22 and Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2021/22 to 2024/257 

20 

 

6 Consultation 

6.1 Public consultation has been undertaken in relation to the proposals set out within the 

Corporate Strategy and the outcome reported as part of the approval of the strategy in 

2020. A residents survey was undertaken in 2022 and the results compared to previous 

surveys so the direction of travel could be understood.  

6.2 The State of Melton debate held on 28th September 2022 provided all members the 

opportunity to receive information from the residents survey and core service data and 

utilise these to engage in service delivery options early in the process.  

6.3 The Scrutiny Committee has considered the budget proposals and the outcome of their 

consideration is set out elsewhere on the agenda.  All members were invited to the 

Scrutiny committee. Prior to this formal meeting a Budget Scrutiny Workshop was held in 

January 2023.  

6.4 Budget holders, managers and staff have been engaged at various stages in the process 

as the budget has been developed. 

6.5 Business ratepayers have been consulted via the website. 

6.6 Should any proposals be identified as part of the development of the Financial 

Sustainability Plan, consideration will be given at the time as to whether further 

consultation is required. 

 

 

7 Next Steps – Implementation and Communication 

7.1 The recommended budget and council tax proposals will be presented to the Council 

meeting on 23rd February 2023 alongside the council tax calculations including the various 

preceptor amounts as required by the regulations set out in the Local Government Finance 

Act 1992. Following their approval the budget book and council tax invoices will be 

finalised and raised. The budgets set will be monitored and reported on as appropriate 

during 2023/24 

 

8 Financial Implications 

8.1 Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 imposes a duty on the Chief Finance Officer 

to report formally to council on the following: 

a) The robustness of the estimates utilised to set the Council Tax; 

b) The adequacy of the proposed financial reserves. 

8.2 With regard to the robustness of the estimates, by their very nature estimates are not 

factual they are the best estimate of the likely position taking into account the various risks 

associated with items of income and expenditure. One of the key areas of risk with regard 

to the robustness of the estimates relates to the assumptions made regarding income 

levels and inflationary impacts particularly the level of any national pay award and the 

management fee/payment associated with the future leisure contract.  Further 

assumptions have had to be made in bringing together the estimates for 2023/24 and 

these are set out elsewhere in the report along with the key risks set out in Section 14 

Page 48



 

Cabinet Report 

General Fund Revenue Budget 2021/22 and Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2021/22 to 2024/257 

21 

 

alongside some elements that were not finalised at the time the budget was produced for 

this report. Of particular concern is the structural deficit within the general expenses budget 

and that this is being met from the reserves. Whilst there is uncertainty associated with 

the future funding of local government and there could be a view that a cautious approach 

to service reductions should be taken, unfortunately the low level of the Council’s reserves 

does not give this flexibility without substantial risk. As such the financial sustainability 

programme needs to be developed and implemented as a priority.  Subject to these 

concerns the S151 Officer has confirmed that she is satisfied with the robustness of the 

2023/24 base budget. 

8.3 With regard to the adequacy of the reserves the council does review the level of general 

fund working balances required based on an assessment of risk, which is the minimum 

required, on an annual basis. As highlighted earlier as a result of the LGA financial 

resilience review this minimum level is proposed to be increased. As a result of the current 

extreme financial pressures on the budget it is vital that there are sufficient minimum level 

of reserves to cushion the council against unexpected events. A statement of the reserves 

is attached at Appendix F. Low levels of reserves inhibit the Council’s ability to either invest 

to save or to balance the revenue budget until savings are identified or to fund any one off 

costs of delivering against savings plans. In such an event such limited reserves would 

quickly be depleted. The council’s low level of capital receipts are also a concern which 

represents a risk in funding any future repairs required to maintain the Council’s assets . 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Director for Corporate Services 

 

 

9 Legal and Governance Implications 

9.1 Under section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 a local authority has to make proper 

arrangements for the administration of its financial affairs. 

9.2 The Chief Finance Officer has a personal duty under the Local Government Finance Act 

1988 (section 114A) to make a report to the executive if it appears to them that the 

expenditure of the authority incurred (including expenditure it proposes to incur) in a 

financial year is likely to exceed the resources available to it to meet that expenditure. 

9.3 Under section 28 of the Local Government Act 2003 a local authority has to review its budget 

calculations from time to time during the financial year and take appropriate action if there 

is any deterioration in it’s budget. 

9.4 The Council is required under statute to fix the level of council tax for 2023/24 by 11 March 

2023 and in order to do so will have to agree a balanced budget by the same date taking 

into account a range of factors, including consultation feedback, and decisions must also 

be taken in accordance with the Council’s duties under the Equality Act 2010. 

9.5 The budget approval process is separate from individual decisions which would be 

incidental to the budget setting process. Legal implications will continue to be considered 

in implementing budget proposals. 

9.6 Compliance with the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management in the Public 

Services and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities issued 

Page 49



 

Cabinet Report 

General Fund Revenue Budget 2021/22 and Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2021/22 to 2024/257 

22 

 

under the Local Government Act 2003 provides assurance that the council’s investments 

are, and will continue to be, within its legal powers. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Deputy Monitoring Officer 15.01.23 

 

10 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 

10.1 When considering the MTFS, and any savings and investment proposals, the Council must 

have due regard to the public sector equality duty (PSED) contained within section 149 of 

the Equality Act 2010 which requires the Council to have due regard in it’s decision-making 

processes to the need to: eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation or other 

prohibited conduct, the need to advance equality of opportunity and the need to foster 

good relations between persons who share a protected characteristic and those who don’t. 

Should it be considered that elements of the budget proposals may have equalities issues 

then these have been considered by the service area and assessed accordingly.  

11 Community Safety Implications 

11.1 Individual budgets will have links to community safety issues as a core service area of the 

Council.   

 

12 Environmental and Climate Change Implications 

12.1 Individual budgets will have links to environmental and climate change across the council 

and will be incorporated into the budgets being proposed.   

 

13 Other Implications (where significant) 

13.1 There are no other implications to those set out elsewhere within the report. 

 

14 Risk & Mitigation 

Risk 
No 

Risk Description Likelihood Impact Risk 

1 Failure to secure financial stability in 
the medium term. (This is a corporate 
level risk and is the overall risk arising 
from a number of high level risks 
associated with financial sustainability 
including the lack of certainty regarding 
the future level of government funding 
for local authorities and additional 
responsibilities not covered by new 
burdens funding). 

Very High Catastrophic High Risk 

2 Assumptions around demand and 
usage resulting in fees and charges and 

High Critical High Risk  

Page 50



 

Cabinet Report 

General Fund Revenue Budget 2021/22 and Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2021/22 to 2024/257 

23 

 

other income including the leisure 
management fee not being achieved. 

3 Grant incomes for supporting service 
delivery are withdrawn or reduced over 
that budgeted for; funding is provided 
in areas such as benefits 
administration, sports commissioning 
homelessness.  

Low Marginal Low Risk 

4 Assumptions made for retained 
business rates aren’t achieved 
resulting in reduced income over that 
estimated. This could be the result of 
less growth, changes in reliefs and 
discounts over that estimated, closure 
of businesses, successful and 
backdated appeals being higher than 
estimated, changes to baseline 
assumptions, impact of revaluation. 

High Critical High Risk 

5 Projections for Housing growth used to 
calculate council tax are inaccurate. 

Low Marginal Low Risk 

6 Any bi-elections are not budgeted for 
resulting in an overspend or savings 
having to be made elsewhere to cover 

Significant Marginal 
Medium 

Risk 

7 Unexpected costs arise in areas such 
as enforcement, planning appeals with 
the associated legal costs. 

Significant Marginal 
Medium 

Risk 

8 Homelessness costs are unable to be 
contained within budget as a result of 
rising need. 

Significant Marginal High Risk 

9 As a result of the focus on sundry debt 
recover there is an increase in bad 
debts that need to be written off and 
provisions need to be increased as a 
result. 

High Critical High Risk 

10 Inflation provided for is insufficient for 
contractual and pay increases 
particularly in light of the impact on the 
national living wage, contractual 
commitments and energy prices. 

High 

 
Critical High Risk 

11 Income assumptions in relation to 
property rentals and service charges is 
not achieved 

Significant Marginal 
Medium 

Risk 

12 The long term use of the children’s 

centres could impact on the current 

allocation of costs between general 

and special expenses impacting on the 

net position of either fund at a level 

Significant Marginal 
Medium 

Risk 

Page 51



 

Cabinet Report 

General Fund Revenue Budget 2021/22 and Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2021/22 to 2024/257 

24 

 

which is difficult to support without 

identifying savings elsewhere. 

13 Depletion of the Council’s capital 

resources increases the need to 

borrow for any capital spend which will 

impact on the revenue budget with any 

borrowing costs needing to be met and 

this increases pressure on revenue 

spend elsewhere. 

High Critical High Risk 

14 The costs of the new Elections Act are 

higher than budgeted. Low Marginal Low Risk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  Impact / Consequences 

  Negligible Marginal Critical Catastrophic 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Score/ definition 1 2 3 4 

6 Very High 
   1 

5 High 

  
2,4, 
9,10, 

13 
 

4 Significant 

 
6,8, 

7,11,12 
  

3 Low 
 3,5,14   

Page 52



 

Cabinet Report 

General Fund Revenue Budget 2021/22 and Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2021/22 to 2024/257 

25 

 

2 Very Low 
    

1 Almost 
impossible     

 

Risk No Mitigation 

1 As a corporate risk this is being managed with a full action 
plan in place.  

Mitigation includes priorities agreed through corporate 
strategy, Regular liaison and consultation with the unions, 
the workforce strategy, maximising partnership working to 
deliver better outcomes at reduced local cost, regular 
review of MTFS, well informed public and members around 
priorities, cost of services and resources available.   
Regularly review risk associated with partnership projects 
and funding, risk assessed working balance which takes 
into account potential fluctuations of income and 
expenditure levels against budget and an increase to the 
minimum balance,  MTFS is subject to sensitivity analysis, 
ongoing review of any changes in government funding, 
ongoing consideration to be given to public consultation to 
ensure the proposals are understood within  the context of 
the financial position, regular liaison and lobbying of 
government and other groups to recognise the need for fair 
funding and business as usual costs through fair funding 
review. The key mitigation is the development of a robust 
and achievable financial sustainability plan that is regularly 
reviewed and delivered as a priority. 

2,3,4,5,6,7,8,9,10,11,14 Robust budget monitoring processes in place which are 
risk assessed to enable potential overspends to be 
highlighted at an early stage so corrective action can be 
taken to curtail expenditure elsewhere to offset such losses 
and shortfalls. The council does hold unearmarked 
reserves and some specific reserves that could be used for 
some areas of pressure, albeit these are reducing and are 
extremely limited, and should be taken in the context of the 
future significant cuts that are set to continue and the 
recent draw on these.  

12 Ensure the business case for Phoenix House and 
subsequent use of the Childrens’ Centres as an alternative 
venue for those displaced considers the ongoing revenue 
implications on both the general and special expenses. 

13 Prioritise identification of assets for sale in order to realise 
capital receipts to use to fund capital spend elsewhere. 

 

 

15 Background Papers 

Page 53



 

Cabinet Report 

General Fund Revenue Budget 2021/22 and Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2021/22 to 2024/257 

26 

 

15.1 There are no background papers. 

 

16 Appendices 

Appendix A – State of Melton Report 

Appendix B – Summary of Committee Estimates 

Appendix C – Special Expenses Policy 

Appendix D – Parish Council Precepts 

Appendix E – Risk Assessment of Budgets 

Appendices F and G – Statement of Revenue and Capital Reserves and 

Purpose and Future Intentions of Reserves 

 

Report Author: Dawn Garton, Director for Corporate Services 

Report Author Contact Details: 01664 502444 

DGarton@melton.gov.uk 

Chief Officer Responsible: Dawn Garton, Director for Corporate Services 

Chief Officer Contact Details: 01664 502444 

DGarton@melton.gov.uk 

 

Page 54



              SUMMARY OF COMMITTEE ESTIMATES & MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN

2021-22 2022-23 2022-23 2023-24 Variation    <--Band D Equivalent--> 2024-25 2024-25 2024-25 Band D 2025-26 2025-26 2025-26 Band D 2026-27 2026-27 2026-27

Actual Original
Approved/La

test Original 2022-23 2022-23 2023-24 Variation
Prudent 

Case
Expected 
Case

Optimistic 
Case

Equivale
nt Variation Prudent Case

Expected 
Case

Optimistic 
Case

Equivale
nt Variation

Prudent 
Case

Expected 
Case

Optimistic 
Case

Estimate Estimate Estimate Original Original Original

£ £ £ £          % £ £ % £ £ £ £ % £ £ £ £ % £ £ £
General Expenses

2,177,131 1 People 2,161,020 2,314,245 2,439,310 12.9 111.63 123.83 10.9 2,807,310 2,643,310 2,478,310 130.92 5.7 2,887,310 2,703,310 2,518,310 130.62 -0.2 2,989,310 2,785,310 2,559,310

2,324,734 2 Place 4,865,500 5,223,829 5,260,580 8.1 251.34 267.06 6.3 5,595,580 5,376,580 5,236,580 266.29 -0.3 5,778,580 5,512,580 5,325,580 266.36 0.0 5,973,580 5,669,580 5,416,580

438,570 3 Great Council 727,680 946,883 9,390 -98.7 37.59 0.48 -98.7 340,390 193,390 32,390 9.58 1909.3 448,390 274,390 86,390 13.26 38.4 585,390 384,390 141,390

Growth Items 20,000 0.0 0.00 1.02 0.0 20,000 20,000 20,000 0.99 -2.4 20,000 20,000 20,000 0.97 -2.4 20,000 20,000 20,000

0 4 Pay Award 0 212,000 0 0.0 0.00 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0

4,940,434 8 Net Cost of Services 7,754,200 8,696,957 7,729,280 -0.3 400.56 392.38 -2.0 8,763,280 8,233,280 7,767,280 407.77 3.9 9,134,280 8,510,280 7,950,280 411.21 0.8 9,568,280 8,859,280 8,137,280

1,200,938 9 Reversal of Notional Parkside Rental - LCC 0 0 0 0.0 0.00 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0

-144,737 10 Interest & Investment Income -145,000 -285,000 -342,630 136.3 -7.49 -17.39 132.2 -417,600 -464,000 -510,400 -22.98 32.1 -276,660 -307,400 -338,140 -14.85 -35.4 -198,360 -220,400 -242,440

0 11 Contributions to Funds 30,000 30,000 0 -100.0 1.55 0.00 -100.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0

-2,124,606 12 Contributions from Funds -532,270 -377,000 -1,004,715 88.8 -27.50 -51.00 85.5 0 0 0 0.00 -100.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0

18,000 13 Financing of Capital Expenditure 270,000 377,000 97,000 -64.1 13.95 4.92 -64.7 0 0 0 0.00 -100.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0

Provision for Repayment of   
11,576 14 External Debt 11,440 11,440 11,300 -1.2 0.59 0.57 -2.9 16,160 16,160 16,160 0.80 39.5 16,030 16,030 16,030 0.77 -3.2 15,900 15,900 15,900

-1,359,785 15 Depreciation Reversal -1,482,470 -1,482,470 -1,579,250 6.5 -76.58 -80.17 4.7 -1,579,250 -1,579,250 -1,579,250 -78.22 -2.4 -1,579,250 -1,579,250 -1,579,250 -76.31 -2.4 -1,579,250 -1,579,250 -1,579,250

-966 16 Interest Payable -1,240 -1,240 3,760 -403.2 -0.06 0.19 -398.0 4,760 4,760 4,760 0.24 23.5 4,760 4,760 4,760 0.23 -2.4 16,760 16,760 16,760
-282,028 17 Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital 

under Statute
-1,149,000 -1,149,000 -407,000 -64.6 -59.35 -20.66 -65.2 -407,000 -407,000 -407,000 -20.16 -2.4 -407,000 -407,000 -407,000 -19.67 -2.4 -407,000 -407,000 -407,000

0 18 Impairments Reversal 0 0 0 0.0 0.00 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0

-147,086 19 Asset Revaluation 0 0 0 0.0 0.00 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0

0 18 Corporate Priorities Reserve - Capital 0 0 0 0.0 0.00 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0

2,111,740 19 Net Expenditure 4,755,660 5,820,687 4,507,745 -5.2 245.66 228.84 -6.8 6,380,350 5,803,950 5,291,550 262.08 14.5 6,892,160 6,237,420 5,646,680 301.39 15.0 7,416,330 6,685,290 5,941,250

Met by:  

-877,952 20 Non-Domestic Rates -1,107,410 -1,610,620 -913,887 -17.5 -57.21 -46.39 -18.9 -895,609 -913,887 -932,165 -45.26 -2.4 -877,697 -914,253 -950,808 -44.18 -2.4 -860,143 -914,984 -969,824

2,603,940 21 NNDR Collection Fund Surplus(-)/Deficit 262,270 262,270 1,077,715 310.9 13.55 54.71 303.8 0 0 0 0.00 -100.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0

42,040 22 Council Tax Collection Fund Surplus(-)/Deficit -27,135 -27,135 -12,147 -55.2 -1.40 -0.62 -56.0 0 0 0 0.00 -100.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0

-279,594 23 New Homes Bonus -521,340 -521,340 -505,929 -3.0 -26.93 -25.68 -4.6 -505,929 -505,929 -505,929 -25.06 -2.4 0 0 0 0.00 -100.0 0 0 0

0 24 Fair Funding Review 0 0 0 0.0 0.00 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 -505,929 -505,929 -505,929 -24.45 0.0 -505,929 -505,929 -505,929

-3,567,100 25 Council Tax -3,720,697 -3,720,697 -3,893,093 4.6 -192.20 -197.64 2.83 -3,893,093 -4,067,231 -4,148,576 -203.38 2.91 -4,067,231 -4,250,060 -4,335,061 -209.38 2.95 -4,250,060 -4,439,631 -4,528,423

263,047 26 Corporate Priorities Reserve -25,000 -178,290 -410,404 1541.6 -1.29 -20.83 1513.3 0 0 0 0.00 -100.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0

-390,130 27 Carry Forward Reserve 0 -263,050 0 0.0 0.00 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0

0 28 Regeneration and Innovation Reserve 383,652 122,185 0 -100.0 19.82 0.00 -100.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0

-94,010 29 Surplus(-)/Deficit for Year 0 -115,990 -150,000 0.0 0.00 -7.61 0.0 1,085,719 316,903 -295,120 -12 -287 1,441,303 567,179 -145,118 23 -84 1,800,198 824,746 -62,927

-640,000 30 Balance B/fwd 1st April -870,210 -734,010 -850,000 -2.3 -44.95 -43.15 -4.0 -1,000,000 -1,000,000 -1,000,000 -49.53 14.8 85,718 -683,098 -1,295,120 -33.01 -33.4 1,527,021 -115,919 -1,440,238
-£734,010 31 Balance C/fwd 31st March -£870,210 -£850,000 -£1,000,000 14.9 -44.95 -50.77 12.9 £85,718 -£683,098 -£1,295,120 -33.83 -33.4 £1,527,021 -£115,919 -£1,440,238 -5.60 -83.4 £3,327,219 £708,828 -£1,503,164

Special Expenses Melton Mowbray
608,128 32 Place (formally Town Area Committee) 619,510 681,310 668,430 7.9 68.11 71.86 5.5 695,167 695,167 695,167 34.43 -52.1 722,974 722,974 722,974 34.93 1.5 751,893 751,893 751,893

Growth 30,000
608,128 33 619,510 681,310  698,430 12.7 68.11 75.08 10.2 695,167 695,167 695,167 34.43 -54.1 722,974 722,974 722,974 34.93 1.5 751,893 751,893 751,893

-2,004 34 Interest & Investment Income -320 -320 -2,000 525.0 -0.04 -0.22 511.2 -2,000 -2,000 -2,000 -0.10 -53.9 -2,000 -2,000 -2,000 -0.10 -2.4 -2,000 -2,000 -2,000
0 35 Contributions from Funds 0 0 0 0.0 0.00 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0
0 36 Financing of Capital Expenditure 0 0 0 0.0 0.00 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0

 Provision for Repayment of  
0 37 External Debt 0 0 0 0.0 0.00 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0

-82,310 38 Depreciation Reversal -85,910 -85,910 -96,700 0.0 -9.44 -10.40 10.1 -96,700 -96,700 -96,700 -4.79 -53.9 -96,700 -96,700 -96,700 -4.67 -2.4 -96,700 -96,700 -96,700
0 39 Interest Payable 0 0 0 -100.0 0.00 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0
0 40 Impairments Reversal 0 0 0 0.0 0.00 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0

7,895 41 Asset Revaluation 0 0 0 0.0 0.00 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0
0 42 Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital 

under Statute
0 0 0 0.0 0.00 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0

531,709 43 Net Expenditure 533,280 595,080 599,730 12.5 58.63 64.47 10.0 596,467 596,467 596,467 29.54 -54.2 624,274 624,274 624,274 30.16 2.1 653,193 653,193 653,193
Met by:  

-474,050 44 Council Tax -478,150 -478,150 -503,597 5.3 -52.57 -54.14 2.99 -529,003 -529,003 -529,003 -55.75 2.99 -555,698 -555,698 -555,698 -57.42 2.99 -583,743 -583,743 -583,743
-17,000 45 Carry Forward Reserve -17,000 0.0 0.00 0.00 0.00 0 0 0 0.00 0.00 0 0 0 0.00 0.00 0 0 0
-40,659 46 Special Expense Reserve -55,130 -99,930 -96,133 74.4 -6.06 -10.33 70.5 -67,464 -67,464 -67,464 -68,576 -68,576 -68,576 -69,450 -69,450 -69,450

0 47 Surplus(-)/Deficit for Year 0 0 0 0.0 0.00 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 -154.6 0 0 0
-50,000 48 Balance B/fwd 1st April -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 0.0 -5.50 -5.38 -2.2 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -2.48 -53.9 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -2.42 -2.4 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000

-£50,000 49 Balance C/fwd 31st March -£50,000 -£50,000 -£50,000 0.0 -5.50 -5.38 -2.2 -£50,000 -£50,000 -£50,000 -2.48 -53.9 -£50,000 -£50,000 -£50,000 -2.42 -2.4 -£50,000 -£50,000 -£50,000

Special Expenses Sproxton No 2 & 4
5,830 50 Closed Churchyards 5,940 5,940 6,500 9.4 71.98 78.36 8.9 6,500 6,500 6,500 0.32 -99.6 6,500 6,500 6,500 0.31 -2.4 6,500 6,500 6,500

-7 51 Interest on Balances 0 0 0 0.0 0.00 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0
0 52 RSG - Council Tax Support Grant 0 0 0 0.0 0.00 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0

-5,016 53 Council Tax -4,950 -4,950 -6,493 31.2 -59.99 -78.28 30.49 -6,500 -6,500 -6,500 -76.82 -1.86 -6,500 -6,500 -6,500 -75.32 -1.96 -6,500 -6,500 -6,500
807 54 Surplus(-)/Deficit for Year 990 990 7 -99.3 12.00 0.08 -99.3 0 0 0 0.00 -100.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0

-1,804 55 Balance B/fwd 1st April -990 -997 -7 -99.3 -12.00 -0.08 -99.3 0 0 0 0.00 -100.0 0 0 0 0.00 -2.4 0 0 0

-£997 56 Balance C/fwd 31st March £0 -£7 £0 0.0 0.00 0.01 0.0 £0 £0 £0 0.00 -99.6 £0 £0 £0 0.00 -2.4 £0 £0 £0

Special Expenses Frisby

P
age 55



              SUMMARY OF COMMITTEE ESTIMATES & MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN

2021-22 2022-23 2022-23 2023-24 Variation    <--Band D Equivalent--> 2024-25 2024-25 2024-25 Band D 2025-26 2025-26 2025-26 Band D 2026-27 2026-27 2026-27

Actual Original
Approved/La

test Original 2022-23 2022-23 2023-24 Variation
Prudent 

Case
Expected 
Case

Optimistic 
Case

Equivale
nt Variation Prudent Case

Expected 
Case

Optimistic 
Case

Equivale
nt Variation

Prudent 
Case

Expected 
Case

Optimistic 
Case

Estimate Estimate Estimate Original Original Original

£ £ £ £          % £ £ % £ £ £ £ % £ £ £ £ % £ £ £
7,655 57 Closed Churchyard 6,310 6,310 6,910 9.5 19.57 21.65 10.6 6,910 6,910 6,910 0.34 -98.4 6,910 6,910 6,910 0.33 -2.4 6,910 6,910 6,910

-7 58 Interest on Balances 0 0 0 0.0 0.00 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0
0 59 RSG - Council Tax Support Grant 0 0 0 0.0 0.00 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0

-4,779 60 Council Tax -5,677 -5,677 -7,398 30.3 -17.61 -23.18 31.63 -6,910 -6,910 -6,910 -21.23 -8.43 -6,910 -6,910 -6,910 -20.81 -1.96 -6,910 -6,910 -6,910
2,869 61 Surplus(-)/Deficit for Year 633 633 -488 -177.1 1.96 -1.53 -177.9 0 0 0 0.00 -100.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0

-3,014 62 Balance B/fwd 1st April -633 -145 488 -177.0 -1.96 1.53 -177.8 0 0 0 0.00 -100.0 0 0 0 0.00 -2.4 0 0 0
-£145 63 Balance C/fwd 31st March £0 £488 -£0 0.0 0.00 0.00 0.0 -£0 -£0 -£0 0.00 -98.4 -£0 -£0 -£0 0.00 -2.4 -£0 -£0 -£0

Special Expenses Gaddesby 
5,970 64 Closed Churchyard 8,080 8,080 6,660 -17.6 41.30 33.30 -19.4 6,660 6,660 6,660 0.33 -99.0 6,660 6,660 6,660 0.32 -2.4 6,660 6,660 6,660

-25 65 Interest on Balances 0 0 0 0.0 0.00 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0
0 66 RSG - Council Tax Support Grant 0 0 0 0.0 0.00 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0

-7,970 67 Council Tax -3,674 -3,674 -4,635 26.2 -18.78 -23.17 23.39 -6,660 -6,660 -6,660 -32.64 40.87 -6,660 -6,660 -6,660 -32.00 -1.96 -6,660 -6,660 -6,660
-2,025 68 Surplus(-)/Deficit for Year 4,406 4,406 2,025 -54.0 22.52 10.12 -55.0 0 0 0 0.00 -100.0 0 0 0 0.00 0.0 0 0 0
-4,406 69 Balance B/fwd 1st April -4,406 -6,431 -2,025 -54.0 -22.52 -10.12 -55.0 0 0 0 0.00 -100.0 0 0 0 0.00 -2.4 0 0 0

-£6,431 70 Balance C/fwd 31st March £0 -£2,025 -£0 0.0 0.00 0.00 0.0 -£0 -£0 -£0 0.00 -99.0 -£0 -£0 -£0 0.00 -2.4 -£0 -£0 -£0

Summary Information/Key Data

£4,769,471 71
Net Expenditure(Excl. Gen Res Working 
Balance Transfers) £5,571,540 £6,436,097 £6,035,260 8.32 287.81 306.38 6.5 £6,996,887 £6,420,487 £5,908,087 317.99 3.8 £7,536,504 £6,881,764 £6,291,024 339.03 6.6 £8,089,593 £7,358,553 £6,614,513

-£4,058,915 72 Council Tax Requirement (Excl. Parishes) -£4,213,148 -£4,213,148 -£4,415,216 4.8 -217.64 -224.14 2.99 -£4,421,036 -£4,595,174 -£4,676,519 -227.59 1.5 -£4,621,869 -£4,804,698 -£4,889,699 -236.70 4.0 -£4,832,743 -£5,022,314 -£5,111,106

£19,935 73 Land Drainage Levies £21,130 £21,130 £21,130 0.0 1.09 1.07 -1.73 £21,130 £21,130 £21,130 1.05 -2.4 £21,130 £21,130 £21,130 1.02 -2.4 £21,130 £21,130 £21,130

-£4,058,915 74 Council Tax Requirement for Referendum -£4,213,148 -£4,213,148 -£4,415,216 4.8 -217.64 -224.14 2.99 -£4,442,166 -£4,616,304 -£4,697,649 -230.83 2.99 -£4,642,999 -£4,825,828 -£4,910,829 -237.74 2.99 -£4,853,873 -£5,043,444 -£5,132,236

-£679,191 75 Parish Precepts £714,841 £714,841 £714,841 0.0 69.66 68.76 -1.3 £714,841 £714,841 £714,841 35.40 -48.5 £714,841 £714,841 £714,841 35.22 -0.5 £714,841 £714,841 £714,841

-£491,815 76 Special Expenses (Ctax element) -£492,451 -£492,451 -£522,123 6.0 -25.44 -26.51 4.2 -£549,073 -£549,073 -£549,073 -27.19 2.6 -£575,768 -£575,768 -£575,768 -28.37 4.3 -£603,813 -£603,813 -£603,813

-£187,376 77 Special Expenses and Parishes (67+68) £1,207,292 £1,207,292 £1,236,964 2.5 63.42 63.83 0.6 £1,263,914 £1,263,914 £1,263,914 62.60 -1.9 1,290,609£     £1,290,609 £1,290,609 63.58 1.6 £1,318,654 £1,318,654 £1,318,654

-£3,399,659 78 Council Tax Requirement ( Inc Parishes) -£4,949,119 -£4,927,989 -£5,151,187 4.1 -£255.66 -261.50 2.3 -£5,135,877 -£5,331,145 -£5,391,360 -266.58 1.9 -£5,336,710 -£5,540,669 -£5,604,540 -272.96 2.4 -£5,547,584 -£5,758,285 -£5,825,947

-£191,000 78 Rural Services Delivery Grant -£190,683 -£190,683 -£190,683 0.0 -9.85 -9.68 -1.7 -£190,683 -£190,683 -£190,683 -9.53 -1.5 -£190,683 -£190,683 -£190,683 -9.39 -1.5 -£190,683 -£190,683 -£190,683

-£55,556 79 Lower tier services grant -£60,735 -£60,735 £0 -100.0 -3.14 0.00 -100.0 £0 £0 £0 0.00 0.0 £0 £0 £0 0.00 0.0 £0 £0 £0

£0 80 Special Services grant -£91,523 -£91,523 -£51,572 0.0 -4.73 -2.62 0.0 -£51,572 -£51,572 -£51,572 -2.58 -1.5 -£51,572 -£51,572 -£51,572 -2.54 -1.5 -£51,572 -£51,572 -£51,572

£0 81 Funding Guarantee £0 £0 -£108,687 0.00 -5.52 -£108,687 -£108,687 -£108,687 -£108,687 -£108,687 -£108,687 -£108,687 -£108,687 -£108,687

-£1,972,022 82 Business Rates -£2,491,600 -£3,052,550 -£2,717,327 9.1 -128.71 -137.95 7.2 -£2,771,674 -138.59 0.5 -£2,827,107 -139.28 0.5 -£2,883,649

£1,327,631 83 Settlement Funding Assessment £1,327,842 £1,327,842 £1,377,313 3.7 68.59 69.92 1.9 £1,377,313 68.87 -1.5 £1,377,313 67.85 -1.5 £1,377,313

19,088.38 84 Tax Base - Whole Area 19,358.38 19,358.38 19,698.38 1.8 1.00 1.00 0.0 19,698.38 19,998.38 20,190.84 1.00 0.0 19,698.38 20,298.38 20,695.61 1.00 0.0 19,698.38 20,598.38 21,213.00

9,018.11 85 Tax Base - Melton Mowbray Special 9,096.29 9,096.29 9,302.01 2.3 0.47 0.47 0.5 9,302.01 9,488.05 9,534.56 0.47 0.5 9,302.01 9,677.81 9,772.92 0.48 0.5 9,302.01 9,871.37 10,017.25

82.24 86 Tax Base - Sproxton Special 82.52 82.52 82.95 0.5 0.00 0.00 -1.2 82.95 84.61 85.02 0.00 0.5 82.95 86.30 87.15 0.00 0.5 82.95 88.03 89.33

305.62 87 Tax Base - Frisby Special 322.37 322.37 319.14 -1.0 0.02 0.02 -2.7 319.14 325.52 327.12 0.02 0.5 319.14 332.03 335.30 0.02 0.5 319.14 338.67 343.68

195.00 88 Tax Base - Gaddesby Special 195.65 195.65 200.03 2.2 0.01 0.01 0.5 200.03 204.03 205.03 0.01 0.5 200.03 208.11 210.16 0.01 0.5 200.03 212.27 215.41

2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27
Council Tax Base 19,358 19,698 19,998 20,298 20,598
Council Tax per Band D - General Exp 192.20 197.64 203.38 209.38 215.53
Council Tax per Band D - Gen / SEAs 217.64 224.14 230.83 237.74 244.85

Year on Year average Increase in Council Tax
         (i) Amount £5.00 £6.50 £6.69 £6.91 £7.10
         (ii) Percentage 2.47% 2.99% 2.99% 2.99% 2.99%

P
age 56



 
Page 1 of 7 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Special Expenses Policy 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

Author: Director for Corporate Services 

Owner: Director for Corporate Services 

Version No: 1.1 

Date: 26.10.22 

 

 

 

Page 57

Appendix C



 
Page 2 of 7 

Approvals 
 

Designation Title Date of 

Approval 

Version 

SLT SLT 25.10.22 1.0 

Council   1.0 

 

Distribution: 

Title Date of Issue Version 

SLT   

T3   

MIKE   

 

 

 

  

Page 58



 
Page 3 of 7 

Contents: 
 

Paragraph Heading Page 

1.0 Introduction 4 

2.0 Legislation 4 

3.0 Special Expenses Items 5 

4.0 Calculation of Special Expenses 6 

5.0 Review 7 

  

Page 59



 
Page 4 of 7 

 

1. Introduction  
 

1.1 Special expenses are applied when Melton Borough Council (MBC) provides a 

service in a parish (or unparished area) which is provided in other parishes by a town or 

parish council.  

 1.2 The cost of this service has to be met by the council taxpayers of the town or parish 

where (MBC) is providing the service so a special expense is charged to the council tax 

payers of that parish. This avoids double taxation. 

1.3 It should be noted that special expenses are not additional spending over and above 

the budget set by the Council but a classification within the overall budget. The 

Authority’s budget includes Special Expenses, and some Council Tax calculations are 

based on the total including Special Expenses.  

1.4 The district consists of 26 parished areas, and one unparished area being Melton 

Mowbray. Parish councils exercise certain functions in their respective areas, which the 

Borough Council must exercise directly in the unparished area. These are known as 

concurrent functions.  

2. Legislation  
 

2.1 Section 35 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (the Act) specifies the items 
which are to be treated as special items for the purposes of calculating the Council Tax.  
Section 35(2)(d) specifically defines a special expense as “any expenses incurred by a 

billing authority in performing in a part of its area a function performed elsewhere in its 

area by a parish council are the authority’s special expenses unless a resolution of the 

authority to the contrary effect is in force.” Essentially, there are three areas within the 

provisions of Section 35 of the Act that it is considered apply to the Council: 

 i. A precept relating to part only of the Council’s area e.g. parish precepts; 

 ii. The whole of the expenses (or only some) of those incurred by the Council in 

performing in a part of its area a function performed elsewhere in its area by a 

Parish Council are its special expenses; 

 iii. Any net expenses which arise out of the Council’s possession of property 

held in trust for a part of its area are Special Expenses.  

2.2 The first two items above can only be treated as a special expense if the Council 

has made resolutions to that effect.  

Page 60



 
Page 5 of 7 

2.3 In practical terms this is done by the Council at the time of setting the Council Tax in 

February each year as the report presented to the Council is in the form of a resolution 

which sets out the calculations required under Chapter III of the Act.  

3. Special Expense Items  
 

3.1 The Council levies Special Expenses in respect of the following services:  

i. All Cemetery provision including closed churchyards 

ii. Open spaces with the exception of destination parks 

iii Town Area Community Centres 

iii. War Memorial 

iv Skate Park Facilities 

v Allotments 

vi Infrastructure/ public realm outside of the town centre and destination parks such as 

litter bins, benches, bus shelters 

3.2 The whole of the net expense (inclusive of any income) is to be included in the 

definition of the special expense. These include direct and indirect costs (including 

recharges).   

3.3 Those debt charges will be included for all projects which fall within a special 

expenses only to the extent that it would be for prudential borrowing. Capital receipts 

resulting form the sale of special expense assets will be held for special expense 

purposes unless Council determines otherwise.  

3.4 The Council provides a series of services from specific localities for all the residents 
of the Borough (for example Leisure Centres, Country Park). These are not locality 
specific and are excluded from the definition of a special expense 
 
3.5 This results in the following special expense areas: 

 i Melton Mowbray Town Area 

 ii Sproxton No 2 (Stonesby and Sproxton No 4 (Saltby) Closed Churchyards 

 iii Frisby closed Churchyard 

 iv Gaddesby (29) closed Churchyard 

 

 

Page 61



 
Page 6 of 7 

 4. Calculation of Special Expenses  
 

4.1 MBC will calculate an average council tax across the whole of its area under section 

31B of the Local Government Finance Act 1992. Included in that will be the amounts 

payable to parish councils under their precepts, plus the amounts MBC will spend on 

performing functions which are performed in parts of its area by parish councils.  

4.2 Under section 34 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, MBC must then 

deduct the total of any special items. For each part of its area, MBC must then add back 

amounts for any relevant special items for that part of its area. The amount added back 

is calculated by dividing the special item (i.e. the authority's estimated cost of 

performing the function in that part of its area) by the tax base for the part of the area in 

which the authority performs the function.  

4.3 Treating expenses as special expenses does not affect the overall amount that MBC 

needs to raise through council tax, and does not, therefore, affect the average amount 

of council tax across the whole of the district. It simply means that, compared with what 

would happen if the expenses were not treated by MBC as special expenses, the 

council tax charged by the Borough Council is:  

• lower for areas where the parish council performs the concurrent function, as that 

aspect of the service is charged separately by the Parish Council; and  

• higher for areas where MBC performs the concurrent function, as all MBC’s costs of 

performing the concurrent function must be met by taxpayers in the area where MBC 

provides the service.  

4.4 Special Expenses are estimated for the year approaching (in line with all other 

budget estimates). A working balance and reserves are maintained for Special 

Expenses Melton Mowbray only and not for rural special expenses. As such budgets for 

the rural special expenses include previous years under or overspends.  

4.5 If work is undertaken through the Authority’s capital programme, any effect from 

depreciation and funding does not have any effect in the revenue budget until the 

following year where an estimate is included where the capital expenditure is known, 

otherwise there is a delay and it falls into the year after. If the item falls within the 

special expenses policy then the special expenses budget for future years is amended 

to include the relevant costs.  

4.6 Budget monitoring will be undertaken on special expenses in line in line with 

corporate budget monitoring procedures and any under/overspends cannot be offset by 

other funds and must be contained within the special expense area to which they relate. 

As part of the budget setting and year end reports specific approval will be sought from 

Members regarding the treatment of any under/overspend on Special Expenses Melton 

Mowbray where both a working balance and a reserve are maintained. 

Page 62



 
Page 7 of 7 

 

 

5. Review  
 

5.1 The list of concurrent functions included within the Special Expenses Items can be 

reviewed as appropriate and the policy updated as necessary. The policy will be 

considered annually as part of the setting of the budget for the forthcoming year. 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
1. RISK ASSESSMENT OF BUDGETS 
 
1.1 High Risk and Complex Budgets 
 
 Categorised as:  
 

• Cattle market income  

• Waste management contractor costs and income  

• Rent rebates –HRA (net) 

• Rent rebates – non HRA (net) 

• Rent allowances (net) 

• Housing Revenue Account (HRA) including Housing Improvement Plan 

• Retained Business Rates 

• Car park Income  
 
These forms part of a regular report to Management Team (MT).  Regular 
meetings take place between Budget Holders and the Service Accountant 
supported by volume data, financial and non-financial. Any problems placed on 
corporate budget action list. 

 
  
1.2 High Risk Budgets 
 
 Categorised as:  
 

• Planning application fees  

• Homelessness 

• Customer services 
 
 Regular meetings take place with Service Accountant and Budget Holders 

reviewing spend against budget, profile and likely year end position to feed into 
MT full report co-ordinated by Senior Accountant.  Any problems placed on the 
corporate budget action list. 

  
1.3 Lower Risk Budgets 
 
 All Other Services 
 
 Service Accountants review oracle reports monthly prior to despatch to Budget 

Holders and investigate any obvious problems i.e. over/under spends with the 
Budget Holder. Any resulting actions are placed on the corporate budget action 
list. 

 

Page 65

Appendix E



This page is intentionally left blank



Miscellaneous Melton Waterfield Business Total Corporate Regeneration General Subtotal General Special Subtotal Total General Subtotal Special Subtotal Total C/F 
S106 Local Leisure Rates  Priorities and Fund Reserve Expenses Expenses Expenses TO

Projects Plan Centre Equalisation Reserve Innovation Carry Forward Special Carry Forward NEXT

Reserve  Reserve Reserve Expenses Reserve PAGE
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

31 March 2022 Balance 5,734 266,925 186,425 207,000 1,158,257 86,159 90,000 66,160 2,066,660 1,180,643 176,467 263,050 1,620,161 322,427 17,000 339,427 1,959,588 734,010 734,010 50,000 50,000 784,010 4,810,258

2022-23
INCOME

Contributions from
Revenue Accounts 0 0 40,400 0 0 0 30,000 21,410 91,810 0 346,812 0 346,812 0 0 0 346,812 0 0 0 0 0 438,622

Interest 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Transfers 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 115,990 115,990 0 0 115,990 115,990
Total Income 0 0 40,400 0 0 0 30,000 21,410 91,810 0 346,812 0 346,812 0 0 0 346,812 115,990 115,990 0 0 115,990 554,612

EXPENDITURE
Contributions to 

Revenue Accounts 533 56,000 55,000 0 0 22,800 0 62,500 196,833 62,300 224,627 263,050 549,977 99,930 17,000 116,930 666,907 0 0 0 0 0 863,740
Capital Works 0 0 0 80,000 0 0 0 0 80,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 80,000

Capital Funding Future Years 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Set-Aside 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Transfers 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 115,990 0 0 115,990 0 0 0 115,990 0 0 0 0 0 115,990
Pooled 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Expenditure 533 56,000 55,000 80,000 0 22,800 0 62,500 276,833 178,290 224,627 263,050 665,967 99,930 17,000 116,930 782,897 0 0 0 0 0 1,059,730

31 March 2023 Balance 5,201 210,925 171,825 127,000 1,158,257 63,359 120,000 25,070 1,881,637 1,002,353 298,652 0 1,301,006 222,497 0 222,497 1,523,503 850,000 850,000 50,000 50,000 900,000 4,305,140

2023-24
INCOME

Contributions from
Revenue Accounts 0 0 40,400 0 0 0 0 21,410 61,810 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 61,810

Interest 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Transfers 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 150,000 150,000 0 0 150,000 150,000
Total Income 0 0 40,400 0 0 0 0 21,410 61,810 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 150,000 150,000 0 0 150,000 211,810

EXPENDITURE
Contributions to 

Revenue Accounts 533 210,000 0 0 907,715 0 0 0 1,118,248 260,404 43,730 0 304,134 96,133 0 96,133 400,267 0 0 0 0 0 1,518,515
Capital Works 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Capital Funding Future Years 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Set-Aside 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Transfers 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 150,000 0 0 150,000 0 0 0 150,000 0 0 0 0 0 150,000
Pooled 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Expenditure 533 210,000 0 0 907,715 0 0 0 1,118,248 410,404 43,730 0 454,134 96,133 0 96,133 550,267 0 0 0 0 0 1,668,515

31 March 2024 Balance 4,668 925 212,225 127,000 250,542 63,359 120,000 46,480 825,199 591,949 254,922 0 846,872 126,364 0 126,364 973,236 1,000,000 1,000,000 50,000 50,000 1,050,000 2,848,435

STATEMENT OF REVENUE AND CAPITAL RESERVES 

SPECIFIC RESERVES GENERAL RESERVES WORKING BALANCES

General 
Property 

Repair Fund 

Welland 
Procuremen

t Reserve

Property 
Fund 

Melton 
Sports 
Village 

Reserve

P
age 67



GRAND TOTAL

B/F Total Subtotal Subtotal Total Development  Major Water Housing HRA Total Leisure Other Total
FROM Sundry Sundry Housing Business Employee  & Repairs Arrears Revenue Vision

PREVIOUS Debtors Debtors Rents Rates Costs Council Registrars Vehicles & Cattle Skate Play  Regeneration Reserve Reserve Account Usable Usable Usable   

PAGE (General) (HRA) Appeal Offices Furniture Equipment Market Park Areas  Reserve (Usable) Capital Capital Capital   
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

31 March 2022 Balance 4,810,258 767,309 41,000 503,000 298,635 0 1,609,944 529,151 9,950 656,243 23,750 1,219,094 6,000 111,207 117,207 1,336,301 5,113,282 3,484,379 15,623 750,000 3,146,884 12,510,167 784,878 817,019 1,601,897 21,868,567

2022-23
INCOME

Contributions from
Revenue Accounts 438,622 0 0 0 0 0 0 66,750 610 194,800 5,000 267,160 1,500 30,000 31,500 298,660 20,680 1,777,040 0 0 0 1,797,720 0 0 0 2,535,002

Interest 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 248,628 248,628 0 0 0 248,628

Transfers 115,990 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 115,990
Total Income 554,612 0 0 0 0 0 0 66,750 610 194,800 5,000 267,160 1,500 30,000 31,500 298,660 20,680 1,777,040 0 0 248,628 2,046,348 0 0 0 2,899,620

EXPENDITURE
Contributions to 

Revenue Accounts 863,740 0 0 0 0 0 0 8,750 0 65,980 0 74,730 0 0 0 74,730 775,810 0 2,000 0 0 777,810 0 0 0 1,716,280
Capital Works 80,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 30,000 0 398,000 12,500 440,500 0 0 0 440,500 1,077,000 2,064,000 0 0 2,314,000 5,455,000 135,000 238,000 373,000 6,348,500

Capital Funding Future Years 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Set-Aside 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Transfers 115,990 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 115,990
Pooled 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Expenditure 1,059,730 0 0 0 0 0 0 38,750 0 463,980 12,500 515,230 0 0 0 515,230 1,852,810 2,064,000 2,000 0 2,314,000 6,232,810 135,000 238,000 373,000 8,180,770

31 March 2023 Balance 4,305,140 767,309 41,000 503,000 298,635 0 1,609,944 557,151 10,560 387,063 16,250 971,024 7,500 141,207 148,707 1,119,731 3,281,152 3,197,419 13,623 750,000 1,081,512 8,323,705 649,878 579,019 1,228,897 16,587,417

2023-24
INCOME

Contributions from
Revenue Accounts 61,810 0 0 0 0 0 0 71,750 610 190,610 5,000 267,970 1,500 30,000 31,500 299,470 25,690 1,767,750 0 250,000 0 2,043,440 0 0 0 2,404,720

Interest 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 167,505 167,505 0 0 0 167,505

Transfers 150,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 150,000
Total Income 211,810 0 0 0 0 0 0 71,750 610 190,610 5,000 267,970 1,500 30,000 31,500 299,470 25,690 1,767,750 0 250,000 167,505 2,210,945 0 0 0 2,722,225

EXPENDITURE
Contributions to 

Revenue Accounts 1,518,515 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 42,540 0 42,540 0 0 0 42,540 798,310 0 2,000 0 0 800,310 0 0 0 2,361,365
Capital Works 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 73,000 0 73,000 0 0 0 73,000 0 1,712,000 0 0 880,000 2,592,000 0 0 0 2,665,000

Capital Funding Future Years 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 254,500 0 254,500 0 0 0 254,500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 253,000 253,000 507,500
Set-Aside 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Transfers 150,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 150,000
Pooled 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Expenditure 1,668,515 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 370,040 0 370,040 0 0 0 370,040 798,310 1,712,000 2,000 0 880,000 3,392,310 0 253,000 253,000 5,683,865

31 March 2024 Balance 2,848,435 767,309 41,000 503,000 298,635 0 1,609,944 628,901 11,170 207,633 21,250 868,954 9,000 171,207 180,207 1,049,161 2,508,532 3,253,169 11,623 1,000,000 369,017 7,142,340 649,878 326,019 975,897 13,625,777

STATEMENT OF REVENUE AND CAPITAL RESERVES 

PROVISIONS REPAIRS & RENEWALS FUNDS HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT CAPITAL RECEIPTS

Doubtful Debts General Fund Special Expenses

P
age 68



Constituion Update from Full Council 4th November 2019 

  Description: Purpose Future Intentions

Reserves:
Other Earmarked Reserves
Miscellaneous S106 Projects Funds received from developers contributing towards various 

schemes
Existing funds received are required to be used on works required at the 
Country Park, open spaces and Darcy Gardens. 

Melton Local Plan Contribution from Local Plans revenue budget towards future 
spending requirements

To be released to fund uneven spending on Melton Local Development 
Framework

Waterfield Leisure Centre Contribution from Waterfield Leisure Centre revenue budget towards 
future spending requirements

To fund cyclical works at the Waterfield Leisure Centre as and when 
required

General Repairs and Maintenance New reserve created to provide resilience for ad hoc repairs and 
maintenance works to be added to when there is a surplus in the 
corporate repairs budget in any one year. 

To be utilised when funding issues arise in year from annual stock 
condition surveys or ad hoc works which don’t have sufficient funds 
available through other means such as specific sinking funds, repairs 
and renewal funds et or exceed the annual revenue budget for that 
year. 

Business Rate Equalisation Reserve One of the main impacts of the Business Rate retention scheme has 
identified the potential for annual fluctuations in the retained income 
levels.  There is likely to be volatility in surpluses and deficits achieved 
in future years which this reserve will help mitigate

The reserve will be utilised to even out surpluses / deficits created on 
the revenue account as a result of changes in the actual levy payments. 
Budgeted and actual contributions to and from the fund will also be 
undertaken to mitigate fluctuations created by surplus / deficit on the 
collection fund.

Property Fund Following the introduction of IFRS 9, there is a risk that any fair value 
movements of pooled investments, i.e. property funds, will hit the 
bottom line. A statutory override has been put into place for five years 
from 2018/19 but it is unclear of the impact beyond this point. This 
provision will be used to smooth out any impact. 

Used to smooth out any future impact of IFRS 9 arrangements for 
pooled investments. 

Welland Procurement Created to help manage variations in the profitability of the Welland 
Procurement Unit

Will be used to help manage an orderly reduction in costs in the event 
that clients do not renew their contracts with the Procurement Unit

Melton Sports Village Sinking fund introduced for site maintenance To carry out site maintenance as and when required. 
General Reserves
Corporate Priorities Reserve General fund reserves have been earmarked in the medium term 

financial strategy as being available to finance capital expenditure and 
revenue items of a non recurring nature that meet the Council's 
priorities. Contributions to this fund only arise as a result of surpluses 
in the revenue account

This reserve is to be used in line with the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy. Used for General Expenses for the benefit of the whole 
borough

STATEMENT OF REVENUE & CAPITAL RESERVES: Purpose & Future Intentions

The Chief Executive has delegation to incur one-off expenditure to support the needs of the organisation and corporate priorities from earmarked and general 
reserves up to a limit of £100,000. 

Cabinet is authorised to approve transfers from earmarked reserves without limit provided the basis of the use of the reserve is consistent with its original purpose. 
With regard to general reserves, Cabinet is authorised to draw on these up to a limit of £200k for one off expenditure in any one year in accordance with the 
requirements of the Access to Information Procedure Rules. 

P
age 69

A
ppendix G



  Description: Purpose Future Intentions

Regeneration and Innovation Reserve To provide funding for feasibility studies or business cases to unlock 
external funding or to support projects that will result in economic 
growth, commercial return or support inward investment. To include 
the allocation of match funding associated with external funding bids, 
and; To provide funding to support development and implementation 
of service improvement and innovation (including improvements in 
becoming more commercial, digital, and customer-focussed). 
Individual items can be drawn from the reserve up to £50k.

The fund will be topped up as and when funds become available and 
approved by members to be transferred to the reserve. The intention is 
to enable projects that meet the criteria of the fund to be able to be 
funded quickly so that opportunities are not missed and the Council can 
operate more commercially in line with its new governance 
arrangements

Special Expenses Reserve See notes for Corporate Priorities Reserve Used for Special Expenses (Melton Mowbray)
General Fund Carry Forward Reserve Amounts are set aside from the General Fund to fund the carry 

forward amounts – amounts not spent in year which will be needed for 
a specific purpose in the following year – as approved by the relevant 
committee in year.

Used for General Expenses

Special Expenses Carry Forward Reserve Amounts are set aside from special expenses to fund the carry 
forward amounts – amounts not spent in year which will be needed for 
a specific purpose in the following year – as approved by the relevant 
committee in year.

Used for Special Expenses (Melton Mowbray)

Working Balances
General Expenses Working Balance When calculating Budget requirements, relevant authorities are

required (by The Local Government Finance Act 1992) to have regard
to the level of reserves needed for meeting estimated future
expenditure. Reserves  held as a working balance are held for
contingency purposes (e.g. for emergencies) and the appropriate level 
is reviewed annually as part of the budget setting process.

Used for General Expenses

Special Expenses (Melton Mowbray) Working 
Balance

See notes for General Expenses Working Balance Used for Special Expenses (Melton Mowbray)

  Description: Purpose Future Intentions

Housing Revenue Account Balances
HRA Working Balance See notes for General Expenses Working Balance Used for the HRA
HRA Development and Regeneration This reserve is for specific HRA development and regeneration needs 

within the HRA ring fence
To be determined by Council depending on the needs of the HRA

HRA Major Repairs Reserve This reserve holds amounts set aside as depreciation from the HRA, 
based on a calculation which includes depreciation and additional 
revenue to support the HRA capital programme. This programme is 
substantially in regard to the Council's current housing stock.

It is anticipated that this fund will continue to function in a similar 
manner for the foreseeable future.

P
age 70



  Description: Purpose Future Intentions

Water Arrears Reserve On the cancellation of the Agency Agreement that the Council had 
with Severn Trent Water to collect water rates on their behalf, Severn 
Trent Water agreed to continue to fund future written off amounts of 
water arrears by a one-off payment

to fund any future water write offs from current tenant arrears

Repairs & Renewals Funds:
Council Offices This fund provides for major items of expenditure on Parkside. The 

reserve also receives contributions from partners 
It is anticipated that this fund will continue to function in a similar 
manner for the foreseeable future

General Fund - The Registrars Furniture This fund provides for the replacement of furniture for the County 
Council's Registrar's Service; the annual contribution to the fund being 
invoiced to the County

It is anticipated that this fund will continue to function in a similar 
manner for the foreseeable future

General Fund Vehicles & Equipment This fund provides for the replacement of vehicles, equipment and 
Christmas lighting which are predominately used for the benefit of the 
General Fund

It is anticipated that this fund will continue to function in a similar 
manner for the foreseeable future

Cattle Market This fund provides for the upkeep of the site infrastructure and 
services (infrastructure and service media located underground) at the 
Cattle Market quarterly contributions from Gillstream Markets to be 
drawn down when required

It is anticipated that this fund will continue to function in a similar 
manner for the foreseeable future

Special Expenses - Skate Park This fund provides for the replacement and repairs at the Skate Park 
within the special expense area of Melton Mowbray

It is anticipated that this fund will continue to function in a similar 
manner for the foreseeable future

Special Expenses - Play Area Repairs and 
Renewals

This fund provides for the replacement and repairs at various play 
areas within the special expense area of Melton Mowbray

It is anticipated that this fund will continue to function in a similar 
manner for the foreseeable future

Provisions:
Doubtful Debts: Sundry Debtors - General Provision for writing off bad debts: General Fund Sundry Debtors Continuing Provision
Doubtful Debts: Sundry Debtors - HRA Provision for writing off bad debts: HRA Sundry Debtors Continuing Provision
Doubtful Debts: Housing Rents Provision for writing off bad debts: HRA Rent Arrears Continuing Provision
Business Rates Appeals As part of the completion of the NNDR3 LAs are required to make a 

provision for appeals against the Rateable Values of properties that 
had yet to have their appeals determined. This provision includes a 
value for changes to the rates liability for current and previous years

Continuing Provision

Employee Costs Provision for any redudancy amounts known at financial year end Utilised in the following financial year.

Capital Receipts:
HRA: Usable Capital Receipts Capital receipts received from the sale of Council dwellings set aside 

for HRA capital expenditure
Use determined in line with the Council's budget setting process

Leisure Vision: Usable Capital Receipts Capital receipts specifically allocated to support delivery of the 
Councils Leisure Vision project

The Council is currently developing its leisure vision proposals which 
this fund will support. 

Other: Usable Capital Receipts Capital receipts available for General Fund capital expenditure Use determined in line with the Council's budget setting process

P
age 71



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Cabinet Report 

Capital Programme 2020-2025 -General Fund and Capital Strategy 2021-
224 

1 

 

 

Cabinet 
8 February 2023  

Report of: Councillor Ronnie de Burle - 
Portfolio Holder for Corporate 
Governance and Resources 

       

  
  

 

Capital Programme 2022-2027 - General Fund and 
Capital Strategy 2023-24  

Corporate Priority: All 

Relevant Ward Member(s): All 

Date of consultation with Ward 
Member(s): 

N/A 

Exempt Information: No 

Key Decision: No 

Subject to call-in: No 

Not key decision 

1 Summary 

1.1 This report provides information on the forecast outturn position for 2022/23. The report 

also sets out the proposed General Fund Programme for 2022-27 based on a review of 

spending in the current year's programme and schemes included in the programme for 

later years.  

1.2 The revised CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities published in 

2017 introduced the requirement to produce a capital strategy and for the Chief Finance 

Officer to report explicitly on the affordability and risk associated with it. This report 

contains the updated version of the Capital Strategy for all council funds for 2023/24. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 73

Agenda Item 7

http://www.melton.gov.uk/
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

Cabinet Report 

Capital Programme 2020-2025 -General Fund and Capital Strategy 2021-
224 

2 

 

 

2 Recommendations 

 
That Cabinet: 

2.1 recommend to Council approval of: 

 
2.1.1 The addition to the 2022/23 General Fund Capital Programme of a further 

£104k for Environmental maintenance vehicle replacement programme 
funded from the renewals and repair fund; 

2.1.2 The removal from the 2022/23 General Fund Capital Programme of £550k of 
LAD 3  MEH sustainable warmth budget; 

2.1.3 The reduction in the 2022/23 General Fund Capital Programme of £62k on 
property condition survey works; 

2.1.4 The General Fund Capital Programme for 2023-27 as attached at Appendix B; 

2.1.5 The sources of funding for the General Fund capital programme for 2023/24 
as set out in Appendix C; 

2.1.6 Delegated authority to be given to the Director for Corporate Services to 
amend the amount in the capital programme for Disabled Facilities Grants 
once funding confirmation has been received as referred to in para 5.9; 

2.1.7 the Capital Strategy 2022-23 as attached at Appendix D. 

 

 

3 Reason for Recommendations 

3.1 Approving the capital programme and capital strategy will support the Council in delivering 

its commitment to manage its assets effectively and to ensure the benefits from them are 

maximised for the benefits of the Council and community as a whole. These Capital plans 

will support the effective delivery of these ambitions and will ensure appropriate levels of 

capital expenditure and investment are in place to meet Corporate priorities and objectives 

whilst ensuring that plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable. It is a requirement of 

the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities published in 2017 to 

produce a capital strategy and for the Chief Finance Officer to report explicitly on the 

affordability and risk associated with it.  

3.2 The Capital Programme for 2023-27 for the General Fund is attached at Appendix B.  The 

Programme gives the total cost of each scheme, the spending profile, the amounts 

authorised to be spent and the stage each scheme has reached within the Capital 

Programme. 

 

4 Background 

4.1 It is good financial practice to incorporate the financial effects of capital spending plans 

into revenue budgets prior to the consideration and approval of the revenue budgets.  As 

such Cabinet are asked at this meeting to consider and make recommendations to 

Page 74



 

Cabinet Report 

Capital Programme 2020-2025 -General Fund and Capital Strategy 2021-
224 

3 

 

Council on the projects for the General Fund to be funded in the capital programme for 

2023/24 in addition to those which have already had funding approved.  

4.2 Members to note that within the proposed capital programme for 2023/24 there are no 

proposals in respect of Special Expenses Melton Mowbray.  

4.3 The capital programme proposals for the HRA are included elsewhere on this agenda and 

are contained with the HRA budget proposals due to the interlinked nature of the HRA 

funding requirements across revenue and capital. The capital strategy at Appendix D as 

an overarching corporate document includes proposals for all funds including the HRA. 

 

5 Main Considerations 

2022/23 Forecast Position 

General Fund 

5.1 The forecast outturn for the 2022/23 General Fund capital programme is expected to be 

£1,626k against an approved budget of £2,615k resulting in an overall forecast 

underspend of £989k. This is primarily due to: 

• LAD2 Energy efficiency measures – the scheme is now complete, the final outturn is 
£176k out of that budgeted at £355k, £179k,  being the remainder of the grant due, is 
to be returned. 

• DFG – underspend of £681k, ongoing discussions are being undertaken with the 
lightbulb partnership about how this funding can be used and schemes delivered.  Any 
underspend is likely to be carried forward or there is a possibility that funding may 
need to be returned to the grant provider. 

• Asset condition survey works - £62k saving following review of work requirements, 
and no longer required and £13k for Cattle Market works to be carried forward into 
2023/24. 

• IT Investment – a number of schemes will be carried forward into 2023/24 

5.2 In addition to the above it should be noted that the LAD3 - MEH Sustainable Warmth 

scheme (£550k) is recommended to be removed from the 2022/23 programme as the 

grant money will now bypass MBC and go directly to the partner organisation as part of 

the partnership agreement to deliver this scheme.   

5.3 The financing of the 2022/23 programme is made up of repairs and renewal contributions, 

external grant funding, third party support and use of capital receipts.  Internal borrowing 

will be required for the LCC Education Infrastructure £250k payment if and when this 

payment becomes due. 

5.4 The balance on capital receipts as at 31st Mar 2022 was £817k of which £238k will be 

used to finance the current year’s programme, leaving a balance of £579k available to 

finance the 2023/24 capital programme and future years; subject to any further capital 

receipts being generated.  

 

 

 

Page 75



 

Cabinet Report 

Capital Programme 2020-2025 -General Fund and Capital Strategy 2021-
224 

4 

 

 

 

2023/24 Capital Programme 

General Fund 

5.5 The proposed General Fund capital programme for 2023/24, as outlined in Appendix B 

totals £1,015k covering key areas such as ICT investment, DFG’s, EMT and the Asset 

Development Programme. This consists of: 

• £38k ICT investment schemes as part of the renewal and replacement cycle 

• £345k of projects in the programme and funded externally – DFG’s 

• £40k requests to increase existing projects – specifically EMT vehicles 

• £592k to draw down the remainder of the already allocated funding – Asset 
development Programme Phase 2 

5.6 The overall programme, if approved, would be financed through repairs and renewals fund 

£73k, Capital receipts £253k, direct revenue funding £5k and capital grants from external 

sources of £684k as outlined in Appendix C. 

5.7 For 2023/24 the ADP project which is being requested to be drawn down added to the 

capital programme is set out in the table below.  

Capital Scheme Amount  Funding 
Source 

Comments 

Asset Development 
Programme  

£592k LLEP Grant / 
Capital 
receipts 

2nd phase of the Asset 
Development Programme 

The total budget is £875k made up of £500k of LLEP funding and £375k of Council’s 
capital funding as per the Council’s approval in January 2020. There is currently  
approval to access £283k of this for phase 1 works. Phase 2 is now due to commence 
and a report was considered by Cabinet in January 2023 on progress.  Therefore, 
£592k is being requested to be added to the capital programme for the use on the 
remainder of the ADP activities. 

 

5.8 In addition to the above, there have been some amendments to existing schemes which 

have been taken into account when preparing the 2023/24 capital programme: 

• The next phase of the ICT investment and refresh programme is included in 2023/24 
(£38k). 

• Environmental Service vehicles – The replacement and renewal programme has been 
reviewed and a 10 year plan developed resulting in an increased requirement in 
2022/23 of £104k to provide total funding of £180k due to more vehicles becoming due 
for replacement, a further £40k will be required in 2023/24.  

5.9 In respect of DFGs the current amount included in the capital programme for 2023/24 is 

£345k, but final funding figures have yet to be confirmed. Should there be any minor 

changes to the capital programme Council will be requested to give delegated authority to 

Page 76



 

Cabinet Report 

Capital Programme 2020-2025 -General Fund and Capital Strategy 2021-
224 

5 

 

the Director for Corporate Services to amend the amount in the capital programme once 

funding confirmation has been received.  

 

 

Capital Strategy 

5.10 As part of the updated Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities there is a 

requirement to produce a Capital Strategy which links into the Treasury Management 

Strategy.  The purpose of the capital strategy is to tell a story that gives a clear and 

concise view of how a local authority determines it’s priorities for capital investment, 

decides how much it can afford to borrow and sets its risk appetite. It need not duplicate 

other documents but should include cross references where relevant. It should provide 

enough detail to ensure that all members understand how the authority is delivering 

stewardship of the authority’s resources, prudence and sustainability and meeting the 

authority’s reporting requirements. The strategy links to the priorities as set out in the 

Corporate Strategy. 

5.11 The strategy sets out the links to external influences and partners as well as the linkages 

to the Council’s own priorities and planned activities. In terms of the financial implications 

and links to affordability, as set out in the strategy, work has been undertaken on 

refreshed stock condition surveys which have been reviewed and built in the Council’s 

investment strategy.  These will then feed into Asset Management Plans for both the 

General Fund, which is being developed, and the approved Housing Revenue Account 

(HRA). Due to the unaffordable level of investment required on the general fund assets, it 

is proposed to focus on essential repairs which will be reviewed annually through the 

corporate property team to then feed into the annual budget process.  

5.12 An updated HRA business plan has been approved during 2022/23 which provides a 

framework for capital investment planning. The Asset Management Plan will be used to 

set budgets each year and will be updated on an annual basis. This will ensure that it 

remains current and relevant in line with a changing financial context and regulatory 

environment. The Asset Management Plan is an evidence led document. It is informed by 

a comprehensive condition survey of almost 90% of the Council’s housing stock and by 

consultation with residents as part of the development of the HRA Business Plan 

5.13 With the limited capital resources at the Council’s disposal it is highly likely that future 

funding needs may need to be met from borrowing which will impact on the council’s 

revenue budget unless investment is met by savings in expenditure or additional income 

being generated.  The stock condition surveys for the General Fund will be used to 

develop a asset management plan which can be considered alongside the baseline 

revenue budget available for repairs to assess ongoing affordability. The capital repairs 

identified from the surveys will be used to update the capital strategy and inform future 

capital needs.  

6 Options Considered 

6.1 No other options considered. If the report was not provided councillors would not be aware 

of ongoing developments and therefore would not be able to represent their residents 

effectively. In order to access reserves and incur capital expenditure, Council approval is 

required. 

Page 77



 

Cabinet Report 

Capital Programme 2020-2025 -General Fund and Capital Strategy 2021-
224 

6 

 

 

7 Consultation 

7.1 The Scrutiny Committee has considered the budget proposals and the outcome of their 

consideration is set out elsewhere on the agenda.  All members were invited to the 

Scrutiny committee. Prior to this formal meeting a Budget Scrutiny Workshop was held 

consisting of a number of members drawn from the Scrutiny Committee.  

7.2 Members at the Budget Scrutiny Workshop were supportive of capital proposals and 

sought assurance over associated procurement to ensure value for money for work 

undertaken. 

7.3 Budget holders, managers and staff have been engaged at various stages in the process 

as the budget has been developed. 

 

8 Next Steps – Implementation and Communication 

8.1 Council provide formal approval of Capital Programme for 2023-24 alongside the Capital 

Strategy at the meeting on the 23rd February 2023. 

 

9 Financial Implications 

9.1 The majority of financial implications have been addressed in section 5. 

9.2 The key source of internal funding for the capital programme are capital receipts. It should 

be noted based on the anticipated financing of the 2023/24 General Fund capital 

programme the estimated balance on Capital Receipts will be only £326k.   Whilst this 

doesn’t take into account any further capital receipts that may be generated it does show 

that the Councils resources are limited to fund future capital schemes. Once capital 

receipts are exhausted this leaves the Corporate Priorities Reserve which is a revenue 

fund available to support capital or borrowing which would have revenue implications. 

Therefore, the prioritisation of capital schemes and the need to focus on the Asset 

Development Programme will be key, including generation of further capital receipts. If 

insufficient capital funds are available the Council would then need to consider borrowing 

to fund such investments and would need to ensure any schemes are affordable in 

revenue terms through reductions in net expenditure. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Director for Corporate Services 

 

10 Legal and Governance Implications 

10.1 As part of the budget policy framework it is essential the recommendation for review of the 

capital programme is approved by full Council. 

10.2 The Capital Strategy forms part of the Budget and Policy Framework and therefore must 

be approved by Council 

10.3 Any legal implications arising from new schemes will be identified and addressed at the 

business case stage 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Deputy Monitoring Officer 15.01.23 

Page 78



 

Cabinet Report 

Capital Programme 2020-2025 -General Fund and Capital Strategy 2021-
224 

7 

 

 

 

 

 

11 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 

11.1 There are no equalities issues arising from this report. Any equalities issues arising from 

individual schemes will be taken account of as part of the associated projects arising form 

those capital schemes.  

 

12 Community Safety Implications 

12.1 Individual projects could have links to community safety issues such as the CCTV 

schemes which have been included in the 2022/23 programme.  These should be covered 

in any associated reports and forms linked to those projects as they progress through the 

decision making process. 

 

13 Environmental and Climate Change Implications 

13.1 As part of the review and replacement for the Environmental Maintenance Team service 

vehicles and machinery energy efficient replacement will be considered. 

 

14 Other Implications (where significant) 

14.1 No other implications have been identified. 

 

15 Risk & Mitigation 

15.1 The risks relating to individual projects will be considered as part of the project 

management process for each scheme. Detailed risks are set out within the capital 

strategy itself.  

Risk 
No 

Risk Description Likelihood Impact Risk 

1 There are inadequate resources in place to 
deliver projects 

Significant Critical Medium Risk 

 

  Impact / Consequences 

  Negligible Marginal Critical Catastrophic 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Score/ definition 1 2 3 4 

6 Very High 
    

Page 79



 

Cabinet Report 

Capital Programme 2020-2025 -General Fund and Capital Strategy 2021-
224 

8 

 

5 High 
    

4 Significant 

  1  

3 Low 
    

2 Very Low 
    

1 Almost 
impossible     

 

15.2  

Risk No Mitigation 

1 The development of AMP and consideration of funding requirements alongside 
the MTFS and future budget requirements 

 

16 Background Papers 

16.1 None 

 

17 Appendices 

17.1 Appendix A – General Expenses Capital Monitoring 2022-23 

17.2 Appendix B – General Expenses Capital Programme 2023-27 

17.3 Appendix C – General Expenses Capital Budget 2023-24 Anticipated Financing  

17.4 Appendix D – Capital Strategy 2023-24 

 

Report Author: David Scott, Assistant Director for Resources 

Report Author Contact Details: 01664 502448 

dscott@melton.gov.uk 

Chief Officer Responsible: Dawn Garton, Director for Corporate Services 

Chief Officer Contact Details: 01664 502444 

DGarton@melton.gov.uk 

 

Page 80



GENERAL EXPENSES

CAPITAL PROGRAMME SUMMARY 2022-23

Total Budget 
22-23      

(£'000)

Year End 
Forecast 
(£'000)

Variance (-) = 
Underspend 

(£'000)

Comment

CORPORATE PRIORITY
ICT Network equipment replacement 37 37 0 Installation in July 2022, global supply problems stemming from 

the pandemic and semi-conductor shortages have delayed this 
work until now.  Forecast to spend entire budget. Invoices are 
expected in November 2022. work mostly complete

ICT Data Centre replacement 79 79 0 Installation in July 2022, has been delayed due to worldwide 
supply chain issues as well as a failed tender last year. Forecast 
to spend entire budget Awaiting additional parts, invoicing 
expected November/ December 2022

Network Access Controller 14 0 (14) specification and procurement not yet started, due to other 
workloads, it is requested this is carry forward into 23/24

Privilege Access Management 10 0 (10) specification and procurement not yet started, due to other 
workloads, it is requested this is carry forward into 23/24

Network Switches 14 14 0 In scoping currently awaiting commercials from supplier

WAN Improvement and Active Data Centres 17 17 0 Likely to occur this financial year, mostly configuration and 
licences likely to spend entire budget

Firewall Update 48 48 0 in progress, expected completion by December 2022.  Forecast 
to spend entire budget

Wifi Upgrades 30 0 (30) Will need further review to determine timescale and expenditure, 
it is requested this is carry forward into 23/24

Total Great Council 249 195 -54

PEOPLE PRIORITY

CCTV system 25 25 0 CCTV cameras purchased and is being funded by Safer street 
funding grant

CCTV cameras 42 42 0 supply and installation of the CCTV system and upgrades to the 
control room which is being partly funded from Police grant 
contributions

Lifeline - Analogue to Digital 15 15 0 In the process of working with Harborough DC to purchase units 
From a new provider in order to undertake the changing of units 
from analogue to digital. As yet nothing has been spent from the 
capital budget but once HDC have ordered the units and training 
has been provided we will be invoices by HDC for the new digital 
units.

Total People 82 82 0

PLACE PRIORITY

Private Sector Housing Grants

Disabled Facilities Grants (Private Sector 
Mandatory) 813 132 (681)

Financial performance data is provided by Blaby District Council 
who carry out the DFG process on MBC's behalf. It should be 
noted that any underspend will need to be paid back or 
permission received from Better Care Fund/LCC to carry this 
forward. Estimated quarterly invoice is £33k

LAD2 - Energy Efficiency Measures 355 176 (179)

The grant enabled energy efficiency measures to be installed in 
properties that we would not be in a position to assist without 
accessing this funding. The original aim was to undertaken these 
works at 41 properties, but only 27 were eligible, so the total 
grant will not be spend, with the remainder returned to 
government. This project is now complete.

Warm Homes Grants 8 8 0

This is demand led. It is anticipated that budget will be 
committed , subject to eligible applications. Any underspend will 
be carried forward. 

EMT Vehicle/Frontline Service Machine 
replacement 180 180 0

A review has been undertaken on a 5 year+ capital replacement 
programme on vehicles & mower which identified an increase in 
funding requested for this financial year. The original programme 
had £75k approved so a further £104 is requested.

Lake Terrace Waste Depot 
Refurbishment 152 152 0

Works within the site have commenced.  Issues have been 
found with the drainage pipework from the site onwards which is 
currently being assessed.

Page 81

Appendix A



Total Budget 
22-23      

(£'000)

Year End 
Forecast 
(£'000)

Variance (-) = 
Underspend 

(£'000)

Comment

Drainage at MSV 50 50 0

Melton’s Sports village drainage requires remedial work. 
Engineers report has been received, but no works will be carried 
out until Network Rail have completed remedial works along the 
railway line to drainage ditch and the pipe under the railway 
track.  Works estimated to be complex due to the geographical 
location. Remedial cost could be higher that the budget.  On hold 
due issues at the bottom of the field near the rail tracks. Awaiting 
LCC and Network rail to resolve the issues under their 
responsibility

Melton Country Park Bridge Works 40 40 0

‘Discussions are continuing with the contractor on extent of the 
work’ Stepping stone bridge, updated quote 85k , awaiting 
decision of what works need to be carried out, on hold as the 
original quote was too high and may require amendment to the 
specification.

LCC Education Infrastructure 250 250 0
The Council are to be invoiced by the County Council as various 
triggers / stages are met.

Condition Survey Asset Works 

- Parkside 50 30 (20)

Working with contractor to finalise specification of works, with the 
works expecting to commence in the new year.  It is expected all 
the anticipated works won't be required and an underspend is 
now forecast   

-Cattle Market - Farmers Market 13 0 (13)

Following a further review of the works required these works 
aren’t seen as urgent and therefore it is requested this is carry 
forward into 23/24

-Car Parks 108 66 (42)

Working with contractor to finalise specification of works, with the 
works expecting to commence in the new year.  It is expected all 
the anticipated works won't be required and an underspend is 
now forecast   

Asset Development Programme 265 265 0

LLEP funding agreement signed and LLEP project officer 
appointed with initial meetings held re drawing down funding. 
Architects have been instructed to do a design package for first 
phase (includes sale of cattle market north site). Next step is the 
undertaking of the survey with valuers to be appointed. 
Architects have reviewed other sites for phase two for an 
indicative scheme (southern area of cattle market, Nottingham 
road buildings, Parkside, Phoenix house, Burton st long stay car 
park). Design options will be undertaken which will inform 
costings and appraisals for future development. 

Total Place 2,284 1,349 -935

Sub Total General Expenses 2,615 1,626 -989

Page 82



GENERAL EXPENSES APPENDIX B

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27
Allocated 

Funds 
(Budget)

Total 
Estimate

Total 
Estimate

Total 
Estimate

Total 
Estimate

Total 
Scheme 

Cost

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
CORPORATE PRIORITY

ICT Network equipment replacement 37 0 0 0 0 37
ICT Data Centre replacement 79 0 0 0 79 158
Network Access Controller 14 0 0 0 0 14
Privilege Access Management 10 0 0 0 0 10
Network Switches 14 0 0 0 0 14
WAN Improvement and Active Data Centres 17 0 0 0 0 17
Firewall Update 48 0 0 0 0 48
Wifi Upgrades 30 0 0 0 0 30
IT Power security 0 22 0 0 0 22
IT user authentification and security 0 16 0 0 0 16
Service Asset & Desk Management 0 0 0 12 0 12

PEOPLE PRIORITY

CCTV System 25 0 0 0 0 25
CCTV Cameras 41 0 0 0 0 41
Lifeline - Analogue to Digital 15 0 0 0 0 15

PLACE PRIORITY

EMT Vehicle/Frontline Service Machine replacement 180 40 75 85 4 384
Lake Terrace Waste Depot Refurbishment 152 0 0 0 0 152
Melton Country Park Bridge Works 40 0 0 0 0 40
Asset Development Programme 266 592 0 0 0 858
Drainage at MSV 50 0 0 0 0 50
LCC Education Infrastructure 250 0 0 500 0 750
Condition Survey Asset Works 0
- Parkside 50 0 0 0 0 50
-Cattle Market - Farmers Market 13 0 0 0 0 13
-Car Parks 108 0 0 0 0 108

Private Sector Housing Grants
Disabled Facilities Grants (Private Sector Mandatory) 813 345 345 345 345 2,193
Warm Homes Grants 8 0 0 0 0 8
LAD2 - Energy Efficiency Measures 355 0 0 0 0 355
LAD3- MEH Sustainable Warmth 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sub Total General Priority 2,615 1,015 420 942 428 5,420

Page 83

Appendix B



This page is intentionally left blank



GENERAL EXPENSES Appendix C

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2023-24

ANTICIPATED FINANCING

Project Estimate Loan Capital 
Receipts 

Repairs & 
Renewals 

Fund

Direct 
Revenue 
Funding

Grant Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
GREAT COUNCIL 
IT user authentification and security 16 16 16
Power Security 22 22 22

PEOPLE
0

PLACE PRIORITY

EMT Vehicle/Frontline Service Machine replacement 40 0 35 5 40

Asset Development Programme Phase 2 592 253 339 592

Private Sector Housing Grants

Disabled Facilities Grants (Private Sector Mandatory) 345 345 345

GENERAL EXPENSES TOTAL 1015 0 253 73 5 684 1015

P
age 85

A
ppendix C



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Page 1 of 36 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Capital Strategy 2023/24 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

Author: Assistant Director of Resources 

Owner: Director of Corporate Services    

Version No: Final  

Date: 4/1/23 

 

 

Page 87

Appendix D



 

 

Page 2 of 36 

Approvals 
 

Designation Title Date of 

Approval 

Version 

Council   23/02/2023 1.0 

 

Distribution: 

Title Date of Issue Version 

SLT 03/01/2023 1.0 

CABINET 08/02/2023 1.0 

 

 

 

  

Page 88



 

 

Page 3 of 36 

Contents: 
 

Paragraph Heading Page 

1.0 Introduction 4 

2.0 The Context of the Capital Strategy 9 

3.0 
Capital Investment Objectives and Areas for 
Investment 

11 

4.0 Funding Capital Investment 24 

5.0 Risks 26 

6.0 Capital Governance and Processes 29 

7.0 Skills and Knowledge 31 

Appendix A General Fund Five Year Capital Programme 33 

Appendix B HRA Five Year Capital Programme 35 

  

Page 89



 

 

Page 4 of 36 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1 Purpose of the Capital Strategy  

1.1.1 The main purpose of the Capital Strategy is to define how Melton Borough Council 

will maximise the impact of its limited capital resources to deliver its key aims and 

priorities. It considers future capital investment needs, especially in relation to 

regeneration and the growth agenda, and ensures the optimum impact of those 

investments. It also helps the Council to be clear on its priorities for bidding for external 

funding. 

1.1.2 In managing its Capital Strategy, the Council will have regard to its statutory 

obligations within the context of a changing operational environment, the longer-term 

impact of its decisions, the delivery of value for money and the risks associated with any 

course of action. 

1.1.3 The strategy is designed to fully comply with the Prudential Code of Practice for 

local authority capital investment by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 

Accountancy (CIPFA) in parallel with guidance to local authorities from the Ministry of 

Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG). The main purpose of the 

Code is to ensure that capital investment proposals are affordable, prudent, and 

sustainable. 

1.1.4 By the very nature of capital investment, it is necessary that this strategy takes a 

longer-term view. However, the strategy also focusses on the medium term to fit in with 

the Medium-Term Financial Strategy, the latest version of which covers the period from 

2023/24 to 2026/27.  

1.2 Key Strategies and Plans 

This Capital Strategy is also underpinned by a few other key strategies and plans.  

• Corporate Strategy - The Council’s aims and priorities are set out in theCorporate 

Strategy, the latest version of which covers the period 2020 to 2024. 

The key priority themes set out in the Corporate Strategy are: 

1. Excellent services positively impacting on our communities 

2. Providing high quality council homes and landlord services 

3. Delivering sustainable and inclusive growth in Melton 

4. Protect our climate and enhance our natural environment  

5. Ensuring the right conditions to support delivery (inward) 

6. Connected and led by our community (outward) 

Page 90

https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/t/the-prudential-code-for-capital-finance-in-local-authorities-2017-edition-book
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/t/the-prudential-code-for-capital-finance-in-local-authorities-2017-edition-book
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/ministry-of-housing-communities-and-local-government
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/ministry-of-housing-communities-and-local-government
https://www.melton.gov.uk/strategies/finance-and-it/medium-term-financial-strategy/
https://www.melton.gov.uk/strategies/corporate-plans/corporate-strategy-2020-2024/
https://www.melton.gov.uk/strategies/corporate-plans/corporate-strategy-2020-2024/
https://www.melton.gov.uk/strategies/corporate-plans/corporate-strategy-2020-2024/


 

 

Page 5 of 36 

• Local Plan - The Local Plan was formally adopted in October 2018 and 

therefore its strategic objectives will start to be considered and their potential 

influence on our Capital Strategy. The Council approved the commencement 

of the Local Plan Review on 26th April 2022. The Members’ Working Group 

agree five key areas of focus- climate change, affordable housing, leisure, 

employment land and Melton south sustainable neighbourhood. The Local 

Development Scheme setting out the timetable for the review until the Spring 

of 2026 was approved by the Cabinet in December 2022.   

• Melton Town Centre Vision - The Town Centre vision is an important 

framework document for Melton and the collaborative process taken to 

develop it has led to the development of an action plan. It was approved by 

the Cabinet in June 2022. It is a live document that will be updated on an 

annual basis and will allow the Council and its partners to utilise it as an 

evidence-based framework for future funding and investment opportunities. 

As well as setting a Vision, the final document provides a pipeline of proposed 

projects and activities through which the Council will be able to proactively 

seek funding and investment (both public and private) to achieve the agreed 

aim of securing, enhancing and promoting Melton Mowbray’s position as 

being the ‘Rural Capital of Food’. 

• UK Shared Prosperity Fund Investment Plan – Melton’s investment plan for 

£1.19million to invest in our local communities and economy was submitted to 

the Government in August 2022. It is now validated following the assessment 

and the Secretary of State has allocated funding for 2022/23 with indicative 

allocations for the further two financial years up until March 31st 2025. This 

money will have a positive impact on our local communities and economy and 

the Council are now setting up processes and governance arrangements 

internally to enable us to deliver these projects and programmes effectively to 

our local communities. This will all be in adherence to the Councils obligations 

for the UKSPF as the designated Accountable body for Melton Borough and 

will be delivered by, and draw upon, expertise from across the council. In 

addition to the UKSPF, the Council has also submitted proposals for 

£400,000 Rural England Prosperity Fund (REPF) in November 2022. We are 

yet to hear back on this which is a rural top up to the UKSPF programme but 

will update members once we have been notified of the outcome. 

• General Fund Asset Management Plan and Capital Strategy - The current 

Corporate Property and Assets Portfolio compromises of a wide range of 

property types and assets, each with its own considerations, challenges, and 

opportunities. These include operational offices, commercial units, leisure 

centres, community centres, parks and open spaces, car parks, footpaths, 

bridges, and public toilets. Condition surveys have been undertaken for all 

assets now with costs identified for works over the next 5 years. A risk-based 

approach is taken in prioritising the works and allocation of resources. 

Page 91

https://www.meltonplan.co.uk/
https://democracy.melton.gov.uk/documents/s16538/Item%205%20-%20Approval%20of%20Melton%20Town%20Centre%20Vision.pdf
https://www.melton.gov.uk/media/byyofnhb/ukspf-investment-plan-acessible.pdf


 

 

Page 6 of 36 

Contractors have been procured through framework arrangements for 

undertaking works identified to mitigate against health and safety and high-

risk property safety items. The team is now fully recruited to, and a detailed 

Asset management Plan is being prepared, informed by the condition works 

and risk analysis for planned maintenance programme. This work also 

informs the Council’s Asset Development Programme partly funded by the 

Business Rate Pool grant funding from Leicester and Leicestershire 

Economic Partnership (LLEP). The Phase 1 of works focus on the disposal of 

North Cattle Market site, refurbishment of The Cove Community Centre to 

accommodate Me and My Learning and partners and future development 

options for Phoenix House and Parkside.  

• Housing Revenue Account Business Plan This was approved by Council in 

July 2022 and sets out the Council’s expectations and plans for council 

homes for the next 30 years (2022 – 2052) and the financial sustainability of 

the Council’s housing services. It looks at the money available for the Council 

to maintain and improve council housing and ensures that Council homes 

remain safe and meet decent homes standards. It also sets out what other 

housing improvements and investment choices can be made within the 

budget available, examines how the Council can build new council housing in 

an affordable and sustainable way to meet the needs of residents in Melton, 

and considers the implications of the changing regulatory context for the 

housing sector.  

• HRA Asset Management Plan 2023-2028. This was approved by Council in 

December 2022 and provides a framework for capital investment planning. 

The Asset Management Plan will be used to set budgets each year and will 

be updated on an annual basis. This will ensure that it remains current and 

relevant in line with a changing financial context and regulatory environment. 

The Asset Management Plan is an evidence led document. It is informed by a 

comprehensive condition survey of almost 90% of the Council’s housing stock 

and by consultation with residents as part of the development of the HRA 

Business Plan. It provides responses to policy recommendations arising from 

the HRA Business Plan, ensures an emphasis on decent and safe homes, 

and is set within the context of regulatory change to enable continued 

compliance and tenant safety. 

• Risk Management Framework 2022/2025 - It is important for us to apply the 

corporate Risk Management Framework principles to the risk approach 

adopted in our Capital Strategy.  Our Capital Strategy includes a high-level 

risk assessment, which will be linked to our corporate risk assessment. The 

Capital Strategy risk assessment matches the corporate scoring approach 

and takes into consideration the CIPFA Prudential Code 2017 requirements 

for the assessment of risk on investments.  

Page 92

https://www.melton.gov.uk/media/ssrdc0uz/melton-borough-council-hra-business-plan-2022-to-2052.pdf
https://democracy.melton.gov.uk/documents/s18524/Appendix%20A%20-%20DRAFT%20HRA%20Asset%20Management%20Plan%202023%20-%202028.pdf
https://democracy.melton.gov.uk/documents/s18393/Appendix%20A%20-%20Risk%20Management%20Policy%20Strategy%202022.pdf


 

 

Page 7 of 36 

• Treasury Management Strategy - The Treasury Management Strategy sets 

out how the Council’s treasury management service will support the capital 

decisions taken, the day-to-day treasury management activity and the 

limitations on activity through treasury prudential indicators.  

1.1.5 There are also external partnership boards we work through to drive the shape of 

Melton, these are:   

Melton Helping People Partnership Board (looking to change to Melton 

Community Health and Wellbeing Partnership) - The Council has always had strong 

working relationships with its statutory and voluntary sector partners at both an 

operational and strategic level. The strength of these established partnerships has been 

especially evident during the COVID crisis when organisations pulled together to 

provide an extraordinary community response for the residents of Melton across all age 

groups and for a wide range of needs. We want to build on the learning this has 

provided and continue to develop with our Partners.  Accordingly, the Helping People 

Partnerships (HPP) Board provides a strategic forum for Partners delivering services 

within the Borough of Melton to collaborate and develop an effective Partnership Offer 

that will result in better outcomes for the residents of Melton. The partnership has been 

reviewed to ensure it can respond to the needs of our communities in Melton as we 

emerge from the pandemic and embrace new challenges associated with the cost-of-

living crisis. It is also well placed to support delivery of local community health and 

wellbeing plan, aligned to the countywide health and wellbeing strategy.  

Melton Place Board - A Place Board has been established including relevant local 

stakeholders who are keen to be involved in shaping the future of Melton. The Board 

has been instrumental in sharing information and joining hands to support businesses 

and retain town centre vitality during the lockdown periods. The purpose of the Place 

Board is to work together to promote & develop the ‘rural capital of food’ brand and 

establish Melton as the place to live, work, visit and invest in. Key objectives are:  

• Working with our partners to promote Melton, increase tourism and deliver the 

promise of Rural Capital of Food 

• Regenerate our town centre, promote events, encourage inward investment, 

and create jobs  

• Deliver inclusive growth by improving access to higher paid jobs, improving 

skills, and tackling the low wage economy 

 

 

 

 

Page 93



 

 

Page 8 of 36 

1.3 Principles on which the Capital Strategy are based 

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) published an 

updated Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (2021 Edition), which 

strengthens the basic principle that local authorities must not borrow to invest primarily 

for commercial return. Following the Prudential Code and guidance from MHCLG 

Investment Strategy which  needs to be read in conjunction with 

the Guidance_on_local_government_investments.pdf (publishing.service.gov.uk). This 

strategy is also cognisant of the latest guidance issued by CIPFA on Prudential Property 

Investment.  

Page 94

https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/t/the-prudential-code-for-capital-finance-in-local-authorities-2021-edition
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/678866/Guidance_on_local_government_investments.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/678866/Guidance_on_local_government_investments.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/678866/Guidance_on_local_government_investments.pdf


 

 

Page 9 of 36 

2 The Context of the Capital Strategy 
 

2.1 Corporate Rationale 

The Corporate Strategy outlines the Council’s aims and priorities setting out under the 

key priority themes as highlighted earlier date in the document. Of course, all that the 

Council does is set within a legislative context, so meeting its statutory obligations is a 

key component determining the actions it takes in the context of the capital strategy. 

2.2 Growth and Demographic Change in Melton 

2.2.1 In Melton, the population size has increased by 2.8%, from around 50,400 in 2011 

to 51,800 in 2021. This is lower than the overall increase for England (6.6%), where the 

population grew by nearly 3.5 million to 56,489,800. At 2.8%, Melton’s population 

increase is lower than the increase for the East Midlands (7.7%).  In 2021, Melton 

ranked 305th for total population out of 309 local authority areas in England, moving up 

one place in a decade. As of 2021, Melton is the fifth least densely populated of the 

East Midlands’ 35 local authority areas.  Overall, in England, there has been an 

increase of 20.1% in people aged 65 years and over, an increase of 3.6% in people 

aged 15 to 64 years, and an increase of 5.0% in children aged under 15 years. In 

Melton, there has been an increase of 29.6% in people aged 65 years and over, a 

decrease of 4.0% in people aged 15 to 64 years, and a decrease of 3.6% in children 

aged under 15 years.  

2.2.2 We set out in our Housing Strategy the need for further housing growth. We 

regularly undertake local assessments of housing need, these recommend the long-

term provision of at least 70 additional affordable homes every year to meet local 

needs, a mixture of affordable homes to rent as well as to own. Our assessments show 

that even with ambitious house building targets this level of affordable housing delivery 

is not likely to be achieved through housing growth. Planned housing growth, as set out 

in the Melton Local Plan (2018-2036), is estimated to only be able to provide around 

two-thirds of the affordable housing needed. This is due to a variety of factors, including 

lower house prices and higher infrastructure costs for some developments, particularly 

for the sustainable neighbourhoods planned to deliver housing growth around Melton 

Mowbray. This makes delivering affordable homes in the town more difficult, despite this 

being where demand is greatest. Developer contributions to provide affordable housing 

as part of new housing developments need to be rebalanced to meet local needs better, 

to ensure sufficient affordable housing is delivered in Melton Mowbray as well as in the 

Borough’s rural areas. 

 

 

 

Page 95

https://www.melton.gov.uk/strategies/corporate-plans/corporate-strategy-2020-2024/
https://www.melton.gov.uk/media/on2gl4ad/final-housing-stategy-2021-26.pdf


 

 

Page 10 of 36 

2.3 Post-Covid Landscape/Cost of Living Crisis 

2.3.1 The Coronavirus pandemic has had a significant impact on the national and local 

economy and a necessary change to the working arrangements of the residents of 

Melton, with people working from home wherever possible, including a significant 

proportion of the Council’s own staff.  

2.3.2 All public sector bodies are under financial pressure as well as there being a need 

to offer the public a more coherent means of accessing services, and the One Public 

Estate (OPE) project aims to achieve the rationalisation of publicly held assets. The 

Council will work closely with its strategic partners to look for opportunities to utilise our 

collective assets to improve public services and generate savings.  

2.3.3 The financial pressures on local authorities, caused in large part by cuts in 

Government grant funding, but also significant increases in demand for services and 

more recently inflationary pressures, led to the exploration of alternative sources of 

income. The increase in surplus assets provides an opportunity for the Council to invest 

in the repurposing of assets to be able to generate additional income and help the 

Council to shape the post-Covid recovery in Melton from a regeneration and economic 

recovery perspective. The Asset Development Programme – Council approved the 

phase 1 of the Asset Development Programme (ADP) in January 2021. The ADP seeks 

to maximise the value of the Council’s assets, generating additional revenue or capital 

income, whilst also creating jobs, building homes and strengthening community 

facilities. 

2.3.4 Cost of living increases are impacting households across the country. Melton is 

concerned about the impact on households and associated financial resilience and 

wellbeing of our communities. Whilst there are some measures to mitigate the impacts 

being implemented at a national level, it is important that the Council also considers 

how it can advise and support households and communities across Melton. The Council 

will need to be dynamic in its response in response to local need and impacts.  

  

Page 96

https://www.local.gov.uk/topics/housing-and-planning/one-public-estate/about-one-public-estate
https://www.local.gov.uk/topics/housing-and-planning/one-public-estate/about-one-public-estate


 

 

Page 11 of 36 

3 Capital Investment Objectives and Areas for Investment 
 

3.1 Priorities for 23/24 

The following sections map out our capital investment ambition by Corporate Priority, 

including the expected outputs and outcomes from the delivery of this ambition. It is 

important to explain what we plan to achieve from our capital investment plans in terms 

of the clear priorities and delivery plan that we have put in place to meet the needs of 

our area, to support our unique brand, to address our community consultation feedback 

and to ensure that we manage our resources on a value for money basis.    

Shaping Places 

Ongoing key strategic projects are: 

1. Asset Development Programme- In April 2020, Cabinet agreed to formalise 

acceptance of the successful bid; with £500,000 of Business Rate Pool (BRP) 

funding secured from the LLEP to support proposals for the development of 

Council owned sites. Cabinet also approved the provisional allocation of 

£375,000 from the Capital Programme on the proviso that it was subject to 

further business cases and formal approvals before confirming specific 

allocations. This will cover the potential diversification of Parkside offices 

following the adoption of hybrid Way We Work strategy in December 2021.  

2. Food Enterprise centre- The Council has approved plans for establishing a Food 

Enterprise Centre in Melton with initial phase of activities centred around the 

southern cattle market site. £100k grant funding from the LLEP has been 

secured, matched by the Council’s investment of £50,000 to support a range of 

activities including strengthening infrastructure for holding events in a -safe way, 

providing temporary development kitchen facilities for supporting start-ups and 

creating a cluster of on-site food production businesses. This work will inform a 

detailed business case for future capital funding bids. 

3. Health and Leisure provision - In April 2020, the Council approved acceptance of 

grant funding for £100,000 from LLEP, matched by the Council’s investment of 

£50,000 to develop detailed proposals for best utilisation of the Waterfield and 

Melton Sports Village sites and the future of leisure provision in Melton. 

Discussions are ongoing with CCG and other health providers for a joined-up 

approach in delivering community facilities for health and leisure; including the 

potential for a second GP surgery. This work will inform a business case for 

future capital investment in this project.  

 

 

Page 97



 

 

Page 12 of 36 

4. Country Park- A sum of money has been allocated from the health and leisure 

project to prepare a masterplan of the Country Park to explore outdoors leisure 

provision within the park. A draft masterplan is being produced following 

stakeholders’ engagement activities and will be shared with members for 

comments before conclusion in March 2023. 

5. Cattle market – As part of the Asset development programme, the Council 

approved the disposal of north cattle market site for capital receipts to enable it to 

be developed for residential use as per the allocation in the Local Plan. Following 

a successful marketing exercise, a preferred bidder is now identified, and terms 

of reference are being agreed for the disposal. £1m from this capital receipt is 

proposed to be ring fenced as match funding to support the Council’s bid for 

Levelling Up Funding for the development of the South cattle market site 

(Stockyard). An outcome on the bid is expected by the end of January 2023. 

6. Lake Terrace – The Council has approved disposal of access road to the Lake 

Terrace waste collection depot to enable the development of 90 affordable 

homes on the adjacent vacant site. This disposal will generate capital receipt, get 

the road adopted by LCC and remove maintenance liability for the Council in 

future.  

7. Melton Mowbray Distributor Road (MMDR) – The Council has worked in 

partnership with developers and landowners to prepare masterplans for the 

Southern and Northern Sustainable Urban Neighbourhoods to deliver over 4500 

homes as per Local Plan allocation. The Council continues to support the 

Leicestershire County Council and Homes England to deliver the much needed 

highways infrastructure in form of Melton Mowbray Distributor Road (MMDR) as 

well as 4 primary schools, 2 secondary schools and develops over 70 ha of 

employment sites. In November 2021, the Council entered an infrastructure 

funding agreement with the County Council to facilitate delivery of the southern 

section of the road. It is anticipated the north and east sections will commence 

construction in Spring 2023. 

8. Town Centre Enhancements – The Council is working collaboratively with Place 

Board partners such as Business Improvement District (BID) and Melton 

Mowbray Town Estate (MMTE) to draw up plans to deliver the action plan for the 

Melton Mowbray Town Centre Vision. A range of activities from this plan are 

proposed to be funded from the UKSPF grant programme over the next two 

years.  

 

 

 

 

Page 98



 

 

Page 13 of 36 

9. Climate Emergency – The Council has declared climate emergency and pledged 

to ensure Council operations are carbon neutral by 2030 and promote 

sustainability within the Borough. The Council has been successful in receiving 

grant funding from a range of government sources to improve energy efficiency 

on private as well as council owned homes. 16 council homes benefitted from 

improvements to external wall insulation, and 49 homes received solar PV 

installations, which will enhance thermal performance. The council used over 

£200,000 of grant funding to install solar panel systems to 26 privately owned 

homes, that met the required criteria and were most in need of energy efficiency 

improvements, supporting households most impacted by the cost-of-living crisis. 

Following the broad range of work that is currently being undertaken during the next 12 

months, the Council will continue to update and refine the capital programme where 

projects can be taken forward for development. 

All these activities, along with the delivery of the Local Plan by working with private and 

public sector partners, developers and landowners will help in delivering growth in 

housing, business activities and leisure provision that would contribute to creating and 

shaping the place that Melton is aspiring to be. 

Alongside maintaining our property assets, the Council also has responsibility for 

ensuring wider public realm assets are effectively managed and maintained; as well as 

maintaining and renewing the vehicles used to undertake various environmental 

services. The Council has made provision through an annual revenue contribution to a 

number of repair and renewal funds which enables the capital costs associated with 

these to be met from an existing fund, rather than through borrowing or the use of 

capital receipts. The level and contribution made to these funds is currently under 

review to ensure it is appropriate and following the adoption of the Local Plan the 106 

developer contributions SPD will potentially create opportunities for alternative funding 

sources.  

Helping People 

The following have been identified as strategic projects: 

1. Deliver the commitments set out in the Housing Revenue Account Business 

Plan and associated Asset Management Plan to ensure investment and 

improving of council homes, including investment in properties, neighbourhoods 

and assistive technology. Both plans will be reviewed and updated annually to 

ensure they remain relevant, reflective of local and financial context and 

incorporate updated stock condition data (20% stock will be surveyed each year).  

 

 

Page 99



 

 

Page 14 of 36 

2. Meet Decent Homes Standard – through significant capital programmes as 

referred to above, focusing on new kitchens, bathrooms and heating 

improvements to ensure our properties remain safe and meet the Decent Homes 

Standard – to be profiled and planned in response to the stock condition surveys. 

The Council will keep a close eye on future changes to the Decent Homes 

Standard and will update its investment plans accordingly. Further development 

of the Councils housing and asset management system will enable robust data 

capture, monitoring and reporting. Continued improvements to the councils’ voids 

process will form part of this work. The Council will also deliver commitments to 

improve energy efficiency in tenants’ homes where possible and will seek 

external funding to support these ambitions.  

3. Provide new high quality council homes – through delivery on the Council’s 

own sites and working in partnership with developers and other partners to 

improve the numbers and quality of the Council’s own housing stock including 

using capital receipts to support development opportunities. An Affordable 

Housing Development Plan has been agreed and will guide this work, led by the 

Councils Housing Development Manager. Core principles of the plan include 

energy efficiency and high standards of design.  

4. Development of new Anti-Social Behaviour case management arrangements in 

Housing through the implementation of a specific module within the Housing 

Management System. This will enable the Council to manage, report on and 

analyse antisocial behaviour in line with new Regulatory Requirements, 

5. Lifeline Services support residents to remain safely and independently at home. 

Customers pay to receive this service. The equipment used to deliver the service 

needs to be upgraded / digitally enabled in order to transition to the digital 

switchover (through which all analogue technology will become obsolete) and 

this work has begun. A capital allocation to support the compatibility of Lifeline 

Units as part of the Digital Switchover was incorporated in the Budget proposals 

for 2022/23 (non-MBC properties) and provision also be made within the HRA 

business plan (MBC properties). The Council is reviewing its assistive technology 

offer and will bring forward a single, customer-focussed and commercially viable, 

assistive technology offer across Melton, irrespective of tenure in 2023/24.  

6. The Thorpe Road Cemetery has an estimated 3-5 years operational viability 

remaining due to available plot space for burials and cremations. In 2022/23 an 

assessment of options was undertaken to review the viability of a crematorium 

for Melton, options to expand capacity at the current cemetery and options to 

develop a new cemetery. It has been confirmed that a crematorium is not viable 

based on current projections. Expansion of capacity at the current site will be 

costed into the budget for 2023/24. An options appraisal regarding future 

cemetery provision will be discussed with Cabinet in 2023/24 which may require 

an in-year update to the capital programme.  

Page 100



 

 

Page 15 of 36 

7. The Council’s current leisure contract is due to come to an end in March 2024. 

Development of a leisure procurement strategy has commenced, and a contract 

specific will be developed early in 2023. The leisure sector continues to 

experience financial pressures, largely due to high energy costs and a new 

contract is not likely to be on the same terms as the current contract. Additionally, 

the council has ageing facilities, with one site projecting a continued financial 

deficit. A procurement solution with variant bids is likely to be explored, to assist 

the council to consider the most effective and financially viable service and 

facility options. As part of this procurement, the option of creating a modest 

capital investment (spend to save) fund on leisure centres will be considered. 

8. The Leicestershire Resources and Waste Strategy 2022-2050 has been 

developed through a collaborative approach by the Leicestershire Waste 

Partnership. It has been finalised further to an extensive public consultation and 

sets out how the Leicestershire Waste Partnership intends to manage municipal 

waste up until 2050. The strategy contains a range of pledges. Some of the 

pledges contained within the Leicestershire Resources and Waste Strategy can 

only be implemented if sufficient ongoing additional funding is provided by 

Government to cover the costs incurred by both the waste disposal and collection 

authorities respectively. Further information from Government is awaited.  

9. The Environmental Maintenance Team require vehicles to carry out many of their 

duties and a programme of cyclical vehicle replacement is required. A vehicle 

replacement policy is in development, which will inform the capital programme, 

through which the council will need to consider optimum replacement cycles and 

opportunities for green procurement where possible and appropriate.  

10. A cyclical replacement programme for Play Equipment is required. Officers will 

commence a review of the Council’s play equipment replacement policy to 

assess lifespans, replacement requirements and associated investment required.  

Great Council 

Our Great Council priorities as set out in the Corporate Plan focus on ensuring we have 

in place the right conditions to support service delivery and that we are connected to 

and led by the community.  We aim to maintain a personal approach but also 

harnessing appropriate technology to make our services more accessible and fit for the 

digital economy. This latter aim in terms of capital requirement does necessitate 

investment in ICT where we have a clear roadmap as expressed in our ICT digital 

strategy and action plan, although following the move to an in-house service and the 

loss of one local authority partner this does need to be updated and developed further.  

 

 

 

Page 101



 

 

Page 16 of 36 

ICT Digital Strategy and Action Plan  

The current ICT Digital Strategy Action Plan has been developed in line with the ICT 

Service Technology Roadmap, Partner Business Planning Activities and Strategic 

Board prioritisation.  The Strategy identifies a programme of activity for each of the 

Partner organisations (Hinckley and Bosworth, Blaby, Melton or the Leicestershire 

Revenues and Benefits Partnership).  Objectives are aligned to those prioritised in the 

LICTP Digital Strategy 2018-2022.  The focus for 2022-23 has been on embedding the 

new in-house ICT Service Contract following a review of the strategic direction of the 

partnership and the technology each council needs to support more hybrid ways of 

working following the pandemic. A diagnostic review is to be undertaken to validate the 

current infrastructure roadmap and opportunities to expedite this as required to improve 

users experience and ensure improvements are made to digital services.  

ICT General Principles 

The current estate is deployed into a single data centre hosted at Hinckley and 

Bosworth Borough Council (HBBC), with an additional data centre at Melton Borough 

Council (MBC) acting as a Business Continuity / Disaster Recovery location.  The 

majority of the estate of all three councils is virtualised onto VMware hosts in the HBBC 

data centre with a small number of Solaris servers that support line of business 

applications.  Citrix end user compute is the primary desktop solution provisioned 

through thin client devices, laptops and remote desktop services.  A common Mobile 

Device Management solution has been deployed across all partners providing Wi-Fi and 

management of mobile devices such as iPad and iPhone. 

As the LICTP has matured it has taken opportunities to consolidate solutions and / or 

co-terminate support and maintenance- for example there are common solutions in 

place for Antivirus, Web and Mail security, approved builds for End User Devices (EUD) 

and shared Business Continuity and Disaster Recovery (BCDR) arrangements. The 

LICTP works with partners to identify common business solutions and align version 

control, to benefit from efficiencies in upgrade testing and economies in supplier 

management.  

The focus of the Capital Strategy for ICT over the coming years is to consolidate and 

develop the ICT infrastructure, strengthen security and maintain a supported 

environment that will be able provide a robust and reliable service for our Staff and their 

Customers. Alongside this further embedding the future ICT service arrangements from 

2022 to improve operational performance and exploit strategic opportunities will be a 

key action undertaken in the coming year alongside the development of web and digital 

services to the public.  

 

 

 

Page 102



 

 

Page 17 of 36 

3.2 Action Plan  

An updated action plan is included in the table below covering progress made over the 

past 12 months and the targets for the forthcoming year relating to capital programme 

and strategic development of Council assets: 

Influence Action Responsibility Progress 

against 

timescale 

Update the 

General Fund 

Asset 

Management 

Plan (AMP) 

Current AMP is out of date and 

therefore needs updating. 

Condition surveys have been 

undertaken for all assets now 

with costs identified for works 

over the next 5 years. A risk-

based approach is taken in 

prioritising the works and 

allocation of resources. 

Contractors have been procured 

through framework arrangements 

for undertaking works identified to 

mitigate against health and safety 

and high-risk property safety 

items. The Asset management 

Plan is being prepared, informed 

by the condition works and risk 

analysis for planned maintenance 

programme. 

Director for 

Growth and 

Regeneration  

April 2023 

 

HRA 

Business 

Plan (Full 

review) 

including 

AMP 

 

Following the adoption of the 

Interim Business Plan in January 

2020, a full HRA Business Plan 

has been undertaken during 

2022/23 including a detailed 

update of the Housing Asset 

Management Plan to ensure the 

long-term financial viability of the 

HRA is understood and 

associated capital investment.  

 

Director for 

Housing and 

Communities 

 

Complete 

 

Page 103



 

 

Page 18 of 36 

Influence Action Responsibility Progress 

against 

timescale 

ICT Service 

Delivery 

Undertake a diagnostic review of 

the service to inform a review of 

the infrastructure and digital road 

map for the development of the 

service moving forward. 

Director for 

Corporate 

Services 

April 2023 

 

3.3 List of Investments 

3.3.1 - Our 5-year capital investment plan incorporates the 2021-2025 Capital 

Programme and a forecast of capital investment requirement up to 2026-2027, based 

on our capital investment ambition. It has been prioritised in line with our corporate plan 

and Treasury Management Strategy to ensure that the 5-year position is affordable, and 

deliverable as planned. Our risk assessment examines the risk against the affordability 

and deliverability assumptions and this will inform the ongoing review of performance 

and update of the investment plan to ensure that it is effectively managed. 

The Capital Programme is not only for maintaining core assets to ensure Melton can 

continue to do business but also to positively intervene in key investments areas which 

require borrowing but this would be focused by the outcomes of the asset and 

transformation development appraisals where it would be expected that any borrowing 

to generate a return.  

The following tables provide an overview of the 5-year investment plan from an 

investment and financing perspective, an affordability perspective and in terms of the 

contribution to the achievement of our Corporate Priorities, our community 

improvements and our growth targets. More detailed capital plans are included in 

Appendix A. 

GENERAL FUND 

5 YEAR  

INVESTMENT 

PROGRAMME 

2023/24 

£’000 

2024/25 

£’000 

2025/26 

£’000 

2026/27 

£’000 

2027/28 

£’000 

Total 

GREAT COUNCIL 38 - 12 79 68 197 

PEOPLE 345 345 345 345 345 1,725 

PLACE 632 75 585 4 - 1,296 

Total Programme 1,015 420 942 428 413 3,218 

Page 104



 

 

Page 19 of 36 

   

5 YEAR FUNDING 

PROGRAMME 

2023/2

4 

£’000 

2024/2

5 

£’000 

2025/2

6 

£’000 

2026/27 

£’000 

2027/28 

£’000 

Total 

REPAIRS & RENEWAL 

/SINKING FUNDS  

73 75 97 83 68 396 

INTERNAL 

BORROWING 

- - 500 - - 500 

GRANT FUNDING 684 345 345 345 345 2,064 

CAPITAL RECEIPTS 253 - - - - 253 

REVENUE FUNDING 5 - - - - 5 

Total Programme 1,015 420 942 428 413 3,218 

 

As can be seen from the tables above at the current time it doesn’t appear that the 

Council has an overly ambitious capital programme but as outlined in the previous 

sections of the strategy there are some significant items which could significantly impact 

on the forward capital projections – including: 

• Asset management plan – the asset management plan for the general fund has is 

under development but has not yet been finalised and will be a key document in 

outlining the council’s required for managing and investment in its assets going 

forward.  At present we are undertaking annual stock condition surveys to look at the 

essential / necessary works the yearly refresh could result in additional annual costs 

that cannot be covered through existing planned financing. 

• Progression of the Asset Development Programme to inform the ongoing 

management of assets linked to future disposals and developments which may be 

required to help generate capital receipts to be invested in existing or new assets. 

This would cover key areas such as Cattle market, Parkside, Leisure and housing.  

• UKSPF and levelling up grants – these awards provide significant funding that the 

council can use to invest in the local area to support economic development and 

recovery post pandemic. 

As these areas become further developed and financial analysis becomes available the 

capital strategy with be refined as an up to date living document. 

 

Page 105



 

 

Page 20 of 36 

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 

Alongside the General Fund the council also maintains its own housing stock. The 

figures in the table below are based on the new business plan recently approved and 

the associated Housing Asset Management Plan strategy document. The plan is a 

rolling 5- year programme with the recently approved plan running from 2022/23 to 

2226/27. 

5 YEAR 

INVESTMENT 

PROGRAMME 

2023/24 

£’000 

2024/25 

£’000 

2025/26 

£’000 

2026/27 

£’000 

2027/28 

£’000 

Total 

HRA Funded by       

Major Repairs  

Reserve 

1,712 1,840 3,714 2,470 TBC 9,736 

HRA Capital 

Receipts 

880 325 346 388 TBC 1,939 

Development and 

Regeneration 

Reserve 

0 58 80 136 TBC 274 

Total Programme 2,592 2,223 4,140 2,944 TBC 11,949 

 

3.3.3 The following sections examine the evaluation and prioritisation of our 5-year 

capital investment plan, the additional analysis that informs our Capital Strategy 

principles, our capacity to deliver and the potential options for addressing our 

capital investment ambition gap. 

GENERAL FUND 

Within the General Fund there are various funding sources.  The Council takes a 

prudent approach through the use of Replacement and Renewal funds which have been 

established to make annual revenue contributions into a reserve to fund future capital 

expenditure on areas such as vehicle, ICT and playgrounds. Alongside this the Council 

is highly effective in securing external funding to access grants in order to minimise the 

draw and the remaining source of funding in terms of Capital Receipts. 

The table below summaries the current and future forecasts for the Capital Receipts 

reserve and shows there is limited capital receipts available to fund future schemes; 

 

Page 106



 

 

Page 21 of 36 

Financial Year Expenditure Balance on Reserve 

2021-22 - £817k 

2022-23 £238k £579k 

2023-24 £253k £326k 

 

There may be the opportunity to generate further capital receipts, but the council only 

owns a limited amount of sites / assets some of which may be used to support other key 

projects such as the Asset Development Programme. Therefore, once the future capital 

programme becomes more developed the future funding requirements will need to be 

reviewed which may lead to a borrowing requirement on the general fund which is 

currently debt free although there are proposals to fund a contribution to LCC for 

education infrastructure funded from borrowing. Therefore, the prioritisation of capital 

schemes will be key with limited capital resources. As such utilising borrowing to fund 

such investments would mean these would need to be affordable in revenue terms 

through reductions in net expenditure or through generating sufficient returns on 

investment to offset the cost of borrowing. 

The establishment of a specific Property Repairs / investment fund was established as 

part of the 2022/23 budget process to provide greater resilience to deal with unexpected 

costs relating to the councils’ property / assets.  The expected balance on this reserve 

at the end of 2022/23 financial year is £127k.  This will be used to support the funding 

requirements of the General Fund asset management plan when it is developed but this 

may not be sufficient. 

Alongside this there is a provision of £650k earmarked to support delivery of any future 

leisure vision projects. 

Housing Revenue Account 

In the main the HRA programme is funded from the three main reserves which are 

utilised in a priority order: 

1. Major Repairs Reserve  

2. HRA Capital Receipts 

3. Regeneration and Development Reserve (this is built up from contributions from the 

revenue account in line with the interim HRA Business Plan).   

 

 

Page 107



 

 

Page 22 of 36 

The capital programme is integrally linked to the Treasury Management Strategy in 

terms of informing future cashflow, interest returns, borrowing requirement and medium-

term financial sustainability. The 2023/24 Treasury Management Strategy has been 

prepared based on the information contained within this Capital Strategy to ensure the 

two documents are aligned and any associated implications taken into account when 

setting the prudential indicators. Both strategies will be presented to Full Council for 

approval at the annual budget setting meeting in February 2022 where further 

information can be found.   

SPECIAL EXPENSES – MELTON MOWBRAY 

As outlined within the Helping People priority area Thorpe Road Cemetery (which falls 

within the Melton Mowbray Special Expense) is going to need an expansion in capacity 

due to an estimated operational viability period of 3-5 years remaining.  An options 

appraisal regarding future cemetery provision will be reviewed with Cabinet to develop 

the future capital programme requests.  Initial costs are in the region of £2m which will 

need to be funded from borrowing and will place pressure on the special expense area 

to create sufficient headroom in the revenue budget to afford the capital repayments.   

3.4 Financial Investments 

3.4.1 Financial Investments can fall into three categories, as defined by the Statutory 

Guidance issued under section 15(1)(a) of the Local Government Act 2003: Specified 

Investments; Loans and Non-specified Investments 

3.4.2 Specified and non-specified investments are only likely to be undertaken on either 

a short, or a long-term basis as part of managing the council’s cash flows and are 

therefore covered by the Treasury Management Strategy rather than here. 

3.4.3 Loans may also be used for treasury management purposes, but where they are 

used in support of service delivery objectives this is covered by the Loans and 

Guarantees Financial Instruction. 

3.5 Non-Financial Investments 

3.5.1 For the purposes of this strategy a non-financial investment is a non-financial 

asset held by the authority primarily or partially to generate a surplus. This might be 

through an anticipated appreciation in the capital value of the asset, or by way of 

delivering a regular income stream, or a combination of both. However, in the current 

financial climate the emphasis is likely to be on assets that generate a regular income 

stream. 

 

 

 

Page 108

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/26/contents


 

 

Page 23 of 36 

3.5.2 Although the Council remains open minded to consider a range of opportunities 

the high likelihood is that non-financial investments will involve property assets, 

however, it will not involve the investment in property assets purely for yield. This could 

include the impact that the Coronavirus pandemic will have on future office capacity 

requirements and the need to mitigate the revenue impacts on post-coronavirus income 

levels, the Council may look to repurpose some of its portfolio to produce an income 

stream and meet its corporate objectives, especially in respect of regeneration, 

affordable housing, and economic development. 

3.5.3 In addition, on occasions the Council may choose to purchase land or property for 

strategic reasons rather than just for a return and therefore expected rates of return may 

be narrower than a pure investment. This might be to protect existing service provision 

but will most likely be linked to its community leadership role in accommodating and 

facilitating regeneration, economic development, and housing growth. This will require 

well documented business cases and formal decisions. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 109



 

 

Page 24 of 36 

4. Funding Capital Investment 
 

4.1 Sources of Funding 

There are several potential sources of financing for the capital programme. These can 

be described as follows: 

4.1.1Grant Funding - often specifically for capital purposes and often from central 

government, but they may come from, or through, other agencies. 

4.1.2 Capital Receipts - receipts arising from the disposal of existing assets are 

constrained to only be useable for the purposes of funding new assets. Such funds 

when generated are held in a Capital Receipts Reserve until such time as used. The 

use of surplus land to deliver additional council priorities such as affordable housing, 

key worker housing, supported living etc can have an impact on the residual capital 

receipt value to the Council. These impacts will be reflected in the financial implications 

of reports and there is close monitoring of the delivery of capital receipts to ensure they 

are in line with the capital programme funding assumptions. 

4.1.3 Developer Contributions - S106 agreements effectively impose a tax on new 

development to fund infrastructure required because of the development. S106 

agreements tend to relate to specific capital investment projects, but where it is more 

generic, the Council will use this funding to meet its capital investment priorities where 

these satisfy the conditions of the s106 agreement.  

4.1.4 Prudential Borrowing - the Council can borrow to fund its capital expenditure 

provided that the revenue financing costs of such borrowing are affordable and 

sustainable. Prudential borrowing will be considered as a source of capital funding in 

accordance with the Government’s guidelines and with regard to the CIPFA Prudential 

Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities. 

4.1.5 Revenue Contributions to Capital - the Council can use its revenue resources to 

fund its capital expenditure, but obviously this then reduces the funding available for 

recurrent expenditure. 

4.1.6 Use of Earmarked Reserves - essentially this is just a mechanism for deferring 

the application of one of the sources listed above, e.g. revenue contributions, or capital 

receipts. A typical example is the use of a Repairs and Renewals Fund. 

4.1.7 Leasing - essentially this is a specialised form of borrowing linked directly to the 

rental of an asset. 

4.1.8 RTB Receipts– the receipts from the sales of Right to Buy properties are used to 

fund further investment on affordable homes with the HRA. Local authorities have 5 

years to spend any receipt which can be used to fund up to 40% of the cost of new 

home. 

 

Page 110

https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/t/the-prudential-code-for-capital-finance-in-local-authorities-2017-edition-book
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/t/the-prudential-code-for-capital-finance-in-local-authorities-2017-edition-book


 

 

Page 25 of 36 

4.2 Availability and Constraints on Funding 

The choice of funding for the capital programme and projects within it will depend upon 

the overall availability of resources and any constraints applicable to sources: 

• Wherever possible external resources such as partner contributions, or grants 

will be the first preference for funding projects. It is likely that developer or 

partner contributions will only be available for specific projects. It is also possible 

that some grant funding is ring-fenced for specific purposes, although this tends 

not to be the case in recent times. 

• Secondly, the Council’s own resources (capital receipts and revenue 

contributions) will be used where available and affordable. 

• Prudential borrowing will be the final choice of funding but will only be used 

where there is a strong business case offering an appropriate rate of return.  

The Council will consider arranging borrowing via Public Works Loans Board (PWLB). 

This borrowing route will be subject to approval by Council before it is undertaken. 

The Council will aim to maximise its funding for capital expenditure by bidding for grant 

funding, disposing of surplus assets to generate capital receipts, seeking to maximise 

its leverage with partners in respect of joint funding opportunities, etc. Indeed, the ability 

to respond to the very substantial growth agenda will be heavily dependent upon the 

ability to attract additional resources. This may come in the form of additional funding 

from Government, such as Levelling up Fund bid with Rutland and UKSPF Fund, 

developer contributions, or working in partnership with other bodies.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 111

https://www.melton.gov.uk/media/llvdpgjs/levelling-up-proposition-for-rutland-and-melton.pdf
https://www.melton.gov.uk/planning-and-building/major-developments/uk-shared-prosperity-fund/


 

 

Page 26 of 36 

5 Risks 
 

5.1 Key Risks 

The following summarises the key risks that will impact on the development and delivery 

of our Capital Strategy: 

• Cost Inflation – Currently inflation stands at around 12% in Nov 2022 which 

increases the delivery costs for schemes.  Where a scheme was approved in the 

previous capital programme but is delivered later in the year the delay in timelines 

can result in large increases in capital requirements.  

• Capital Maintenance – Our assets will deteriorate if we do not invest sufficient 

capital maintenance in our existing assets. An assessment of the maintenance 

needs and provision will be made, and expenditure closely monitored in the 

meantime for our property and housing assets. The absence of general fund asset 

management plan increases this risk. 

• Capital Receipts – A shortfall in the generation of capital receipts would impact on 

the available investment in the capital programme. Realisation of capital receipts is 

closely monitored and if there was any shortfall the programme would be reviewed 

for reductions to future years when looking at future years’ capital programmes if 

alternative funding could not be found. This is a key risk for the council with limited 

surplus assets from which to generate receipts. 

• Government Capital Grants – Although the grant funding assumptions in the 

capital programme are prudent and realistic. Again, any shortfall in grant funding 

would be adjusted for when reviewing the capital programme each financial year if 

alternative funding could not be found 

• Capital Slippage – If capital expenditure isn’t profiled accurately then there is the 

risk of significant underspend against the programme. The profile of expenditure is 

reviewed and challenged each year to try and get it as accurate as possible. This is 

much more of a service delivery risk than a financial risk, but there can be financial 

implications from the delay in the delivery of benefits. 

• Interest Rate Increases – A prudent assumption is made for the likely interest rates 

for any borrowing costs in the programme or bids for prudential borrowing. The 

biggest impact could be on those capital schemes that the Council would like to 

support but which are only marginally viable, where any rise in interest rates may 

make a bid against the Prudential Borrowing facility unviable. 

 

 

 

Page 112



 

 

Page 27 of 36 

5.2 Sector Risk Profile 

The Regulator for Social Housing (RSH) published its sector risk profile in October 

2022.  Although primarily intended to inform the Boards of Private Registered Providers 

(housing associations), it contains some useful risk summaries in relation to the 

Council’s landlord function.   In relation to its asset management function, these are 

summarised below: 

New supply and 

development: 

Providers play a key role in delivering much needed new homes 

for both social rent and low-cost home ownership and this is 

frequently a crucial strategic objective for both providers and 

stakeholders. Providers also invest in the development of homes 

for market sale to cross subsidise strategic objectives. However, 

both the sale and development of new homes can carry 

significant financial risks and boards of developing providers will 

need to manage these carefully. Current high inflation, skills 

shortages, and supply chain disruption continue to increase 

costs of development, while decreasing household incomes and 

rising interest rates increase the risk of falling house prices and 

slowing sales. Providers will need to consider carefully how to 

assess and prioritise investment in new development, ensuring 

that investment appraisal approaches remain up-to date, and 

projects are tightly managed. It is also imperative that providers 

understand how the crystallisation of risks arising from 

participation in joint ventures, leasing arrangements, and other 

investment vehicles could affect the core social housing 

business and its finances. 

Stock decency 

and safety: 

Failing to maintain adequate investment in existing stock can 

have significant consequences for tenants, as well as potentially 

leading to deterioration that requires greater expense in the long 

run. Providers’ stock is a long-term asset and boards must 

ensure that an effective system for repairs and maintenance is in 

place to meet minimum standards. Boards must ensure they 

understand how the condition of stock relates to current and 

evolving requirements, from changing energy efficiency 

standards and the government’s decarbonisation and net zero 

agenda. Boards must also ensure that they understand the 

requirements of the Building Safety Act 2022 and the new 

regulatory regime being introduced by the Building Safety 

Regulator. Understanding performance against requirements 

requires a detailed knowledge of stock condition, and boards will 

need to ensure this is underpinned by accurate, up-to-date, and 

robust data. 

Page 113



 

 

Page 28 of 36 

Macroeconomic 

risk and 

viability: 

The economic environment remains particularly uncertain, with 

the risk of further downside shocks. Providers are facing 

significant cost inflation, resulting from the current tight UK 

labour market, high energy costs, and continuing supply chain 

disruption. Providers’ cost of borrowing is expected to increase, 

with interest rates expected to continue to rise over the next year 

and the potential for impacts to credit ratings. Providers’ income 

could be constrained, with the government currently consulting 

on a draft direction on the rent standard that includes several 

proposed options for capping rents increases in 2023/24. 

Declining real household incomes may mean tenants 

increasingly struggle to pay even capped rents. Rapidly 

increasing interest rates and declining real household incomes 

increase the likelihood of a material housing market downturn. 

These factors will inevitably weaken financial performance and 

reduce capacity to manage downside risk. Providers are now 

implementing mitigation plans to ensure continued delivery of 

strategic objectives as far as possible while maintaining viability. 

As boards make choices on priorities, they will need to continue 

to undertake stress testing to maintain mitigation plans that 

remain robust to possible future shocks. 

 

   

 

 

 

  

Page 114



 

 

Page 29 of 36 

6.Capital Governance and Processes 
 

6.1  Developing proposals 

Individual proposals are developed by each Director which includes development bids 

for their services in line with priorities. This may be informed by the reviews being 

carried out within the service, or the outcome from specific public consultation(s).  

Business cases are reviewed by the relevant Programme Board who if they approve a 

project, will then undertake an exercise to prioritise all the projects submitted for the 

annual budget process. Any capital projects will then need to be approved appropriately 

or included in the annual budget process for approval by council as part of the budget.  

Each project will be assigned to a Programme Board whose role is to implement and 

monitor the project. Highlight reports are provided to the relevant board and summary 

reports provided to SLT and Members. Any movements or changes on the capital 

programme need to be in line with relevant delegations contained with constitution. The 

Council’s project management toolkit sets out the requirements at each stage of the 

project management process 

6.2  Senior Leadership Team  

The Senior Leadership Team have responsibility for ensuring options for funding are 

considered by Cabinet and Council as part of the budget setting process. SLT provides 

a forum to ensure that capital expenditure on projects is allocated and prioritised 

through a structured corporate business planning process which aligns with our 

Corporate Priorities. Whilst projects are approved at Full Council each February, 

schemes can be considered in year by Cabinet and Council as appropriate. SLT are 

also supported in the review by providing guidance during the budget process via the 

relevant internal review boards which have been developed as part of the Councils new 

ways of working.  There are Programme Boards set up which are aligned to directorates 

and priority themes that oversee the delivery of key projects. SLT will then overseeing 

project progress by reviewing highlight reports from the boards on a quarterly basis 

A summary of the main tasks allocated to the SLT are as follows:  

• To implement our prioritisation process for Capital Expenditure. 

• To monitor the delivery of our approved Capital Programme 

• To develop and evaluate proposals for service delivery assets. 

Projects are also taken through the necessary approval process via Cabinet and 

Council inline with the committee approval process and in accordance with our project 

appraisal process. 

 

Page 115



 

 

Page 30 of 36 

6.3  Consultation and stakeholder engagement  

The Governance review identified that greater stakeholder engagement is required by 

the Council. A Residents Survey took place in 2022.  The results of the Residents 

Survey 2022 will be used to inform the Capital Strategy.  

Stakeholder and tenant engagement have shaped the priorities set out in the HRA 

Business Plan and Asset Management Plan.  Alongside this, housing experts have 

reviewed and validated our plans. Tenants and scrutiny committee members have been 

consulted and have been able to identify priorities, which are included within the plans 

and associated capital programme.  

  

Page 116

https://democracy.melton.gov.uk/documents/s18320/Appendix%20A%20-%20Melton%20Borough%20Council%20Residents%20Survey%20Report.pdf
https://democracy.melton.gov.uk/documents/s18320/Appendix%20A%20-%20Melton%20Borough%20Council%20Residents%20Survey%20Report.pdf


 

 

Page 31 of 36 

7. Skills and Knowledge 
7.1  In house Resources 

The successful implementation of the Capital Strategy necessitates the availability of 

people with the necessary experience of: 

• developing capital projects 

• acquiring and selling properties 

• commissioning partners to deliver the capital programme 

• managing properties as a landlord 

• sourcing suitable opportunities that match the criteria set under the adopted 
strategy 

• Project management  

• Contract management  

The Council has resources allocated across three Priority areas to support key streams 

of work:  

Growth and Regeneration Directorate (supporting Place priorities) which manages 

the current operational and non-operational asset portfolio but will also lead on any 

property investment and de-carbonising work supported by the finance team and others. 

Key officers included in this team are: 

• Director for Growth and Regeneration  

• Corporate Asset Manager 

• Assistant Director for Regeneration & UKSPF Delivery 

• Building Surveyor 

Housing and Communities Directorate (Supporting People priorities) this team has 

responsibility for the management of the Council’s Housing Stock.  Key Officers in this 

area are: 

• Director for Housing and Communities  

• Assistant Director, Housing Management  

• Assistant Director, Customer and Communities  

• Housing Asset Manager 

• Tenancy Services Manager  

• Housing Development Manager  

Page 117



 

 

Page 32 of 36 

Corporate Services Directorate (Supporting Great Council) this team has 

responsibility for the providing key support and form part of the project delivery teams 

as well as oversight around the elements of finance, legal and project support and 

programme management.  ICT also resides in this directorate which forms an integral 

part of an ongoing investment programme with the strategy.  Key officers in this area 

are: 

• Director for Corporate Services 

• Assistant Director for Resources 

• Assistant Director for Governance and Democracy  

• Assistant Director for Organisational Development 

• ICT Manager (ICT Partnership) 

• ICT Programme manager 

7.2 Externally Available Resources 

The Council also makes use of external advice in developing projects or undertaking 

due diligence including external valuers, property condition experts, market appraisers 

etc. Other advice will be commissioned as and when required. This may also include 

working with its Treasury Advisors as appropriate to support any associated Treasury 

implications.  

7.3 Members  

Members are familiar with the budget process and approve the Treasury Management 

Strategy and Budget. Any additional training requirements will be discussed with the 

Cabinet including the Portfolio Holder leads for key priority projects. 

Page 118



 

 

Page 33 of 36 

Appendix A – General Fund Five Year Capital Programme 
 

The tables below are indicative figures based on latest available data and subject to Cabinet / Council approvals. 

GENERAL FUND FIVE YEAR CAPITAL PROGRAMME - 2023/24 TO 2027/28 
    

PROJECT PRIORITY   

    2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 Total 

    £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Network Access Controller GREAT COUNCIL - - - - 17 17 

Privilege Access Management GREAT COUNCIL - - - - 12 12 

Network refresh GREAT COUNCIL - - 
 

79 
 

79 

Wi-fi Upgrade GREAT COUNCIL - - - - 30 30 

Service Desk GREAT COUNCIL - - 12 - 
 

12 

Load balancers GREAT COUNCIL 6 - - - - 6 

Certero Patching module GREAT COUNCIL 6 - - - - 6 

Multifactor Authentication GREAT COUNCIL 4 - - - - 4 

Power Security  GREAT COUNCIL 22 - - - - 22 

Service Asset management  GREAT COUNCIL - - - - 9 9 

DFG's PEOPLE 345 345 345 345 345 1,725 

EMT Vehicle/Service Machine 
Replacement 

PLACE 40 75 85 4 - 204 

Asset Development Programme Phase 2 PLACE 592 - - - - 592 

LCC Education Infrastructure PLACE - - 500 - - 500 

    1,015 420 942 428 413 3,218 

FUNDING    2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 Total 

Repairs and Renewal Funds / Sinking 
funds 

  73 75 97 83 68 396 

Grant Funding   684 345 345 345 345 2,064 

Revenue funding   5 - - - - 5 

P
age 119



 

 

Page 34 of 36 

Capital Receipts   253 - - - - 253 

Capital Receipts - Leisure Vision   - - - - - - 

Internal Borrowing   - - 500 - - 500 

Total Funding   1,015 420 942 428 413 3,218 

CAPITAL PROGRAMME BY PRIORITY   2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 Total 

    
      

GREAT COUNCIL   38 - 12 79 68 197 

PEOPLE   345 345 345 345 345 1,725 

PLACE   632 75 585 4 - 1,296 

Total Programme   1,015 420 942 428 413 3,218 

 

  

P
age 120



 

 

Page 35 of 36 

Appendix B – HRA Five Year Capital Programme 
 

HRA FIVE YEAR CAPITAL PROGRAMME - 2023/24 TO 2027/28 
    

PROJECT PRIORITY 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 Total 

    £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT   
      

Aids & Adaptations  Place 280 286 292 298 TBC 1,156 

Replacement Kitchens Bathrooms Place 789 1013 2730 1312 TBC 5,844 

Central Heating Place 7 10 7 243 TBC 267 

Replace Exterior Doors & Windows Place 254 166 227 200 TBC 847 

Rewire Council Properties Place 146 92 93 95 TBC 426 

Re-Roofing Works Place 0 0 0 0 TBC 0 

Capitalisation of Housing Inspector Costs Place 180 184 187 191 TBC 742 

Affordable Housing  - Gretton Court Extra Care  Place 400 0 0 0 TBC 400 

Affordable Housing (Use Of RTB Monies) Place 0 97 134 226 TBC 457 

Boiler Replacements Place 224 260 355 310 TBC 1,149 

Void Catch Up Repairs Place 112 115 115 119 TBC 461 

Fire upgrade works Place 200 0 0 0 TBC 200 

    
      

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT TOTAL   2,592 2,223 4,140 2,994 0 11,949 

        

FUNDING    2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 Total 

  
 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Major Repairs Reserve 
 

1,712 1840 3714 2470 TBC 9,736 

Capital Receipts 
 

880 325 346 388 TBC 1,939 

Development and Regeneration Reserve 
 

0 58 80 136 TBC 274 

  
       

Total Funding   2,592 2,223 4,140 2,994 - 11,949 

P
age 121



 

 

Page 36 of 36 

 

P
age 122



 

 

Cabinet Report 

Revenue Budget Proposals 2023-24 - Housing Revenue Account 

1 

 

 

Cabinet 
8 February 2023 

Report of: Councillor Ronan Browne - Portfolio 
Holder for Council Homes and Landlord 
Services and Councillor Ronnie de Burle 
– Portfolio Holder for Corporate Finance 
and Resources 

       

  
  

 

Revenue Budget Proposals 2023-24 - Housing 
Revenue Account (HRA) 

Corporate Priority: Providing high quality council homes and landlord services 

Ensuring the right conditions to support delivery (inward) 

Relevant Ward Member(s): All 

Date of consultation with Ward 
Member(s): 

N/A 

Exempt Information: No 

Key Decision: No 

Subject to call-in: No 

Not key decision 

1 Summary 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to update on the financial position of the Housing Revenue 

Account (HRA) and to set the rents of the Council dwellings with an increase of 7.21%, 

approve the HRA budget estimates for 2023-24 and set the working balance for 2023-24 at 

£1m. 

 

2 Recommendation(s) 

That Cabinet notes the financial position on the HRA as at 30 November 2022 and the 
year-end forecast for both revenue and capital and; 

 

Recommends to Council that; 

 

2.1 the budget estimates for 2023-24 be approved 

2.2 an average rent increase of 7.21% for all Council dwellings be approved with effect 
from 1 April 2023 

Page 123

Agenda Item 8

http://www.melton.gov.uk/
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

Cabinet Report 

Revenue Budget Proposals 2023-24 - Housing Revenue Account 

2 

 

2.3 A hardship fund be developed for the benefit of those tenants in need to a maximum 
of £50k, and for awards granted to be in the form of vouchers 

2.4 the 2023-24 capital programme be approved 

2.5 That delegated authority be given to the Director for Housing and Communities in 
consultation with the Director for Corporate Services and Portfolio Holder for 
Council Homes and Landlord Services to approve virements within the HRA capital 
programme during the year to provide flexibility to meet emerging needs and 
maintain decent homes. 

2.6 That delegated authority be given to the Director for Housing and Communities in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Council Homes and Landlord Services to 
finalise and implement the policy and criteria for a hardship fund for tenants.  

3 Reason for Recommendations 

3.1 The Local Government and Housing Act 1989 requires the Council to produce and publish 

an annual budget, including the setting of rents, for the HRA which avoids a deficit. This 

report sets out detail for Cabinet to consider prior to making recommendations to Council.   

It is a requirement that this be scrutinised prior to its submission which will be undertaken 

by the Scrutiny Committee in January 2023. The proposed rent increase is in line with the 

rent ceiling applied by Government. The implementation of a one-off hardship fund is 

intended to enable additional support to tenants who are experiencing financial hardship.  

4 Background 

4.1 The operation of the HRA is governed by the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 

Some of the key requirements are detailed below: 

a) The HRA is a ring-fenced landlord account recording certain defined transactions arising 

from the powers conferred on local housing authorities by part II of the Housing Act 1985 

and certain provisions of earlier legislation; 

b) The Council has a duty to keep an HRA in accordance with proper accounting practices; 

c) The Council has a duty to produce and publish an annual budget for the HRA which 

avoids a deficit; 

d) The Council has a duty to review and if necessary, revise that budget from time to time 

if it appears that the HRA is heading for a deficit, all reasonable and practicable steps 

must be taken to avoid a deficit at the end of the year. 

4.2 Rent income is one of the main components of the HRA and it is the Government’s policy 

to increase rents by up to CPI + 1% for at least 5 years from 1 April 2020.  For 2023-24 this 

could have meant an increase of up to 11.1% but following a period of such high inflation 

the rent increase has been capped at 7% for all general needs dwellings with supported 

housing being allowed to retain the CPI+1 increase.  Increasing the supported housing 

properties by 11.1% results in an average increase of 7.21%.  In addition, as approved 

within the HRA business plan, the rent for re-let void properties will be set to the 5% upward 

tolerance allowed on formula rent which will for 2023-24 be a 16.1% increase on 2022-23 

formula rent. 

4.3 The HRA 30 year Business Plan was presented to Cabinet in July 2022 and its 

recommendations are included in this budget report.  The Asset Management Plan was 

presented to Cabinet in November 2022 and a rolling 5 year capital programme is being set 

Page 124



 

Cabinet Report 

Revenue Budget Proposals 2023-24 - Housing Revenue Account 

3 

 

here in line with that plan. Both of these evidence-based plans provide for robust budget 

setting and clear plans to invest in council homes.  

 

 

 

5 Main Considerations 

5.1 Estimated Revenue Year End Position 2022-23: 

The estimated year end position for the current financial year 2022-23 is shown below and 

has been compiled on the basis of the ‘best estimate’ of income and expenditure for the 

year provided by budget holders, and is compared to the latest approved budget which 

includes requests for supplementary estimates that have been approved under the relevant 

delegation: 

 2022-23 

 

Approved 
Budget 

Estimated Year End 
Position Variance 

 £ £ £ 

Expenditure 7,422,390 7,647,760 225,370 

Income -8,254,710 -8,139,070 115,640 

Net Cost of Services -832,320 -491,310 341,010 

Net Interest Charges 1,092,960 959,960 -133,000 

Revenue Contribution to Capital 262,670 262,670 0 

Contribution to/from(-) Reserves -523,310 -731,320 208,010 

Working Balance B/fwd 750,000 750,000 0 

Working Balance C/fwd 750,000 750,000 0 

 

At 30th November 2022 the Net Cost of Services shows an estimated year end position of a 

£341k overspend, this is partially offset by the expected increase in interest on investment 

balances.  The £208k remaining overspend will increase the transfer from the reserve in 

order to maintain the £750k working balance.  The overspend is made up of an overspend 

in expenditure of £225k, and a reduction in income of £116k, of this overspend £59k is 

attributable to the increase in support costs charged to the HRA, following the increased 

staff pay award as staff costs are directly linked. 

Expenditure: 

Expenditure variances of over £10k are set out below: 

General Management £31k overspend: 

£21k expected overspend on professional fees following the use of consultants for the 
business plan and review and draft housing tender is offsetting an estimated underspend of 
£26k on staffing costs following staff vacancies for fixed term posts which have now ended.   

£9k overspend on the newly procured insurance policy and the high voids rates are 
continuing to result in an estimated £20k overspend. 

Repairs & Maintenance £158k overspend: 

Page 125



 

Cabinet Report 

Revenue Budget Proposals 2023-24 - Housing Revenue Account 

4 

 

An estimated overspend of £141k across the repairs service is expected as some budgets 

are seeing high levels of spend, most notably the voids and the contractor works outside of 

the price per property (PPP) arrangements. Budgets have already been moved from 

underspending lines.  A proactive approach is being taken to voids and repairs so larger, 

long-standing and complicated voids are being completed and larger scale, high value 

repairs being undertaken.  The budgets for next year have been assessed on this basis and 

with less back-log, voids should return to a more normal level. It is important to note that 

void performance has improved as a result of close contract management.  

Gas and electricity costs have increased with the effects of inflation so an overspend of £8k 

is currently anticipated and the costs associated with Agency staff have exceeded staffing 

budgets by an estimated £9k, staffing levels have evened out and so Agency costs should 

now cease for this service. 

Special Services £28k underspend: 

£24k underspend on employee costs – this is due to budgeting for full establishment whilst 

vacancies are proactively being filled for key roles, the upcoming Intensive Housing 

Management Service review results are also awaited meaning vacant posts being held for 

the time being.   

£10k underspend on food and drink provisions - reduced requirement for food supplies with 

lunch clubs slowly returning following the pandemic, in addition to high void numbers of 

Gretton Court residents. 

Income: 

Shortfalls in income over £10k are set out below: 

Sales of Meals £13k income shortfall due to reduced lunch club take-up. 

Meal rent debit income £16k shortfall due to the high voids rate at Gretton Court. 

Rent Income £92k - assuming voids continue at their current level.  The repairs works on 

voids property should result in increased income as these properties are re-let. 

Performance for rent collected as a percentage of the rent due (in year) as at the end of 

2021-22 was 94.85 %. This was outside the 96.50% tolerance for the end of the year by 

1.65%. Income management in housing has been identified as a risk and is a key focus for 

the housing service. Performance for period 8 was 92.90% which was 1.25% down on 

performance for 2021-22. The outstanding debt owed on current rent accounts was 

£605,133.73 at the end of November 2022. Action is being taken to address income 

collection performance, including through the successful appointment to the post of Income 

and Tenancy Sustainment Officer in October 2022.  

 

5.2 Estimated Capital Year End Position 2022-23 

The capital programme summary is attached at Appendix B and shows the latest spend 

forecast of £5.444m against a £5.895m budget.  This would result in an underspend of 

£451k. It is important to note that this underspend is attributed specifically to the 

development / acquisition of affordable housing, and that all monies allocated to investing 

in and improving tenants homes has been committed and remains on track to be spent 

within the current financial year, representing significant progress in investing in and 

improving council homes.  

Page 126



 

Cabinet Report 

Revenue Budget Proposals 2023-24 - Housing Revenue Account 

5 

 

This underspend shown in the table below will be carried forward specifically for this purpose 

in 23/24.  

 

Project Total 
Budget 
£'000 

Actual 
April 2022 
to Nov 
2022 £'000 

Year End 
Forecast 
£'000 

Variance (-) 
= 
Underspend 
£'000 

Reason 

Affordable 
Housing (Use 
of RTB 
Monies) 

1,720 0 1,352 -368 Key achievement includes decision taken 

to acquire 8 affordable homes within the 

current financial year in line with 

commitments in HRA Business Plan and 

Affordable Housing Development Plan.  

Remaining balance in this budget line to 

be carried forward to 23/24 and will be 

retained specifically for the development 

and / or acquisition of affordable homes. 

 

 

5.3 HRA Estimate and Rent Increases 2023-24: 

In terms of the HRA Revenue budgets proposed below, Members will be aware this covers 

the day-to-day expenditure to deliver services to Council tenants.  As such, it pays not only 

for the staffing costs for the employees that provide housing management (tenancy 

terminations and sign-ups and other statutory landlord activities, asset management and 

support), but also the responsive repairs needed to maintain the housing stock to a decent 

standard.   

For 2023-24 only it is also proposed to provide a one-off hardship fund for the Council’s 

tenants to help with the cost of living.  The proposal is to allow tenants in need to apply for 

funding and for funding to be provided in the form of a voucher. The details and criteria for 

the scheme will be developed in February 2023 and will allow housing officers to identify 

tenants in need of additional financial assistance, as part of supporting tenants. The tenant 

representatives group will be asked to share ideas on how such a scheme could work. This 

proposed hardship fund is in addition to the ongoing cost of living support available for 

residents across the borough.   

A summary of the proposed budget estimates for the HRA is attached at Appendix A. 

The table below shows the summary of that appendix.  The figures assume that rents will 

increase by 7.21% compared to 2022-23. 

 2023-24 

 Estimate 

 £ 

Expenditure 8,281,620 

Income -8,795,050 

Net Cost of Services -513,430 

Net Interest Charges 923,960 

Revenue Contribution to Capital 112,090 

Page 127



 

Cabinet Report 

Revenue Budget Proposals 2023-24 - Housing Revenue Account 

6 

 

Contribution to/from(-) Reserves -772,620 

Surplus(-)/Deficit in year -250,000 

  
Working Balance B/fwd 750,000 

Working Balance C/fwd 1,000,000 

 

The carried forward working balance is increased to the targeted working balance of £1m 

as approved as part of the when the HRA business plan with additional funds taken from 

the reserve to support the spending in the new year budget as noted above and in Appendix 

A to this report. 

Under the Local Government Act 2003 new borrowing freedoms for Councils to fund their 

capital programmes if affordable and sustainable were introduced. This is known as 

prudential borrowing or unsupported borrowing and does not attract any form of Government 

financial support for the debt repayment. The debt cap that had been imposed on Councils 

since self-financing was introduced has been removed. The Council’s HRA actual borrowing 

is expected to be around £31m at 1 April 2024, assuming no other borrowing is undertaken 

by the end of this or the next financial year. Following the introduction of the business plan, 

new projects will be considered on whether the plan as a whole remains affordable based 

on newly introduced indictors of affordability.  These include the interest cover ratio which 

measures whether the business plan can afford to cover the interest payments on any new 

and existing borrowing.  This indicator for 2023-24 shows that we only cover 0.43% of our 

interest payable, however in the business plan this does gradually increase so 100% is 

covered from year 7. 

For the self-financing settlement the Government has stated that the repayment of borrowing 

is not required but the Council can opt to repay the debt rather than build up cash reserves 

where it considers it to be in the best interests of the Council and the Housing Service. No 

repayment of debt is proposed in 2023-24. 

5.4 HRA Capital Programme 2023-24 

The proposed capital programme for 2023-24 to 2026-27 is attached at Appendix C, and 

shows a budgeted spend of £2.592m over the next year.  In line with the Asset Management 

Plan(approved by Council in December 2022) the capital budget will be a rolling 5 year 

programme, to include the current year, re-assessed annually. 

5.5 HRA Reserves 

In addition to the working balance the HRA has access to four reserves; these are the Major 

Repairs Reserve, the Regeneration & Development Reserve, the Capital Receipts Reserve 

and the Water Arrears reserve. 

Major Repairs Reserve 

This reserve holds amounts set aside as depreciation from the HRA, based on a calculation 

which includes depreciation and additional revenue to support the HRA capital programme. 

This programme is substantially used to support the Council's current housing stock. 

Regeneration & Development Reserve 

This reserve is for specific HRA development and regeneration needs within the HRA ring 

fence. 

Page 128



 

Cabinet Report 

Revenue Budget Proposals 2023-24 - Housing Revenue Account 

7 

 

Capital Receipts Reserve 

Capital receipts received from the sale of Council dwellings set aside for HRA capital 

expenditure. 

Water Arrears Reserve 

On the cancellation of the Agency Agreement that the Council had with Severn Trent Water 

to collect water rates on their behalf, Severn Trent Water agreed to continue to fund future 

written off amounts of water arrears by means of a one-off payment. 

5.6 Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 imposes a duty on the Chief Finance Officer 

to report formally to council on the adequacy of the proposed financial reserves and the 

robustness of the estimates. For the Housing Revenue Account this includes directly 

incurred costs and income as well as recharges form other service areas.  

Whilst this is specific to the Council Tax calculation, it is good practice to apply this across 

the board. The Section 151 Officer has confirmed that, based on the information available 

from budget holders and the assumptions in the interim business plan, there are no concerns 

at the present time. 

The Council does review the level of working balance required based on an assessment of 

risk which is the minimum revenue reserve required on an annual basis and this was 

increased following the production of the 30 year business plan to £1m. 

The reserves balances based on the estimates included in this report are estimated as 

follows: 

 

 

Year 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Major Repairs Reserve 3,197 3,253 3,288 1,439 828 

Regeneration & 
Development Reserve 3,281 2,509 1,901 1,433 1,074 
Capital Receipts 
reserve 1,082 369 99 -192 -525 

Total HRA Reserve 
Balances 7,560 6,131 5,288 2,680 1,377 

Comparable Amounts 
reported in February 
2022 6,460 N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 

Over the first 12 years of the business plan reserves do reduce and some re-profiling of 

expenditure will be required in order to fund the capital programme and maintain the working 

balance.  From year 13 balances do start to recover based on the current known profile of 

major works.  The capital receipts reserve projections are particularly prudent as the number 

of house sales under the right to buy scheme is wholly demand led and take-up has been 

low in recent years due to COVID, however some of the funding to this reserve will be 

required to be spent on the provision of new affordable housing alongside spending from 

our other reserves.   

5.7 HRA Business Plan/Future Considerations 

Page 129



 

Cabinet Report 

Revenue Budget Proposals 2023-24 - Housing Revenue Account 

8 

 

There is currently a review of the Intensive Housing Management Service being undertaken, 

the results from this will also inform future budgets. 

6 Consultation 

6.1 The Budget Holders and the Assistant Director for Housing Management carried out the 

review of estimates with the assistance of the service accountant as required with reference 

to current budget monitoring protocols. 

6.2 Tenant consultation regarding service charges have been carried out at various venues 

across the Borough via the new tenant engagement arrangements.    

6.3 This report was considered by  Scrutiny Committee on 24 January 2023.  A separate report 

is included elsewhere on this agenda, on the comments made by this Scrutiny Committee. 

7 Next Steps – Implementation and Communication 

7.1 The recommendations arising from this report will be submitted to the Council meeting on 

23 February 2023 as appropriate. 

8 Financial Implications 

8.1 All financial and resource implications have been addressed within section 5 and 

appendices A, B & C. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Director for Corporate Services 

9 Legal and Governance Implications 

9.1 Under Section 76 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, the Council is required, 

in advance of the financial year, to formulate proposals which satisfy the requirement that 

on certain stated assumptions, the HRA for that year does not show a debit balance. 

9.2 Under Section 24 of the Housing Act 1985, the Council can make such reasonable charges 

as it determines for the tenancy or occupation of its dwellings.  The Council is obliged, from 

time to time, to review rents charged and make such changes, as circumstances may 

require.  This is a decision for Council as it forms part of the Council’s budget and policy 

framework. 

9.3 A decision to adjust rents constitutes a variation of the terms of a tenancy under Section 

103 of the Housing Act 1985, in respect of secure tenancies, a note of variation (specifying 

the variation and the date on which it takes effect) must be served on each tenant.  For non-

secure tenancies (excluding introductory tenancies), a notice must be served that complies 

with Section 25 of the Housing Act 1985. 

9.4 In considering the recommended rent adjustments and other matters proposed in this report, 

Cabinet is exercising a public function.  It must therefore comply with the duties in Section 

149 Equality Act 2010 to have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate discrimination, advance 

equality, and foster good relations between those with a protected characteristic (pregnancy 

and maternity, age discrimination, disability, gender re-assignment, marriage and civil 

partnerships, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation) and those who do not share 

it. 

9.5 Cabinet must consider tenant’s human rights, in particular Article 8 of the European 

Convention on Human Rights (right to respect a person’s home) and Article 1 of the first 

Protocol (right to peaceful enjoyment of possessions), when considering what 

recommendations to make to Council.  Members will need to consider whether the 

Page 130



 

Cabinet Report 

Revenue Budget Proposals 2023-24 - Housing Revenue Account 

9 

 

proposals strike a fair balance between the rights of the individuals who may be adversely 

affected by them, and the legitimate aims of the Council, setting a balanced budget, 

targeting social housing at those who are most in need and generating income that can be 

invested back into social housing so that more people in need can benefit from it. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Deputy Monitoring Officer 16.01.23 

10 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 

10.1 An equalities impact assessment has been deemed as not appropriate as rent increases 

are defined by the Rent Standard in line with Government Policy. 

11 Community Safety Implications 

11.1 There are no community safety issues arising from these recommendations. 

12 Environmental and Climate Change Implications 

12.1  There are no environmental or climate change implications arising from these 

recommendations.  

13 Risk & Mitigation 

13.1 The HRA is a high risk service account that the Council has a duty under the Local 

Government and Housing Act 1989 to ensure avoids being in a deficit situation.  This 

requires that effective budget monitoring procedures are set in place to monitor HRA 

expenditure and income against budget and careful consideration is given to determining 

the level of working balance. 

13.2 Self-financing puts pressure on the Council to continue to provide decent housing for its 

tenants outside of the subsidy system, with only our own resources available to fund our 

priorities.  The requirement to profile spending to need may mean that large short-term 

balances within the HRA are built up and it is imperative that these balances are saved for 

future spending. 

Risk 
No 

Risk Description Likelihood Impact Risk 

1 Interest rate fluctuation on short and long 
term borrowing undermines the business 
plan 

Very Low Critical Low Risk 

2 Proportion of RTB receipts not retained 
within the HRA due to pressures on other 
funds 

Very Low Critical Low Risk 

3 Long term ability to fund stock to ensure 
kept within the decent homes standard 

Significant Critical Medium Risk 

4 Maintenance of stock within budget 
constraints 

Significant Critical Medium Risk 

5 The economic climate and welfare reform 
changes cause hardship on tenants causing 
higher levels of rent arrears and reduced 
collection performance 

High Critical High Risk 

6 Ability to cleanse repairs commitments from 
Northgate housing system and accurately 
show spend against budgets 

High Critical High Risk 

 

Page 131



 

Cabinet Report 

Revenue Budget Proposals 2023-24 - Housing Revenue Account 

10 

 

  Impact / Consequences 

  Negligible Marginal Critical Catastrophic 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Score/ definition 1 2 3 4 

6 Very High 
    

5 High 
  5,6  

4 Significant 

  3,4  

3 Low 
    

2 Very Low 
  1,2  

1 Almost 
impossible     

 

 

 

 

 

Risk No Mitigation 

1 Beyond the Council’s immediate control, this risk is mitigated through a robust 
HRA Business Plan, developed taking into account reasonable and prudent 
assumptions regarding interest rate changes 

2 Mitigated through clear plans related to the use of RTB receipts, tying in with the 
current structure creating resources to deliver 

3 Mitigated through the updated stock condition survey and appropriate capital 
programmes 

4 As risk 3 above 

5 Provision of support to tenants to offset the impact of financial hardship, coupled 
with clear income collection policies embedding financial sustainability of tenants 
as a key theme. One off hardship fund proposed.  

6 The team is working to obtain a clear picture of the commitments in Northgate and 
find a way forward in cleansing the system and ensuring budgets are sufficient to 
the required repairs and maintenance spend 

 

14 Background Papers 

14.1 None. 

15 Appendices 

Page 132



 

Cabinet Report 

Revenue Budget Proposals 2023-24 - Housing Revenue Account 

11 

 

15.1 Appendix A – HRA Estimates 

15.2 Appendix B – HRA Capital Programme 2022-23 

15.3 Appendix C – HRA Capital Programme 2023-27 

Report Author: Carol King, Senior Technical Accountant 

Report Author Contact Details: 01664 502446 

CKing@melton.gov.uk 

Chief Officer Responsible: Alison Bennett, Assistant Director for Housing 
Management 

Chief Officer Contact Details: 01664 502344 

abennett@melton.gov.uk 

 

Page 133



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

Housing Revenue Account
Revenue Estimates 2023-24

2021-22 Item                                                  2022-23 2023-24
Actual Original Estimate Estimate

                                                             
£ £  £ £ £ £

 
EXPENDITURE

GENERAL MANAGEMENT
461,969 1 Employees 438,860 547,680
188,722 2 Premises 161,170 181,430

11,370 3 Transport 5,990 14,160
101,707 4 Supplies & Services 87,170 117,440

33,597 5 Third Party Payments 32,740 30,970
663,292 6 Support Services 661,030 664,260

1,460,657 7 Total Expenditure 1,386,960 1,555,940

SPECIAL SERVICES
250,440 8 Employees 281,770 274,390
283,406 9 Premises 379,290 374,070

6,420 10 Transport 7,870 5,310
144,155 11 Supplies & Services 203,650 213,080

13,100 12 Third Party Payments 13,290 13,490
37,260 13 Support Services 37,590 133,930

734,781 14 Total Expenditure 923,460 1,014,270

REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE
752,558 15 Employees 738,000 895,570

1,532,736 16 Premises 1,848,720 2,028,210
9,830 17 Transport 22,560 22,880

256,231 18 Supplies & Services 282,710 566,490
298,910 19 Support Services 300,860 347,620

2,850,265 20 Total Expenditure 3,192,850 3,860,770

1,468,586 21 DEPRECIATION & IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 1,514,370 1,655,660

249,370 22 INCREASE IN IMPAIRMENT OF DEBTORS 100,000 100,000

45,290 23 CAPITAL FINANCING COSTS 45,970 44,980

0 24 PROVISION FOR HARDSHIP FUND 0 50,000

6,808,949 25 TOTAL EXPENDITURE 7,163,610 8,281,620

INCOME

7,006,245 26 Dwelling Rents 7,381,680 7,915,870
77,930 27 Non-Dwelling Rents 79,020 91,620
32,703 28 Heating Charges 48,940 52,830
24,317 29 Leaseholder Charges 14,280 15,990

576,299 30 Other Charges for Services and facilities 645,240 718,740

Page 135

Appendix A



2021-22 Item                                                  2022-23 2023-24
Actual Original Estimate Estimate

                                                             

7,717,494 31 TOTAL INCOME 8,169,160 8,795,050

-908,545 32 NET COST OF SERVICES -1,005,550 -513,430

1,168,928 33 Loan Charges Interest 1,169,960 1,169,960
-59,139 34 Interest on Cash Balances -77,000 -246,000
201,244 35 NET OPERATING EXPENDITURE 87,410 410,530

APPROPRIATIONS
255,414 36 Revenue Contribution to Capital 262,670 112,090

-456,658 37 Contribution to/from(-) Reserves -350,080 -772,620

£0 38 SURPLUS(-) / DEFICIT £0 -£250,000

WORKING BALANCE
750,000 39 Brought Forward 1st April 750,000 750,000

0 40 Increase/Reduction(-) During year 0 250,000
£750,000 41 CARRIED FORWARD 31st MARCH £750,000 £1,000,000

Page 136



Appendix B

CAPITAL PROGRAMME SUMMARY HRA 2022-23

B
u
d
g

Total Budget 
22-23      
(£'000)

Actual April to 
November 22        

(£'000)

Year End 
Forecast 
(£'000)

Variance (-) = 
Underspend 

(£'000)

Comment

HRA PRIORITY

Lifeline - Analogie To Digital 25 0 25 0

There is a need to move over to a digital service for 
the lifeline system in the 4 courts and related 
properties. Service Contacted the current provider 
who stated 25k might not be enough,  would also like 
to approach other providers to understand better 
what the market can offer.  May need to carry 
forward to 23/24.

Aids & Adaptations 250 104 250 0
Contractors appointed, expect fully spend, starting in 
the next few weeks. Demand led.

Replacement Kitchens And Bathr 454 58 454 0

Plan is to replace 80 kitchens . Works should take 12 
weeks,works have started and should be complete 
by February

Install Central Heating 195 65 195 0
Contract is place, working way through the list of 
properties,

Replace Exterior Windows & Doo 548 231 548 0
Surveying the properties that are on the list, as focus 
shifts to energy efficiency , insulation.

Rewire Council Properties 80 91 80 0
project reviewed and idenified the works, expect fully 
spend

Re-Roofing Works 192 80 192 0 works started on site, due to complete in February

Capitalisation Of Housing Insp 164 0 165 1
Dependant upon employee time in revenue budget. 
Final calculation undertaken at year end 

Fire Safety Works 1022 249 1022 0

All procured, should all be completed by the year 
end, projects underway. Have plans in place to 
spend all of this budget

Lifts 15 24 24 9
Works complete. Overspend is due to works that 
relate to 21/22 and not accrued

Affordable Housing- New Build 1720 0 1352 (368)

 Revised purchase price agreed. Completing 2 out of 
the 8 units in January, 2 in April and final 4 in May. 
Will request carry forward to 23/24 for unspent funds.

Non Traditional Site Developme 0 0 0 0 Budget removed as not required

Affordable Housing - Gretton C 100 0 100 0
water higiene Improvemnet to hot water system 80k, 
gretton court

Energy Efficiency 546 501 501 (45)
Works completed and grant not spent returned as 
per the conditions

Boiler Replacements 214 103 214 0 expect to fully spend by the end of financial year

Conversion Of Electric Storage 102 0 102 0

expect to fully spend by the end of financial year, 
processing through procurement 8-10 properties. 
About to start on site

Fairmead Regeneration 0 0 0 0 Budget removed as not required
CCTV 20 0 20 0 HRA share of CCTV installation.

Void Properties 2008/09 100 108 108 8
demand led, with large and complex voids works 
undertaken

Scooter Pods 33 0 33 0
expect to fully spend by the of financial year, 
consulting the tenants

Fire Damage - Drummond Walk 35 0 13 (23)
works quoted for 12.5k, and the insurance settlement 
received 14k

Fire Damage - Hartopp Road 60 26 26 (34)

all works done, claim needs to be done to insurance 
( invoice was 26k), off which 19k funded by 
insurance claim

Fire Damage - 17 Bentley Stree 20 6 20 0 works to be done in January, awaiting for the quote

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT TOTAL 5,895 1,646 5,444 -452

Page 137

Appendix B



This page is intentionally left blank



HRA CAPITAL PROGRAMME - 2023/24 TO 2026/27 Appendix C

PROJECT PRIORITY 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT
Aids & Adaptations Place 280 286 292 298 1,156
Replacement Kitchens Bathrooms Place 789 1013 2730 1312 5,844
Central Heating Place 7 10 7 243 267
Replace Exterior Doors & Windows Place 254 166 227 200 847
Rewire Council Properties Place 146 92 93 95 426
Re-Roofing Works Place 0 0 0 0 0
Capitalisation of Housing Inspector Costs Place 180 184 187 191 742
Affordable Housing  - Gretton Court Extra Care Place 400 0 0 0 400
Affordable Housing (Use Of RTB Monies) Place 0 97 134 226 457
Boiler Replacements Place 224 260 355 310 1,149
Void Catch Up Repairs Place 112 115 115 119 461
Fire upgrade works Place 200 0 0 0 200

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT TOTAL 2,592 2,223 4,140 2,994 11,949

FUNDING 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Major Repairs Reserve 1,712 1840 3714 2470 9,736
Capital Receipts 880 325 346 388 1,939
Development and Regeneration Reserve 0 58 80 136 274

Total Funding 2,592     2,223    4,140     2,994  11,949  

Page 139

Appendix C



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 MINUTES
	3 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
	4 REVIEW OF THE FORWARD PLAN
	5 REVIEW OF THE SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23
	6 GENERAL FUND REVENUE BUDGET 2023/24 AND MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2024/25 TO 2026/27
	Appendix B - Summary of Committee Estimates
	Appendix C - Special Expenses Policy
	Appendix E - Risk Assessment of Budgets
	Appendix F - Statement of Revenue and Capital Reserves
	Appendix G - Purpose and Future Intentions of Reserves

	7 CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2022 - 2027 - GENERAL FUND AND CAPITAL STRATEGY 2023/24
	Appendix A - General Expenses Capital Monitoring 2022/23
	Appendix B - General Expenses Capital Programme 2023-27
	Appendix C - General Expenses Capital Budget 2023/24 Anticipated Financing
	Appendix D - Capital Strategy 2023/24

	8 REVENUE BUDGET PROPOSALS 2023/24 - HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA)
	Appendix A - HRA Estimates
	Appendix B - HRA Capital Programme 2022/23
	Appendix C - HRA Capital Programme 2023-27


